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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements throughout this Report consetitfbrwardiooking statements” within the meaning of the Pmv&ecuritie
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the "Reform Act").uh forwardlooking statements involve known and unknown rigkscertainties ar
other factors which may cause the actual resuéisfppnance or achievements of Acura Pharmaceutitats (the "Company"), or indust
results, to be materially different from any futuresults, performance, or achievements expresseichgied by such forwardiboking
statements. The most significant of such factoctuge, but are not limited to, the Compasngbility to secure additional financing to fi
continued product development and operations, th@panys ability to enter into contractual arrangementthwgualified pharmaceutic
partners to license, develop and commercializeCivapany’s technology and product candidates, amcCthmpanys ability to fulfill the U.S
Food and Drug Administration’s requirements for mping the Companyg product candidates for commercial distributionthe Unitec
States. Other important factors that may also afigtre results include, but are not limited the tCompanys ability to attract and rete
highly skilled personnel; its ability to secure amabtect its patents, trademarks and proprietaghitsi its ability to avoid infringement
patents, trademarks and other proprietary rightsaote secrets of third parties; litigation or redory action that could require the Comp
to pay significant damages or change the way itlaots its business; the Compasigbility to compete successfully against curreak fature
competitors; its dependence on thjarty suppliers of raw materials; its ability taceee U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration quotad
source controlled substances that constitute thieeaingredients of the Comparsyproducts in development; difficulties or delag<linical
trials for Company products or in the manufactufeCompany products; and other risks and uncertsntletailed in this Report. T
Company is at development stage and may not ewer &iay products or technologies that generate texeéWwhen used in this Report,
words "estimate," "project,” "anticipate,” "expéctintend,"” "believe," and similar expressions antended to identify forwardboking
statements.




PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inis a specialty pharmaceutical company primarilyaagyegl in research, development and manufactt
innovative abuse deterrent, abuse resistant angetarasistant formulations ("Aversion®chnology") intended for use in orally administd
opioid-containing pharmaceutical products. The Canys lead product candidate utilizing its Aversgitechnology, OxyADFM™ tablets
(formerly referred to by the Company as Productdidate #2) is being developed pursuant to an aativestigational new drug applicati
(“IND”) on file with the U.S. Food and Drug Admirigtion (“FDA”). The status of the development bEtAversion® Technology an
OxyADF™ tablets are described below under the oapti‘Aversion® Technology” and “OxyADF™ Developmédntogram”.In addition, t
a much lesser extent, during 2004 and early 2085 Company was engaged in the research, develomndnmanufacture of proprieta
high-yield, short cycle time, environmentally sensitof@oid synthesis processes (the "Opioid Synthesehmologies") intended for use in
commercial production of certain bulk opioid actppearmaceutical ingredients (“APIs'h early 2005, the Company suspended develog
and commercialization efforts relating to the O@i@ynthesis Technologies. The status of the Opyidthesis Technologies is descri
below under the caption “Opioid Synthesis Techn@sy As of the date of this Report the Company tilade US norprovisional and tw
international patent applications pending relatingts Aversion®Technology. Additionally, as of the date of thispRe, the Company hi
six US patents issued and three US patent applitapending related to its Opioid Synthesis Teabgiek.As of the date of this Report, 1
Company retained ownership of all issued pateragerpp applications, other intellectual property amminmercial rights to its prodt
candidates, Aversion® Technology and Opioid Syrigh&schnologies.

The Company conducts research, development, lasgrahanufacturing and warehousing activities fog Aversion®Technolog
at its Culver, Indiana facility (the "Culver Fatjfl). The Culver Facility is registered by the UStug Enforcement Administration (t
"DEA") to perform research, development and martufacfor certain Schedule IN controlled substances in bulk and finished dodages
In 2001, the Company filed with the DEA an applioat for registration (the “Import Registrationtp import narcotic raw materi
("NRMs"). The status of the application for the lonpRegistration is described below under the captimport Registration."

The Company performs pidinical and clinical research on its product caladiés through a combination of internal and ext
collaborations. The Company has and will continnegdly on contract research organizations ("CR@®@s"perform key components of
product development activities. In the first quaé 2004, the Company entered into a Master Sesvigreement with a full service CI
with wide ranging capabilities and expertise inuletgpry and clinical development consultation, iclih trial and clinical data managem:e
biostatistics, medical writing, and other relevamsearch and development services. On behalf ofctmapany, such full service CRC
engaged in writing clinical trial protocols, condtimg with clinical trial sites, compilation of retatory documents, and making vari
regulatory submissions to the FDA.

To generate revenue, the Company expects to aerttedevelopment and commercialization agreements strategically focuse
pharmaceutical company partners (the "Partnergi)iging that such Partners license the Compapydduct candidates utilizing the Avers
® Technology and further develop, register and comiakze multiple formulations and strengths of sypebduct candidates in the U.S.
international territories. The Company expectseieive milestone payments and a share of profigoamoyalty payments derived from
Partners' sale of products incorporating the Aes®i Technology. As of the date of this Report the Comypdid not have execut
collaborative agreements with Partners, nor camnetfe any assurance that the Company will sucdgssfoter into such collaborati
agreements in the future.

The Companyg business involves inherent risk as set forthdmI1A of this Report. These risks include, amotigers, the need f
FDA approval prior to commercial distribution ofetiCompanys product candidates in the United States, acceptay healthcare provide
and third-party payers of such product candidatependence on key personnel, determination of fzdditity of our Aversion®Technolog
by the United States Patent and Trademark Office faeedom to operate for the Company’s productiickates.




The Company is a publicly traded New York corpanatestablished in 1935. As such, the Company filesual, quarterly at
current reports, proxy statements and other inftionawith the Securities and Exchange Commissiba (SEC"). These filings are availa
to the public over the internet at the SEC's wéb &i http://www.sec.gov. You may also read andycapy document we file at the SE
public reference room at 450 Fifth Street, N.W.,9Magton, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 18B0-0330 for further information ¢
the public reference room.

The Company's internet address is www.acurapharm.®de make available free of charge, with a linkhe SECS website, o
www.acurapharm.com our annual, quarterly and ctumgmorts and amendments to those reports, asaoo@asonably practicable after
electronically file such material with, or furnigto, the SEC. In addition, you may request a copyhese filings (excluding exhibits) at
cost by contacting us at Acura Pharmaceuticals,, B&6 N. North Court, Suite 120, Palatine, llli;xd@0067, Attn: Investor Relatio
847.705.7709

Aversion® Technology

The Company is focused on research and developofeinhovative and proprietary abuse deterrent, alnesistant and tamg
resistant formulation technologies (“Aversion® Teology”) intended to discourage abuse of orally administeq@did analgesic produc
The Company believes that the internally develofeersion® Technology is applicable to both immediate releas# extended release or:
administered tablets and capsules which are foredil&ith an opioid analgesic or other potentiathysable orally administered drug, suc
an amphetamine, as an active ingredient. Compas@areh and laboratory experiments to date sudgaistite Aversion® echnology may
formulated into an orally administered tablet witle commonly utilized opioid active pharmaceuticgjredients and related salts incluc
morphine, codeine, hydrocodone and oxycodone. Thershon® Technology utilizes certain pharmaceutical prodextipients and oth
ingredients in addition to the opioid API. The Asien® Technology does naftilize opioid antagonists. The Company believeat time
Aversion® Technology will discourage or deter a-présting opioid drug abuser, or a legitimate patiproperly using opioid containii
analgesics for management of pain, from abusingratty administered opioid containing product. Rded the Aversion®lechnology i
appropriately tested and proves successful inadinirials, of which no assurance can be given,Gbenpany believes that its Aversi®n
Technology will discourage or deter the three noashmonly utilized routes of opioid abuse, includ{iy intravenous, (2) intranasal/snort
and (3) excess oral consumption of tablets or depsuHowever, the Company can provide no assur#mesuch clinical testing w
demonstrate that the Aversion®echnology will discourage or deter abuse. In aojtif such abuse deterrent characteristics
demonstrated, the Company can provide no assuthatthe magnitude of such effect will be stateticsignificant or clinically meaningful.

We have formulated and evaluated numerous dispirmtluct candidates incorporating the Aversioh@hnology. These prodt
candidates are tablet formulations intended fot adhministration and contain, among other ingretiewidely prescribed opioid acti
pharmaceutical ingredients. To date, all producidaiates utilizing our Aversion®echnology may be economically produced using ¢
blend and direct compression tablet manufacturioggss.

Product candidates formulated with Aversioii@hnology are intended to reduce or discouragén@e common routes of abus:
tablet and capsule pharmaceutical products incu¢iinintravenous injection of dissolved tablet$), ihhalation/nasal snorting of crushec
pulverized tablets, and (iii) intentional consuroptof excessive numbers of tablets by oral adnmatisi.

The Companys lead product candidate, OxyADF™, (formerly rederto by the Company as Product Candidate #2)rpocates ot
Aversion® Technology in an immediate release tablet formaitaintended for oral administration. The Company tlaarance from the U.
Food and Drug Administration (“FDA™or testing OxyADF™ tablets in a clinical trial gpam under an active Investigational New L
application ("IND"). The clinical development pregn is designed to evaluate the efficacy, safetytatatability of OxyADF™ tablets i
both opioid naive patients and patients with aohysof opioid abuse. Our goal is to demonstraté, tiwhen prescribed and used approprit
by patients, OxyADF™ tablets will provide effectimaalgesia and an adverse event profile similauteently marketed products contain
the same opioid active ingredient but without onique Aversion®Technology. The status of the development of OxyADtablets is mol
fully described below under the caption “OxyADF™\@&®pment Program”.




To receive clearance from the FDA for distributeomd sale in the United States, the Compapybduct candidates formulated v
Aversion® Technology will require the development, compilatisubmission, filing and final approval by the FIDAa 505(b)(2) new drt
application (“NDA”") The FDA requirements for approving product candidaor commercial distribution are more fully déised belov
under the caption “FDA Pharmaceutical Product Applg’. The FDA has confirmed in writing to the Coamy that OxyADF™ is ar
appropriate product candidate for submission a®=H(2) NDA. However, at this stage, the Compaan provide no assurances -
OxyADF™ tablets or any other product candidatesfdated with Aversion®echnology will lead to an NDA submission or tHaam NDA
is submitted, that the FDA will accept the NDA stibsipn and approve these product candidates fonmraial distribution and sale.

U.S. Market for Opioid Products Incorporating Avers® Technology

The class of pharmaceutical products exhibiting phorelike properties is referred to as opioids, opioigomists or opioi
analgesics. The Company believes that healthcargdars are generally not able to determine whiichny, of their prescriptions for opic
analgesics will ultimately be abused or divertechwidver, based on primary market research condusyethe Company, U.S. bas
physicians perceive that nearly one out of six gnipgons for opioid analgesics may be abused. fEselts of a survey published in 200¢
over 1,500 adults conducted by the market resdarohof Schulman, Ronca and Bucuvalas, Inc. reveeéthat 37% of those surveyed kr
someone personally who has abused opioid pairill@f those reporting knowing someone who has abapeid painkillers, ten perce
revealed that they personally had abused theseigi®dnd nearly twenty percent of the abusers idergified as coworkers, with the bala
being identified as family members or acquaintangégs uncertainty about which, if any, prescriptidar opioid analgesics will be abuset
diverted implies that certain segments of the Wh&rket for dispensed prescriptions for opioid aesics represent a major opportunity
products formulated with our Aversion® Technolo@he table below sets forth commonly prescribed idpimalgesics in the U.S.

Opioid Active Ingredients Frequently Prescribed Opioid Analgesics
(Generic Names) (Brand Names)

Oxycodone Percocet®, Oxycontin®

Hydrocodone Vicodin®, Lortab®, Lorcet®

Morphine Avinza®, Kadian®, MSContin®
Hydromorphone Dilaudid®, Palladone®

Codeine Tylenol® with Codeine

Tramadol Ultram®, Ultracet®

Propoxyphene Darvon®, Darvocet®

Fentanyl Duragesic®, Actig®

Based on market research data purchased by the @&@gnfippm IMS Health, for the 12 months ending Seyter 30, 2005, in t
U.S. approximately 221 million total prescriptiofts the above major brands, minor brands and germejiivalents thereto were dispen
Of this total, approximately 18 million dispensegksrriptions were for extended release productsaflysadministered once every 8 to
hours) and 203 million dispensed prescriptions vierémmediate release products (usually adminésteavery 4 to 6 hours). Extended rele
products are more commonly prescribed for reliepain for a duration ranging from a few weeks taesal months or longer. Immedi
release products are more commonly prescribedefmf rof pain for a duration of generally less tt&hdays. The Compars/primary marke
research suggests that OxyADF™ tablets will be iciemed by healthcare providers for use in bothrtfegket for immediate release
extended release opioid products.

The potential for the development of tolerance,gitgl and/or psychological dependence (i.e., adirtwith repeated use is
characteristic feature of most opioid containinggdr. Another concern associated with the use aidpis the diversion of these drugs fro
patient in legitimate pain to other individuals (Rpatients) for illegitimate purposes. There are @hibasic patterns of behavior leadin
opioid abuse. The first involves individuals whageoid drug use begins in the context of medicgdttment and who obtain their initial d
supplies through prescriptions from physicians. Beeond begins with experimental or "recreatiorthlig use and progresses to n
intensive use. A third pattern of abuse involvesrsisvho begin in one or another of the precedingsviaut later switch to oral opioids suct
methadone, obtained from organized addiction treatprograms. Physicians cannot easily identifgredict which of their patients may 1
into one of these behavior patterns.




Drug abusers and/or addicts typically may obtaodommercial dosage form containing an opioid anatgasd crush, shear, grit
chew, dissolve and/ or heat, extract or otherwismipulate the product so that a significant amaneven the entire amount of the d
becomes available for immediate absorption by tigec inhalation, and/or oral consumption. There aarious routes of administration
which an abuser may commonly attempt to abuse amdogontaining drug formulation. The most commoethods include (1) intravenc
injection, (2) intranasal (e.g., snorting), and i(&)eated oral ingestion of excessive quantitiesrally administered tablets or capsules.
mode of abuse of oral solid opioid drug productgoimes first crushing/pulverizing and then mixinigettablet with water, and th
subsequently extracting the opioid component froennhixture for use in a solution suitable for imtraous injection of the opioid to achiey
"high."

Attempts have been made by several companies, @s fally described below under the caption “Comiati’, to develo
technology to deter abuse of orally administereididmnalgesics. Some of these attempts have iaditice use of an opioid antagonist in
oral dosage form designed to substantially bloek ahalgesic effects of the opioid if one attemptrush/grind the tablet and snort
resulting powder or dissolve/extract the opioid auhininister the opioid drug intravenously. The Aien® Technology does not utili;
opioid antagonists. A clear need exists for a fdation technology for commonly used immediate reéeand extended release tablets
capsules which discourages misuse and minimizesdurces the potential for physical or psychologisgpendency. The need is particul
imperative for opioid analgesics. It is with theging concern about the illegitimate use of legé#tmopioid analgesics described above
the Company is pursuing development of its Aver®idiechnology.

OxyADF ™ Development Program

The Companys lead product candidate, OxyADF™ tablets (formedferred to by the Company as Product Candidajeis#ar
immediate release tablet formulation intended f@ administration being developed pursuant to etive IND on file with the FDA. Th
FDA has confirmed in written correspondence toGloenpany that OxyADF™ is an appropriate product adateé for submission as a 505(b)
(2) NDA. Refer to the caption, “Government Regulati FDA Pharmaceutical Product Approvals” in tRisport for a description of a 505(b)
(2) NDA.

To date the Company, in concert with its CROs tampieted one phase | clinical study and one phlasknical study relating t
development of OxyADF™ tablets. The results from gihase | clinical study were used, among othegtito guide the formulation of 1
OxyADF tablets used in the phase Il clinical stuesults from the phase Il clinical study suggésitt @t the anticipated recommen
therapeutic doses in normal subjects, OxyADF tabMll provide a side effects profile similar tcetsame opioid active ingredient formule
in a tablet without the Company’s Aversiorf@chnology. The Company, intends to use the data such clinical studies in its 505(b)
NDA submission for OxyADF™

The Company, in concert with an independent clin@RO, has completed a pilot and a pivotal bioeglgince study for OxyADF’
tablets. The pivotal bioequivalence study usedetasbirom batches manufactured by the Company &utser, Indiana facility at a scale
sufficient size to fulfill the FDAS requirements for a 505(b)(2) NDA submission. fihal report from the CRO for the pivotal bioequimace
study confirms that OxyADF™ tablets are bioequinal® the applicable reference listed drug. The gamy intends to use such data ir
505(b)(2) NDA submission for OxyADF™.,

In addition, the Company, in concert with an indegent laboratory CRO, completed a pivotal study aksess certe
physical/chemical properties of OxyADF™ using tableom batches manufactured by the Company &utser, Indiana facility at a scale
sufficient size to fulfill the FDAS requirements for a 505(b)(2) NDA submission. Tihal report from this pivotal laboratory study dmms
that extracting the active opioid ingredient fromxyBDF™ tablets in a form which may be administendd intravenous injection
substantially more difficult than extracting theiae opioid ingredient from several currently masda opioidbased commercial products.
Company intends to utilize the data from this piv¢dboratory study in its 505(b)(2) NDA submission OxyADF™.




During the first quarter of 2006, as a routine jdithe development process for OxyADF™ tabletshatCompanys written reques
the Company and the FDA convened a face-to-facedtfhase Il meeting (the “EOP2 Meetinddy OxyADF tablets. As part of the EO
Meeting, the Company and the FDA discussed, amdingr dhings, the laboratory and clinical studiesnpteted by the Company to d
relating to OxyADF™ tablets and the remaining lattory and clinical studies anticipated to be congulerior to the submission of a 505(b)
(2) NDA for OxyADF™ tablets. The Company believéw tguidance provided by FDA at the EOP2 Meetingifda the remainin
development requirements relating to the Compapsgposed indication and contemplated labeling foyADF™ tablets.

To receive marketing authorization for commercistribution in the United States, OxyADF™ and amygl product formulate
with the Aversion®Technology will require the development, compilatisubmission and filing of a NDA and approval o€ls applicatio
by the FDA. Estimating the dates of completion athdratory and clinical development, and the costsdmplete development, of !
Company's product candidates, including OxyADF™ uldobe highly speculative, subjective and potelstiahisleading. Pharmaceuti
products require significant time to research, tlgvand commercialize. The Company expects to esagss future research and developi
plans based on the review of data received fromeatiresearch and development activities and fuguidance from the FDA. The cost i
pace of future research and development activitieslinked and subject to change. At this stageetitan be no assurance that any o
Companys research and development efforts, including tHoseOxyADF™, will lead to a 505(b)(2) NDA submissi or that if ND/
submissions are made with the FDA, that any submssion will be approved by the FDA.

Commercial Strategy and Status

To generate revenue, the Company plans to enterdetelopment and commercialization agreements siititegically focuse
pharmaceutical company partners (the "Partnersdyiging that such Partners license OxyADY tablets and other product candid:
utilizing the Aversion®Technology and further develop, register and comsirakze multiple formulations and strengths of symieduc
candidates. The Company expects to receive milegtagments and a share of profits and/or royaljyrants derived from the Partnessile
of products incorporating the Aversion®@chnology. Future revenue, if any, would be detifrem milestone payments and a share of pi
and/or royalty payments relating to our Partneade ©f products incorporating the Aversiof@chnology. To date, the Company does
have any executed collaborative agreements wittn@&arnor can there be any assurance that the Ggnwvgl successfully enter into su
collaborative agreements in the future.

Patents Issued and Pending

As of the date of this Report, the Company hadettt& nonprovisional and two international patent applicasigpending relating
its Aversion®Technology. Additionally, as of the date of thisg®rt, the Company had six US patents issued ard thS patent applicatic
pending related to its Opioid Synthesis Technolegis of the date of this Report, the Company nehiownership of all issued pate
patent applications, other intellectual propertyl @ommercial rights to its product candidates amdAversion® Technology and Opio
Synthesis Technology.

The typical review time of a patent applicationthg United States Patent and Trademark Office ("R Maries. Depending on t
field of invention, the initial PTO review genesalbccurs within 30 months from date of filing a Rpmvisional patent application. At t
completion of the initial review, the patent exaarinwill issue an Office Action letter, detailingyanecessary amendments, supplemer
reasons for rejection. Subsequent processing gbdkent application will depend on the number dig@fAction letters issued and the sp
of review of an applicant's responses to theserkettf an application is granted, a Notice of Allimce will be issued requiring a paymer
the issue fee within three (3) months from the détine notice. Upon the payment of the fee toRM© the patent would then be issued.




No assurance can be given that any currently pgnpaient applications or future patent applicaticglating to our Aversio®
Technology will issue, or if such patents issuat the claims granted will be sufficiently broadpimvide economic value. Moreover, eve
such patents issue, there can be no assuranabeéhaimmercialization of products incorporating version® Technology will not infring
the patents or other intellectual property rightdhird parties. The Company's success dependsggimificant part on our to obtain pat
protection for the Aversion®&echnology, both in the United States and in ottmntries, to enforce these patents and to avdithging
third-party patent and intellectual property rights

Opioid Synthesis Technologies

Historically the Company was engaged in resear@veldpment and manufacture of proprietary, highed, short cycle tim
environmentally sensitive opioid synthesis procegfiee "Opioid Synthesis Technologies") intendedu®e in the commercial productior
certain bulk opioid active pharmaceutical ingretier{*APIs”). In early 2005, the Company suspended further dewedmt an
commercialization efforts relating to the Opioid nlyesis Technologies. The Company determined basedamong other factors, |
Company’s limited cash balances, prospects fodtparty financing, the Company’s focus on its Aven® Technology, and the project
timeline and expense for resolution of the Compsangpplication for the Import Registration (see “bripRegistration”below), tha
suspending further activities relating to the Ogi&iynthesis Technologies is in the Company’s h#strésts. The Company expects to re-
evaluate the development and commercializatiorhef@pioid Synthesis Technologies after the Admiaiste Law Judges determinatio
relating to the Import Registration. No assuraree loe given that development and commercializagftorts relating to the Opioid Synthe
Technologies will resume in the future, or evesu€h activities resume, that the Opioid Synthesishiologies will be capable of commer
scale up or be commercialized.

Import Registration

To provide for an economical source of raw matsrfal the commercial manufacturing of opioids miilg the Opioid Synthes
Technologies, on January 31, 2001, the Compang fileh the DEA an application for registration tmport (the “Import Registratiof”
narcotic raw materials ("NRMs") including raw opiumpium poppy and concentrate of poppy straw frartain foreign countries. The
NRMs are commonly used as the initial starting mal® in the synthesis of certain opioid APIs. Metiof the Compar's application we
published in the Federal Register on Septembed®l1.2VNithin the 30 day period provided under DEAdglines, three parties, including t
companies that the Company believes are the latgSstimporters of NRMs requested a hearing to &lyrobject to the Compang’reques
for an Import Registration. Pursuant to establisipedcedures, an evidentiary hearing relating to @@mpanys Import Registratic
application was held before a DEA AdministrativerLadudge (“ALJ") in August 2003. The ALJ later opened the administrative record
the request of opposing parties, to consider theng2mys November and December 2003 announcements comgetiné Compar
restructuring and financing activities. After sugion of additional testimony by the Company andade of the opposing parties, the /£
closed the evidentiary record on May 25, 2004. Adwgust 31, 2004, the Company and the opposinggsasubmitted to the ALJ briefil
documents based on the evidentiary record andesefi the opposing partiestiefing documents. At the request of certain opppparties
the ALJ later allowed the submission of additiobaéfing documents to consider the Companiyebruary 2005 announcement relating ti
suspension of further development of the OpioidtBgsis Technologies. As of September, PR05, the Company and the opposing pe
submitted to the ALJ additional briefing documelnésed on the ComparsyFebruary 2005 announcement relating to the ssgpenf furthe
development of the Opioid Synthesis Technologiegh\fie evidentiary record currently closed andbaiéfing documents and reply briefi
documents requested by the ALJ submitted, the Coynpatimates that within 18 months from Septemi&er 2005, the ALJ will mak
findings of fact, draw legal conclusions and makepacific recommendation on the Companihport Registration application to the D
Deputy Administrator. Historically, within 14 morgtafter receiving the AL§ recommendation, the DEA deputy administrator isgle a
order relating to the Company’s application. Assugnihe DEA grants the Compasyapplication, of which no assurance can be gitle
Company would be permitted to import NRMs upon appiate notice in the Federal Register. However,dhposing parties may challe
the DEA decision to grant the Compasigpplication in an appropriate Court of Appeatssilich a case, assuming the Company oppo:
appellate challenge, the Company would likely inadditional time delays and legal expenses prighéoissuance of a final decision by
U.S. Court of Appeals. Provided the Company comtinto seek the Import Registration, it is expedbad the proceedings will contin
through 2006 and beyond.




No assurance can be given that the Company's Iniegistration application will be approved by thEAor that, if granted t
DEA, the Import Registration would be upheld foliogy an appellate challenge. Furthermore, the Cogipaash flow and limited sources
available financing make it uncertain that the Campwill have sufficient capital to continue to tlthe development of the Opioid Synth
Technologies, to obtain required DEA approvals tmdéund the capital improvements necessary forntamufacture of APIs and finish
dosage products incorporating the Opioid SynthEschnologies.

Recent Events
2004 Debenture Offering

On February 10, 2004, the Company consummated \aterioffering of convertible senior secured debegtu(the "200
Debentures") in the aggregate principal amountppir@ximately $12.3 million (the "2004 Debenture @ig"). The 2004 Debentures w
issued by the Company pursuant to a certain Delertod Share Purchase Agreement dated as of Fel§u2004 (the "2004 Purche
Agreement”) by and among the Company, Care Capitastments, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures, GRltners and each of
purchasers listed on the signature page theretoAmih 14, 2004 and May 26, 2004, the Company catga additional closings under
2004 Purchase Agreement raising the aggregate grosseds received by the Company from the offeahthe 2004 Debentures to §
million. The 2004 Debentures carried an interett o 1.62% per annum and were secured by a lieallomssets of the Company and
assets of Acura Pharmaceutical Technologies, it Axiom Pharmaceutical Corporation, each a wholyred subsidiary of the Company.

In accordance with the terms of the documents @rdan connection with the 2004 Debenture Offerigffgctive August 13, 200
the business day following the Company's receipthaireholder approval to restate the Company'sfiCate of Incorporation to authorize
Series A Preferred and the Junior Preferred SHasedescribed below) as provided in the 2004 Peeciigreement, the aggregate princ
amount of the 2004 Debentures converted into ameggie of 21,963,757 shares of the Compau8eries A Preferred shares. In addi
effective August 13, 2004, the Compasg% convertible debentures issued during the gerom 1998 through 2003 in the aggre:
principal amount of approximately $86.6 million weronverted into the Company’s Series B Preferhedles, Series @-Preferred share
Series C-2 Preferred shares and Series C-3 Préfehares (the “Junior Preferred Share83.the result, on August 13, 2004, the Comj
issued an aggregate of approximately 20.2 millieri€s B Preferred shares, 56.4 million Series Qefefred shares, 37.4 million Serie2C-
Preferred shares and 81.9 million Series C-3 Pedeshares.

Conversion of Preferred Shares into Common Stock

Effective November 10, 2005, all of the issued antstanding preferred shares of the Company we@raiically and mandatori
converted into the Company’s common stock, $.0lvpare per share (the “Common Stock”) in accordamitie the terms of the Compargy’
Restated Certification of Incorporation (the “Predel Stock Conversion”)n accordance with the conversion provisions com@iin thi
Restated Certificate of Incorporation, all issued autstanding shares of the CompanS$eries A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferredks§
Series C-1 Preferred Stock, Series C-2 PreferredkSand Series C-3 Preferred Stock (collectivety tPreferred Stock”are converte
automatically into the Company’s Common Stock upi@ Companys receipt of the written consent to the PreferretiSConversion froi
the holders of at least 51% of the shares of thmfgamys Series A Preferred Stock. On November 10, 20@5,Gompany received t
consent to the Preferred Stock Conversion from Giokings LLC (the assignee of all Preferred Stamtferly held by each of Care Cap
Investments Il, LP, Care Capital Offshore Investtadh LP, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, LGalen Partners International Ill, L.
Galen Partners I, L.P. and Galen Employee FumdUIP.), such entity holding in the aggregate ktess of 51% of the issued :
outstanding shares of the Company’s Series A RezfeBtock. In accordance with the terms of the Caomgjs Restated Certificate
Incorporation, all shares of the Companyreferred Stock were automatically converted artcaggregate of approximately 305.4 mil
shares of the ComparsyCommon Stock. After giving effect to the Prefdr@ock Conversion, effective November 10, 2005Goenpan’
had an aggregate of approximately 329.0 milliorrshiaf Common Stock issued and outstanding.




Bridge Loan Financing

The Company is a party to four Loan Agreements detag in January, 2006 November, 2005, September, 2005 and June,
pursuant to which the Company has received bridga financing in the aggregate principal amour$28 million from Essex Woodlan
Health Ventures V, L.P., Care Capital Investmeht& P, Care Capital Offshore Investments I, LP |&daPartners lll, L.P., Galen Partn
International Ill, L.P., Galen Employee Fund lll,A. and certain other shareholders of the Compgatgdlon the signature page to such |
Agreements. Reference is made to “ltem 7 - Managém®iscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiand Results of Operations -
Liquidity and Capital Resources” for a more detaitiescription of the bridge loan transactions.

Segment Reporting

The Company operates in only one business segméinth is the research, development and manufaafii@novative abus
deterrent, abuse resistant and tamper resistamufations (" Aversion® Technology") intended foreus orally administered opioid-
containing pharmaceutical products. As describemyalin this Report under the captions “Opioid Sesth Technologiesthe Company hi
suspended activities relating to its Opioid Synithéechnologies. Prior to 2005, in addition to Asersion® Technology research a
development activities, the Company manufacturetissodd generic finished dosage pharmaceutical mptsdifhe Company discontinued
manufacture and sale of such products in thedinsrter of 2004.

Government Regulation
General

All pharmaceutical technology and manufacturingnBr including the Company, are subject to extensdggilation by the Fede
government, principally by the FDA, and, to a lessdent, by state and local governments. Additignéhe Company is subject to extens
regulation by the DEA for research, developmentmathufacturing of controlled substances. The Comgannot predict the extent to wh
it may be affected by legislative and other regulatievelopments concerning its products and tladtheare industry in general. The Fed
Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, the Controlled Suiista Act and other Federal statutes and regulagonsrn or influence the testi
manufacture, labeling, storage, record keepingraya, pricing, advertising, promotion, sale angtidbution of pharmaceutical produc
Noncompliance with applicable requirements canltésuines, recall or seizure of products, crimipeoceedings, total or partial suspen:
of production, and refusal of the government teemtto supply contracts or to approve new drudiegfions. The FDA also has the authc
to revoke or withhold approvals of new drug applaas.

FDA approval is required before any "new drug," banmarketed. A "new drug" is one not generallyogeized by the FDA as s:
and effective for its intended use. Such approvaginbe based on adequate and well controlled alimwestigations. In addition to providi
required safety and effectiveness data for FDA eygdr a drug manufacturer's practices and procedarest conform to current Ga
Manufacturing Practice Regulations ("cGMPs"), whagply to the manufacture, receiving, holding ahghging of all drugs, whether or r
approved by the FDA. To ensure full compliance wigtevant standards, some of which are set fortregulations, the Company m
continue to expend time, money and effort in theaarof production and quality control. Failureaaccemply risks delays in approval of drt
disqualification from eligibility to sell to the gernment, and possible FDA enforcement actiondh siscan injunction against shipment of
Company's products, the seizure of momplying drug products, and/or, in serious casesyinal prosecution. The Company's manufactt
facility is subject to periodic inspection by thBA.

In addition to the regulatory approval process, @mnpany is subject to regulation under Federatesand local laws, includi
requirements regarding occupational safety, laboyapractices, environmental protection and hazassdsubstance control, and may
subject to other present and future local, staggleFal and foreign regulations, including possiokeire regulations of the pharmaceut
industry.




FDA Pharmaceutical Product Approvals

There are currently three pathways to obtain FDArayal to commercially market and distribute a nglarmaceutici
product in the U.S.:

1. New Drug Applications ("NDA"). Unless one of tipeocedures discussed in paragraph 2 or 3 beloawadable,
prospective manufacturer must conduct and submihéoFDA complete clinical studies to prove a dsuspfety and efficacy,
addition to the bioavailability and/or bioequivatenstudies discussed below, and must also subntitetd-DA information abo
manufacturing practices, the chemical makeef the drug and labeling. Some of the produaticipated to be developed by
Company which will incorporate the Opioid SyntheBechnologies and the Aversion®chnology will require an NDA filing. Tt
full clinical testing required for the preparatiand filing of an NDA requires the expenditure obsiantial resources. The Comp
intends to collaborate with thingarties to fund the preparation and filing of angls NDAs. There can be no assurance that any
collaboration will be available on terms acceptdbléhe Company, if at all.

2. 505(b)(2) NDA. An alternative NDA procedure ipided by the Drug Price Competition and PatentiTRestoratio
Act of 1984 (the “1984 Act"whereby the applicant may rely on published literatand more limited testing requirements.
application process is useful when the API is conuially available in an alternative dosage fornfamulation. The Company h
received written confirmation from the FDA that @GF ™ tablets, the Company'’s lead product candidatezirtgi the Aversio®
Technology, is an appropriate product candidates@itmission as a 505(b)(2) NDA.

3. Abbreviated New Drug Applications ("ANDAs"). THE84 Act established the ANDA procedure for obitajnFDA
approval for those drugs that are pétent or whose exclusivity has otherwise expined that are bioequivalent to certain refere
listed drugs (“RLD") in the FDAS Orange Book. An ANDA is similar to an NDA, excépat the FDA waives the requiremen
conducting complete prelinical and clinical studies of safety and effigaand usually requires bioavailability and bioegié@nct
studies. "Bioavailability" refers to the conceniwat of a drug in the blood. "Bioequivalence" meaugiivalence in bioavailabili
between two drug products. In general, an ANDA Wil approved only upon demonstrating that the gmagluct subject to tt
ANDA is bioequivalent to the RLD, i.e., that theteaof absorption and the concentration of a gendrig in the blood a
substantially equivalent to those of a previouglgraved RLD.

Healthcare Reform

Over the last few years several legislative profsoaddressing the cost and availability of healtbgaoducts and services have t
introduced in Congress and state legislatures. $umbosals include insurance market reforms, thairement that businesses provide he
insurance coverage for all their employees, sigaift revisions to the process for administering i@ and Medicaid expenditures,
stringent government cost controls that would iefice insurance premiums and indirectly affect tes fof hospitals, physicians and o
healthcare providers. Such proposals could adweeféct the Company's business by, among othegshireducing the demand, and
prices paid, for pharmaceutical products such asetbeing developed by the Company. Additionaltieo developments, such as (i)
adoption of a nationalized health insurance system single payor system, (ii) changes in ndeatsed medical assistance programs, o
greater prevalence of capitated reimbursement afth@are providers, could adversely affect the deinor the products candidates
development utilizing the Company’s Aversion® Teclugy.

Environmental Compliance

In addition to regulation by the FDA and DEA, ther@pany is subject to regulation under Federalesiaid local environmen
laws. The Company believes it is in material coammpdie with applicable environmental laws. The Corgganurred $61,650 $180,000 an
$227,000 in the years ended December 31, 2005, 2802003, respectively, on environmental compgamdating and disposal of hazard
and controlled substances waste.

Competition

The Company competes to varying degrees with numsecompanies in the pharmaceutical research, dawelot, manufacturir
and commercialization fields. Most, of the Compangdmpetitors have substantially greater finanaiad other resources and are abl
expend more funds and effort than the Companysearch and development of their competitive teatgiek and products. Although a lar
company with greater resources than the Companlynetl necessarily have a higher likelihood of remel regulatory approval for
particular product or technology as compared tmaller competitor, the company with a larger rese@nd development expenditure will
in a position to support more development projeitsultaneously, thereby improving the likelihood aiftaining regulatory approval o
commercially viable product or technology tharsitsaller rivals.






The Company is aware of potential competitoeg thay be developing technologies designed to baeeor more of the abt
deterrent, abuse resistant or tamper resistanirgsabf the Company’s Aversion®echnology. Such competitors include, but are moitéd
to, Elite Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of Northvale, Newrsgy, Collegium Pharmaceuticals of Cumberland, dehdsland, New Rivt
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of Radford, Virginia and Paherapeutics of South San Francisco, Califormaaddition, we believe that Purc
Pharma of Stamford, Connecticut, Alpharma Inc. oftH.ee, New Jersey and Endo Pharmaceuticals ofi@&h&ord, Pennsylvania i
pursuing abuse deterrent, abuse resistant and tamgistant formulations of opioid analgesic pradudhe Company believes that E
Pharmaceuticals has entered into a license agraevitarCollegium Pharmaceuticals to develop pain patsl with abuse deterrent propert

Raw Materials

To purchase certain active ingredients requiredtierCompanys development and manufacture of product candidatézing its
Aversion® Technology, the Company is required to file for afdain quotas from the DEA. No assurance can Wenghat the Company w
be successful in obtaining adequate DEA quotas fimaly manner. Even assuming adequate and timéA [Quotas, there can be
assurances that the approved manufacturers of raterims for the Company’ product candidates will supply the Company wit
requirements for the active ingredients requiredtie development and manufacture of its productickates.

Subsidiaries

The Company's Culver, Indiana research, developmamd manufacturing operations are conducted byraAdtharmaceutic
Technologies, Inc., an Indiana corporation and Wholned subsidiary of the Company. Axiom Pharmacal@orporation, a Delawe
corporation, is a whollypwned subsidiary of the Company and was formerlyaged in generic product manufacturing and distiguin
Congers, New York. The Company is in the procestissfolving Axiom Pharmaceutical Corporation.

Employees

As of the date of this Report, the Company hadflB-time employees, eight of whom are engaged in theareh, development ¢
manufacture of product candidates utilizing the ®ien® Technology. The remaining employees are engageatiministrative, lege
accounting, finance, market research, businesdaj@went and licensing activities.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The Company Received a "Going Concern" Opinion fromlts Registered Independent Public Accounting Firm,Has a History of
Operating Losses and May Not Achieve ProfitabilitySufficient to Generate a Positive Return on Sharelders' Investment

We have incurred net losses of approximately $iflllon for the year ended December 31, 2005 ar@lGnillion, $48.5 million
and $59.6 million for 2004, 2003, and 2002, respebt. As of December 31 , 2005 our accumulatedcttefvas approximately$ 291.¢
million. The Company's consolidated financial staats for the years ended December 31, 2005 ardl 128 been prepared on goinc
concern” basis; however, in its report dated February 1,62@€garding those financial statements, our regidtendependent pub
accounting firm referred to substantial doubt akibet Company's ability to continue as a going camees a result of recurring losses,
capital deficiency and negative cash flows. Ouurfeitprofitability will depend on many factors, inding: (i) the Company ability to secui
additional financing to fund continued operatiofii¥,the successful completion of the formulaticevdlopment, clinical testing and accept
regulatory review of product candidates utilizirige tAversion®Technology; (iii) the receipt of issued patentsnirthe U.S. Patent a
Trademark Office (“PTQO”) for the material claims ihe Company's patent applications relating to Alwersion® Technology; (iv) th
Company's ability to negotiate and execute appatplicensing, development and commercializatiorements with qualified third part
relating to the Company’s product candidates; afndhe successful commercialization by licenseeprotiucts incorporating the Aversi®n
Technology without infringing the patents and otimellectual property rights of third parties. Wannot assure you that we will ever ha
product approved by the FDA, that we will bring apgoduct to market or, if we are successful in doso, that we will ever becol
profitable.
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We Require Additional Funding

Our requirements for additional new funding willpgad on many factors, including: (i) the time regdiand expenses incurrec
the development and commercialization of produsteiiporating our Aversion®echnology; (ii) the structure of any future colbahtive o
development agreements relating to the Aversid®®hnology, including the timing and amount of payts, if any, that may be recei
under possible future collaborative agreementy;diir ability to develop additional product canaties utilizing the Aversion@echnology
(iv) our ability to negotiate agreements with gfiedl third parties for development, manufacturerkating, sale and distribution of prodL
utilizing our Aversion®Technology; (v) the prosecution, defense and eefoent of patent claims and other intellectual priypeghts
relating to the Aversion® Technology; and (vi) teeccessful commercialization by licensees of prtlilecorporating our Aversidh
Technology without infringing third-party patentsather intellectual property rights.

To continue funding operations the Company musteraidditional financing, or enter into alliancesollaborative agreements w
third parties providing for net proceeds to the @any. No assurance can be given that the Compdhpensuccessful in obtaining any s
financing or in securing collaborative agreementth whird parties on acceptable terms, if at all,ifosecured, that such financing
collaborative agreements will provide for paymetshe Company sufficient to continue to fund opierss. In the absence of such financ
or thirdparty collaborative agreements, the Company willrbguired to scale back or terminate operationgoanseek protection unc
applicable bankruptcy laws. Even assuming the Compsa successful in securing additional sourcedirancing to fund the continu
development of the Aversion® Technology, or othsmwienters into alliances or collaborative agreemeelating to the Aversidn
Technology, there can be no assurance that the &oyispdevelopment efforts will result in commergiaiiable products.

We Have No Near Term Sources of Revenue and Must Reon Current Cash Reserves, ThirdParty Financing, and Technolog
Licensing Fees to Fund Operations

Pending the negotiation of appropriate licensingeaments with pharmaceutical company partners, to€lwno assurance can
given, the Company must rely on its current cagemees, thirgarty financing and technology licensing fees tadithe Company
operations. No assurance can be given that current cash resowvidl be sufficient to fund the continued devetegmt of our produ
candidates until such time as we generate reveram the license of products incorporating the Aiet® Technology to third partie
Moreover, no assurance can be given that we wiluneessful in raising additional financing to fwpkrations or, if funding is obtained, t
such funding will be sufficient to fund operationstil the Company's product candidates incorpogatinr Aversion®Technology, may
commercialized.

The Company Is Subject to Restrictions on the Incuence of Additional Indebtedness, Which May Adversly Impact the Company's
Ability to Fund Operations

Pursuant to the terms of each of the Company'dsandihg secured term Loan Agreements the Compaliyiied as to the type a
amount of future indebtedness it may incur. Theric®n on the Company's ability to incur additsdrindebtedness in the future n
adversely impact the Company's ability to funddegelopment of its product candidates and commieaien of its products.

Our Product Candidates Are Based on Technology ThaCould Ultimately Prove Ineffective

Our lead product candidate, OxyADF™ incorporatingr dAversion® Technology is a tablet formulation intended for |
administration and has an active IND on file withA& The Company is focusing substantially all &f roduct development activities
OxyADF™ tablets. Additional clinical and natiinical testing will be required to continue dewgment of OxyADF™ tablets and for 1
preparation and submission of a 505(b)(2) new dpgication (“NDA”) with the FDA. There can be no assurance that OxyAOBblets ¢
any other product candidate developed using thesime® Technology will lead to a NDA submission to the FRAd that if a NDA i
submitted, that the FDA will accept such submissamd subsequently approve such regulatory applicatd allow for commerci
distribution of the product.
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The Company is committing substantially all ofiésources and available capital to the developre@xyADF™ tablets and ti
prosecution of its patent applications for the Ai@n® Technology. The failure of the Company to succdlstievelop a product candid:
utilizing the Aversion® Technology, to successfully obtain an issued pdtent the PTO relating to the Aversion®echnology and to avc
infringing third-party patents and intellectual pesty rights in the commercialization of productsizing the Aversion® Technology wil
have a material adverse effect on the Company'satipes and financial condition.

If Pre-Clinical or Clinical Testing For Our Product Candidates Are Unsuccessful or Delayed, We Will Be Unabl® Meet Our
Anticipated Development and Commercialization Timehes

To obtain FDA approval to commercially market arfyoar product candidates, we must submit to the RDRDA demonstratin
among other things, that the product candidatafis and effective for its intended use. This dertratien requires significant prelinical anc
clinical testing. As we do not possess the resauoceemploy all the personnel necessary to corsluatt testing we rely on contract rese
organizations for the majority of this testing wahr product candidates. As a result, we havedestrol over the timing and other aspeci
our development program than if we performed ttstirtg entirely on our own. Third parties may notfpen their responsibilities on @
anticipated schedule. Delays in our developmengnams could significantly increase our product dgwaent costs and delay prod
commercialization. In addition, many of the facttitat may cause, or lead to a delay in the devedmpmrogram, may also ultimately leac
denial of regulatory approval of a product candidat

The commencement of clinical trials with our produandidates may be delayed for several reasoaliding but not limited t
delays in demonstrating sufficient pecknical safety required to obtain regulatory apioto commence a clinical trial, reaching agreets
on acceptable terms with prospective collaborapiggners, manufacturing and quality assurance geled a sufficient supply of a prod
candidate for use in our clinical trials and/orabing institutional review board approval to coota clinical trial at a prospective site. O
a clinical trial has begun, it may be delayed, suasied or terminated by us or the FDA or other r=guy authorities due to several fact
including ongoing discussions with the FDA or otlmiegulatory authorities regarding the scope orgiesif our clinical trials, failure :
conduct clinical trials in accordance with regutgtoequirements, lower than anticipated recruitmantetention rate of patients in clini
trials, inspection of the clinical trial operations trial sites by the FDA or other regulatory arities, the imposition of a clinical hold
FDA, lack of adequate funding to continue cliniti@dls; and/or negative or unanticipated resultsliviical trials.

Clinical trials, where required by the FDA for coraraial approval, may not demonstrate safety oca€fy of our product candidat
Success in prehinical testing and early clinical trials does matsure that later clinical trials will be successResults of later clinical trig
may not replicate the results of prior clinicahtsi and preslinical testing. Even if the results of our piviotdinical trials are positive, we a
our collaborative partners may have to commit sl time and additional resources to condudhfrr preelinical and clinical studie
before we can submit NDAs or obtain regulatory appt for our product candidates.

Clinical trials may be expensive and difficult tesign and implement, in part because they are cubjerigorous regulato
requirements. Further, if participating subjectspatients in clinical studies suffer druglated adverse reactions during the course of
trials, or if we, our collaborative partner(s) betFDA believes that participating patients arenpeixposed to unacceptable health risks
collaborative partner(s) may have to suspend timical trials. Failure can occur at any stage @& thals, and our collaborative partne
could encounter problems causing the abandonmecdiinif¢al trials or the need to conduct additionhhical studies, relating to a prod
candidate.
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Even if our clinical trials are completed darmed, their results may not support our targerediuct label claims. The clinic
trial process may fail to demonstrate that our pobdandidates are safe and effective for theérided use. Such failure would cause t
our collaborative partner to abandon a product iciatel and may delay the development of other priocmedidates.

We May Not Obtain Required FDA Approval; the FDA Approval Process Is Time-Consuming and Expensive

The development, testing, manufacturing, marketind sale of pharmaceutical products are subjeektensive federal, state ¢
local regulation in the United States and othemties. Satisfaction of all regulatory requiremetytgically takes many years, is depent
upon the type, complexity and novelty of the prddtandidate, and requires the expenditure of snhataesources for research, developr
and testing. Substantially all of the Company'sratiens are subject to compliance with FDA regolasi Failure to adhere to applicable F
regulations by the Company or its licensees, if amyuld have a material adverse effect on the Cawyipaperations and financial conditi
In addition, in the event the Company is succedsfaleveloping product candidates for sale in ottmmtries, the Company would becc
subject to regulation in such countries. Such fpraiegulations and product approval requiremergseapected to be time consuming
expensive.

We may encounter delays or rejections during aagestof the regulatory approval process based uperfailure of clinical c
laboratory data to demonstrate compliance withypon the failure of the products to meet, the FDxAguirements for safety, efficacy ¢
quality; and those requirements may become moiegsint due to changes in regulatory agency policthe adoption of new regulatio
After submission of a marketing application, in fbem of a new drug application (“NDAa 505(b)(2) NDA, or an Abbreviated New D
Application ("ANDA"), the FDA may deny the applidan, may require additional testing or data andhayy require postrarketing testin
and surveillance to monitor the safety or efficadya product. The FDA commonly takes one to tworgda grant final approval to
marketing application (NDA, 505(b)(2) NDA or ANDAFurther, the terms of approval of any marketingliaption, including the labelir
content, may be more restrictive than we desirecantt affect the marketability of the productsammorating the Aversion® Technology.

Even if we comply with all FDA regulatory requirente, we may never obtain regulatory approval for ahour product candidate
If we fail to obtain regulatory approval for any ofir product candidates, we will have fewer sakegibducts and corresponding lo
revenues. Even if we receive regulatory approvabuf products, such approval may involve limitatian the indicated uses or marke
claims we may make for our products.

The FDA also has the authority to revoke or susptovals of previously approved products for eatis debar companies ¢
individuals from participating in the druapproval process, to request recalls of allegediative products, to seize allegedly violal
products, to obtain injunctions to close manufaontuplants allegedly not operating in conformitytlweurrent Good Manufacturing Practi
(cGMP) and to stop shipments of allegedly violagiwveducts. As any future source of Company revenilldoe derived from the sale of FL
approved products, the taking of any such actiothbyFDA would have a material adverse effect exGbmpany.

We Must Maintain FDA Approval to Manufacture Our Pr oducts Candidates at Our Facility; Failure to Maintain Compliance with
FDA Requirements May Prevent or Delay the Manufactee of Our Product Candidates and Costs of Manufactte May Be Higher
Than Expected

We have constructed and installed the equipmenéssacy to manufacture clinical trial supplies of dwersion® Technolog
product candidates in tablet formulations at outv€y Indiana facility. To be used in clinical tisaall of our product candidates mus!
manufactured in conformity with current Good Maruitaing Practice (cGMP) regulations as interpreied enforced by the FDA. All su
product candidates must be manufactured, packagetllabeled and stored in accordance with cGMPdif\dations, enhancements
changes in manufacturing sites of marketed prodargtsin many circumstances, subject to FDA appraviaich may be subject to a leng
application process or which we may be unable tainbOur Culver, Indiana facility, as well as teasf any thirdparty manufacturers that
may use, are periodically subject to inspectiontiiyy FDA and other governmental agencies, and dpesagt these facilities could
interrupted or halted if such inspections are usfattory.
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Failure to comply with FDA or other governmanegulations can result in fines, unanticipatethpliance expenditures, recal
seizure of products, total or partial suspensioprofiuction or distribution, suspension of FDA ewiof our products, termination of ongo
research, disqualification of data for submissmneigulatory authorities, enforcement actions,rinfions and criminal prosecution.

If We Retain Collaborative Partners and Our Partners Do Not Satisfy Their Obligations, We Will Be Unake to Develop Ou
Partnered Product Candidates

To complete the development and regulatory approfvalir products and commercialize our product @hatds, if any are approv
by the FDA, we plan to enter into development aoichimercialization agreements with strategically &eaipharmaceutical company part
providing that such partners license our Aversion@hnologies and further develop, register, manufacand commercialize multiy
formulations and strengths of each product candidditizing our Aversion®Technology. We expect to receive a share of praiitd/o
royalty payments derived from such collaborativetnpers' sale of products incorporating our Averg@iohechnologies. Currently, we do |
have any such collaborative agreements, nor cae tieeany assurance that we will actually enter aatlaborative agreements in the fut
Our inability to enter into collaborative agreengerdr our failure to maintain such agreements, ddiniit the number of product candidz
that we can develop and ultimately, decrease otenpial sources of any future revenues. In the even enter into any collaborati
agreements, we may not have dayd&y control over the activities of our collaboratipartners with respect to any product candidatsy
collaborative partner may not fulfill its obligatis under such agreements. If a collaborative pafaiks to fulfill its obligations under ¢
agreement with us, we may be unable to assume dlielapment of the product covered by that agreererib enter into alternati
arrangements with a thinglarty. In addition, we may encounter delays indbemercialization of the product candidate thahéssubject of
collaboration agreement. Accordingly, our abilityreceive any revenue from the product candidaiesred by collaboration agreements
be dependent on the efforts of our collaborativengs. We could be involved in disputes with a abbirative partner, which could leac
delays in or termination of, our development andnewrcialization programs and result in time consigmand expensive litigation
arbitration. In addition, any such dispute couldhigish our collaborative partnersommitment to us and reduce the resources theyteles
developing and commercializing our products. If @ollaborative partner terminates or breachesgteement, or otherwise fails to comp
its obligations in a timely manner, our chanceswafcessfully developing or commercializing our pretdcandidates would be materially
adversely effected. Additionally, due to the natafeghe market for our product candidates, it maynecessary for us to license all «
significant portion of our product candidates tsiagle collaborator, thereby eliminating our oppaity to commercialize other prod
candidates with other collaborative partners.

The Market May Not Be Receptive to Products Incorpaating Our Aversion® Technology

The commercial success of products incorporatingfmersion® Technology that are approved for marketing by tBé Rnd othe
regulatory authorities will depend on acceptancééglth care providers and others that such predaret clinically useful, cosffective ani
safe. There can be no assurance given, even ifuaeesd in the development of products incorporating Aversion®Technology an
receive FDA approval for such products, that preslilecorporating the Aversion®@echnology would be accepted by health care pros
and others. Factors that may materially affect mtagcceptance of products incorporating our Aver®idechnology include: (i) the relati
advantages and disadvantages of our Aversida@hnology compared to competitive abuse detetesfinologies; (ii) the relative timing
commercial launch of products utilizing our Avers® Technology compared to products incorporating cditipe abuse deterre
technologies; (iii) the relative timing of the rgateof marketing approvals and the countries inalihsuch approvals are obtained; (iv)
relative safety and efficacy of products incorpmgour Aversion®Technology compared to competitive products; anf/pthe willingnes
of third party payors to reimburse for or otherwiggy for products incorporating our Aversion® Teclugy.

Our product candidates, if successfully developed @ommercially launched, will compete with bothrremtly marketed and ne
products marketed by other companies. Health cereigers may not accept or utilize any of our pradeandidates. Physicians and o
prescribers may not be inclined to prescribe thedpects utilizing our Aversion® Technology unless our products bring clear
demonstrable advantages over other products clyrmexatrketed for the same indications. If our praduizensed to partners do not ach
market acceptance, we may not be able to gendgatificant revenues or become profitable.
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In the Event That We Are Successful in Bringing AnyProducts to Market, Our Revenues May Be Adverselaffected If We Fail to
Obtain Acceptable Prices or Adequate Reimbursemerftor Our Products From Third-Party Payors

Our ability to commercialize pharmaceutical produsticcessfully may depend in part on the avaitgbilf reimbursement for o
products from government and health administragiothorities, private health insurers, and othedtparty payors, including Medicaid a
Medicare. We cannot predict the availability ofrmeursement for newly-approved products incorpogatinor Aversion® Technology. Third-
party payors, including state Medicaid programs Btadlicare, are challenging the prices charged Farmaceutical products. Governn
and other third-party payors increasingly are lingtboth coverage and the level of reimbursementnfanv drugs. Thirgsarty insuranc
coverage may not be available to patients for d&guo products. The continuing efforts of governmand thirdparty payors to contain
reduce the costs of health care may limit our corsrakopportunity. If government and other thjpdrty payors do not provide adeqt
coverage and reimbursement for any product incatpay our Aversion®Technology, health care providers may not presctifeen o
patients may ask to have their health care prosidermrescribe competing products with more favierabimbursement. In some fore
markets, pricing and profitability of pharmaceutipeoducts are subject to government control. i tinited States, we expect that there
continue to be federal and state proposals forlaimbntrols. In addition, we expect that incregsamphasis on managed care in the Ui
States will continue to put pressure on the pri@hgharmaceutical products. Cost control initiaivcould decrease the price that we re:
for any products in the future. Further, cost colninitiatives could impair our ability or the aityl of our partners to commercialize
products and our ability to earn revenues from ¢bhimmercialization.

Our Success Depends on Our Ability to Protect Ourritellectual Property

Our success depends in significant part on ouitald obtain patent protection for our Aversion®echnology, in the United Sta
and in other countries, and to enforce these patdite patent positions of pharmaceutical firms|uding us, are generally uncertain
involve complex legal and factual questions. Thenmo assurance that any of our patent applicafimnsur Aversion®Technology will issu
or, if issued, that such patent(s) will be validl@mforceable against third-party infringementtattsuch patent(s) will not infringe any third-
party patent or intellectual property. Moreoverge\f patents do issue on our Aversion®echnology, the claims allowed may not
sufficiently broad to protect the products incoigiorg the Aversion®Technology. In addition, issued patents may belehgéd, invalidate
or circumvented. Even if issued, our patents may afford us protection against competitors with ilamtechnology or permit tt
commercialization of our products without infringithird-party patents or other intellectual propeithts.

Our success also depends on our not infringingnpgissued to competitors or others. We may becawsre of patents and pat
applications belonging to competitors and otheas$ tlould require us to alter our technologies. Saltdrations could be time consuming
costly. We may not be able to obtain a licensengotachnology owned by or licensed to a third pémt we require to manufacture or ma
one or more products incorporating our Aversiom@hnology. Even if we can obtain a license, thmarfcial and other terms may
disadvantageous.

Our success also depends on our maintaining thédeatiality of our trade secrets and kndww. We seek to protect st
information by entering into confidentiality agreemts with employees, potential collaborative pagnpotential investors and consulta
These agreements may be breached by such partesiay not be able to obtain an adequate, or peraaysremedy to such a breach
addition, our trade secrets may otherwise beconmvinor be independently developed by our compstit@ur inability to protect o
intellectual property or to commercialize our prothuwithout infringing thirdearty patents or other intellectual property rightsuld have
material adverse effect on our operations and firucondition.
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We May Become Involved in Patent Litigation or Othe Intellectual Property Proceedings Relating to Our Products, Aversior®
Technology or Opioid Synthesis Technologies Whichdlild Result in Liability for Damages or Delay or Sbp Our Development ant
Commercialization Efforts

The pharmaceutical industry has been characterimedsignificant litigation and other proceedings amling patents, pate
applications and other intellectual property righthe types of situations in which we may becomeiggto such litigation or proceedir
include: (i) we may initiate litigation or otherqmeedings against third parties to enforce ourmpaights or other intellectual property rigt
(i) we may initiate litigation or other proceedmaggainst third parties to seek to invalidate thiepts held by such third parties or to obt:
judgment that our products or processes do noingdrsuch third parties' patents; (iii) if our caostipors file patent applications that cle
technology also claimed by us, we may participataierference or opposition proceedings to deteentie priority of invention; and (iv)
third parties initiate litigation claiming that oprocesses or products infringe their patent oerihtellectual property rights, we will neec
defend against such proceedings.

The costs of resolving any patent litigation or esthintellectual property proceeding, even if resdivin our favor, could t
substantial. Many of our competitors will be aldestistain the cost of such litigation and procegslimore effectively than we can becaus
their substantially greater resources. Uncertantsulting from the initiation and continuationpattent litigation or other intellectual prope
proceedings could have a material adverse effecuorability to compete in the marketplace. Patiigiation and other intellectual prope
proceedings may also consume significant managetinesit

Our Aversion®Technology may be found to infringe upon claimgpafents owned by others. If we determine or if weefaund tc
be infringing on a patent held by another, we migiwe to seek a license to make, use, and sefidtented technologies. In that case
might not be able to obtain such license on terocggtable to us, or at all. If a legal action isught against us, we could incur substa
defense costs, and any such action might not lwdvessin our favor. If such a dispute is resolvegiast us, we may have to pay the ¢
party large sums of money and our use of our AveiTechnology and the testing, manufacturing, marketinsale of one or more of ¢
products could be restricted or prohibited. Eveiorpto resolution of such a dispute, use of our Bi@® Technology and the testir
manufacturing, marketing or sale of one or morewfproducts could be restricted or prohibited.

Moreover, other parties could have blocking pataiits to products made using the Aversioff@chnology. The Company is aw
of certain United States and International pendgiatent applications owned by third parties claimatyse deterrent technologies. If <
patent applications result in issued patents, widims encompassing our Aversion®echnology or products, the Company may net
obtain a license to such patents, should one hiéahblg or alternatively, alter the Aversion®echnology so as to avoid infringing such third-
party patents. If the Company is unable to obtalitense on commercially reasonable terms, the Gmyould be restricted or prever
from commercializing products utilizing the Avem® Technology. Additionally, any alterations to theeksion® Technology in view ¢
pending third-party patent applications could breeticonsuming and costly and may not result in teldyies or products that are non-
infringing or commercially viable.

The Company expects to seek and obtain licensasidh patents or patent applications when, in thegamy's judgment, su
licenses are needed. If any such licenses arereeljthere can be no assurances that the Compaulg e able to obtain any such licensi
commercially favorable terms, or at all, and ifgbdicenses are not obtained, the Company mightéented from making, using and sel
the Aversion® Technology and products. The Company's failureltimia a license to any technology that it may resywould materiall
harm the Company's business, financial conditiacsh rsults of operations. We cannot assure thaCtirapany's products and/or action
developing products incorporating our Aversiof@chnology will not infringe third-party patents.

We May Be Exposed to Product Liability Claims and May Not Be Able to Obtain Adequate Product Liability Insurance
Our business exposes us to potential product iigbiks, which are inherent in the testing, mamiifiring, marketing and sale
pharmaceutical products. Product liability claimigim be made by consumers, health care providegharmaceutical companies or ott

that sell our products. These claims may be mada @ith respect to those products that are manufeattin licensed and regulated facili
or that otherwise possess regulatory approvaldorrercial sale.
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We are currently covered by clinical timbduct liability insurance on a claimsade basis. This coverage may not be adequ
cover any product liability claims. Product liabjlicoverage is expensive. In the future, we maybeoable to maintain or obtain such proi
liability insurance at a reasonable cost or inisigit amounts to protect us against losses dumhdity claims. Any claims that are r
covered by product liability insurance could havaaterial adverse effect on our business, finargabition and results of operations.

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bgueat litigation. Those companies with significeinancial resources will be bet
able to bring and defend any such litigation. Nsuaance can be given that we would not become wedoin such litigation. Such litigati
may have material adverse consequences to the @gmpmancial conditions and operations.

We Face Significant Competition Which May Result inOthers Developing or Commercializing Products Bef@ or More Successfull
Than We Do

The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitivedais affected by new technologies, governmentglulegions, health ca
legislation, availability of financing, litigatioand other factors. If our product candidates rex&iA approval, they will compete witt
number of existing and future drugs and therape&kbped, manufactured and marketed by otherstiBgisr future competing products n
provide greater therapeutic convenience or clinarabther benefits for a specific indication thamr @roducts, or may offer compara
performance at lower costs. If our products areble#o capture and maintain market share, we willachieve significant product reven
and our financial condition will be materially adsely affected.

We will compete for market share against fully greged pharmaceutical companies or other compaimé<collaborate with larg
pharmaceutical companies, academic institutionsegonent agencies and other public and privateareBeorganizations. Many of the
competitors have products already approved, matkatén development. In addition, many of these petitors, either alone or together v
their collaborative partners, operate larger redeand development programs, have substantiallstgrdinancial resources, experienc
developing products, obtaining FDA and other reguiaapprovals, formulating and manufacturing drugsd commercializing drugs than
do.

Subject to a decision and recommendation by thdrasimative law judge about our application fori@ehse to import narcotic re
materials, we are concentrating substantial abwfefforts on developing product candidates inoapng our Aversion® echnology. Th
commercial success of products using our Aversidré®hnology will depend, in large part, on the isign of competition from oth
companies marketing branded opioid containing prtsjugeneric versions of branded opioid containmmgducts and other drugs ¢
technologies that compete with the products inc@iimg our Aversion®Technology, and the relative timing and sequenceesi produc
approvals. Alternative technologies and produotshaing developed to improve or replace the usmimids for pain management, sever:
which are in clinical trials or are awaiting appab¥rom the FDA. In the event that such alternatit@ opioid containing products are wic
adopted, then the market for products incorporating Aversion® Technology may be substantially decreased subs#yueducing th
Company’s opportunity to generate future revenuespaofits.

The U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration ("DEA") Li mits the Availability of the Active Ingredients Usel in Our Product
Candidates and, as a Result, Our Quota May Not Beufficient to Complete Clinical Trials or to Meet Commercial Demand or May
Result in Development Delays

The DEA regulates certain finished products andk kadtive pharmaceutical ingredients. Certain opia@dive pharmaceutic
ingredients in our current product candidates &esdied by the DEA as Schedule Il substances utgeControlled Substances Act of 1¢
Consequently, their manufacture, research, shipnsésriage, sale and use are subject to a high @egmegulation. Furthermore, the amc
of Schedule Il substances we can obtain for clinidals and commercial distribution is limited lige DEA and our quota may not
sufficient to complete clinical trials or meet comtial demand. There is a risk that DEA regulatioresy interfere with the supply of t
products used in our clinical trials, and, in theufe, our ability to produce and distribute ouodurcts in the volume needed to n
commercial demand.
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We May Not Be Successful in Commercializing Our Omiid Synthesis Technologies

Historically the Company has been engageddearch, development and manufacture of proprietagy, yield, short cycle tim
environmentally sensitive opioid manufacturing @sses (the "Opioid Synthesis Technologies") intdntte use in the commerc
manufacturing of certain bulk opioid active phareaical ingredients ("APIs"). The Company has sudpd further development &
commercialization efforts relating to its Opioidriiyesis Technologies. We have determined basediolintted cash reserves, the additic
funding required for facility improvements for coramgial scale up for our Opioid Synthesis Technaegithe projected timeline -
resolution of our application to the DEA for a natic raw material import registration (the “Impdregistration”),and other factors th
suspending activities relating to the Opioid Systkelechnologies is in our best interest. We expedake-evaluate the development
commercialization of the Opioid Synthesis Techn@egafter the Administrative Law Judge makes ardetetion relating to our Impc
Registration. No assurance can be given that demedat and commercialization efforts relating to @gioid Synthesis Technologies v
resume in the future, or even if such activitiesurae, that the Opioid Synthesis Technologies wiltapable of commercial scale up or wil
commercialized.

We May Not Obtain DEA Approval for Our Import Regis tration

Since early 2001 we have been engaged in the afiplicprocess to obtain an Import Registration fitbe DEA to import narcot
raw materials directly from foreign countries faeuin commercial manufacturing certain bulk opiaRls. No assurance can be given tha
Import Registration application will be approvedthg DEA or that if granted by DEA, the Import R&gation would be upheld following
appellate challenge.

The Market Price of Our Common Stock May Be Volatie

The market price of our common stock, like the meanirice for securities of pharmaceutical, biopheceutical and biotechnolo
companies, has historically been highly volatileeTmarket from time to time experiences signifigante and volume fluctuations that
unrelated to the operating performance of particatampanies. Factors, such as fluctuations in qerating results, future sales of
common stock, announcements of technological inti@vs or new therapeutic products by us or our csfitgrs, announcements regarc
collaborative agreements, clinical trial resultsygrnment regulation, developments in patent oeroginoprietary rights, public concern a:
the safety of drugs developed by us or others, gdmin reimbursement policies, comments made byrisies analysts and general ma
conditions may have a significant effect on the katiprice of our common stock. In the past, follogviperiods of volatility in the mark
price of a company's securities, securities clatisralitigation has often been instituted. A séties class action suit against us could rest
substantial costs, potential liabilities and theedsion of management's attention and resources.

The Company's common stock trades on the OTC HulBbard, a NASD-sponsored intdealer quotation system. As
Company's common stock is not quoted on a stockange and is not qualified for inclusion on the NDASmall-Cap Market, our comm
stock could be subject to a rule by the Securitied Exchange Commission that imposes additionakgadactice requirements on broker-
dealers who sell such securities to persons olfaar éstablished customers and accredited invegtorsransactions covered by this rule,
brokerdealer must make a special suitability determimatio the purchaser and have received the purckasstten consent for a transact
prior to sale. Consequently, the rule may affeetability of brokerdealers to sell the Company's common stock andhhity of purchasel
in the offering to sell the common stock receive@dmu conversion of the Preferred Shares in the skzgmmarket. There is no guarantee
an active trading market for our common stock tllmaintained on the OTC Bulletin Board. Investaes/ be not able to sell their share
common stock quickly or at the latest market pificeading in our common stock is not active.

Our Quarterly Results of Operations Will Fluctuate, and These Fluctuations Could Cause Our Stock Pric® Decline
Our quarterly operating results are likely to flumte in the future. These fluctuations could camsestock price to decline. T

nature of our business involves variable factoughsas the timing of the research, developmentragdlatory pathways of our prod
candidates that could cause our operating resuftadtuate.
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No Dividends

The Company has not declared and paid cash dividendts common stock in the past, and the Complaeg not anticipate payi
any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Tdragany's senior term loan indebtedness prohib#p#yment of cash dividends.

Control of the Company

GCE Holdings LLC beneficially owns approximately¥s8 of the Company's outstanding common stock. In addipursuant to tt
terms of the Amended and Restated Voting Agreemated February 6, 2004, as amended, between th@&gnand the former holders
the Company's outstanding convertible preferredkstall such shareholders have agreed that thedBafaDirectors shall be comprised of
more than 7 members, 4 of whom shall be the desgyjoGCE Holdings LL{the assignee of all Preferred Stock (prior tadsversion int
common stock) formerly held by each of Care Capitaéstments Il, LP, Care Capital Offshore Invesitadl, LP, Essex Woodlands Hez
Ventures V, L.P., Galen Partners International LIP., Galen Partners Ill, L.P. and Galen Emplofead IIl, L.P.),As a result, GC
Holdings LLC, in view of its ownership percentagetiee Company and by virtue of its controlling gasi on the Company's Board
Directors, will be able to control or significanilyfluence all matters requiring approval by ouargholders, including the approval of mer:
or other business combination transactions. Therésts of GCE Holdings LLC may not always coincigith the interests of oth
shareholders and such entity may take action iameck of its interests to the detriment of our ostereholders.

Key Personnel Are Critical to Our Business, and OuiFuture Success Depends on Our Ability to Retain Tém

We are highly dependent on the principal membersobumanagement and scientific team, particulartydfew D. Reddick, ol
President and Chief Executive Officer, and Ronpivey, Ph.D. our Senior Vice President and Chigé&dic Officer. We may not be able
attract and retain personnel on acceptable terrenghe intense competition for such personnel gmmatechnology, pharmaceutical :
healthcare companies, universities and pafit research institutions. While we have empleymagreements with certain employees, ¢
our employees are atill employees who may terminate their employmeithwthe Company at any time. We do not have kepqmane
insurance on any of our officers or employees. [blss of any of our key personnel, or the inabitdyattract and retain such personnel,
significantly delay or prevent the achievement af product and technology development and busioégsctives and could materia
adversely affect our business, financial condiiod results of such operations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company leases from an unaffiliated Lessorrapmately 1,600 square feet of administrative edfispace at 616 N. No
Court, Suite 120, Palatine, lllinois 60067. Theskeagreement has a term expiring February 28, 2@7an option for a ongear extensiol
The lease agreement provides for annual rent, pofexes, common area maintenance and janitogiaices for approximately $29,200
year. This leased office space is utilized for@mnpany's administrative marketing and businessldpment functions

The Company conducts research, development, laygrananufacturing and warehousing activities fetato the Aversion®
Technology at its facility located at 16235 Statgea® 17, Culver, Indiana (the “Culver Facility’At this location the Company's Acl
Pharmaceutical Technologies, Inc. subsidiary own28,000 square footfacility with (approximately) 7,000 square feet whrehous¢
10,000 square feet of manufacturing space, 6,00@rsqgfeet of research and development labs and S@0are feet of administrative
storage space. The facility is located on approteige80 acres of land. The Culver Facility is subj a mortgage lien granted in favor of
holders of the Company’s 2004 Note. See “ltem 7ndfgement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financialdtion and Results of Operations -
Liquidity and Capital Resources - Amendment to WatSerm Loan Agreement.”
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In May 2001, the Company was named as a defendaart action entitled Alfred Kohn v. Halsey Drug @othe Supreme Court
New York, Bronx County. The plaintiff sought, amoather things, damages of $1.0 million for breatlamw alleged oral contract to pa
finder's fee for a business transaction involving €Company. The Company's and the Plaistiffiotion for summary judgment were due t
heard by the Court in August 2003. Plaintiff Kohecdased shortly prior to such hearing date, anchtiteons for summary judgment and .
trial of this matter were stayed pending the stiltsbin of Mr. Kohn's estate as the plaintiff. Inkeeary, 2005, with the substitution of Kokn’
estate as Plaintiff, the Court ruled in favor af thompany under its motion for summary judgmentldimg so, the Court dismissed all asp
of Plaintiff’'s complaint, with the exception of Rff’ s claim for payment of the fair value for the seed alleged to have been performe
Plaintiff. In March 2005, the Company and the Essiaft Mr. Kohn agreed to settle this matter, purstarwhich the Company would mak
one-time payment of $35,000. Following receiptta# fipproval of the Bronx, New York Surrogat€ourt obtained in November 2005,
Company and the Estate of Mr. Kohn executed thimitigé settlement agreement and in December 2B885ompany remitted to the Es
of Mr. Kohn $35,000 in full settlement and dismisskthis matter.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
No matters were submitted to a vote of securitgéid during the fourth quarter of 2005.
PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND R ELATED SECURITY HOLDER MATTERS
Market and Market Prices of Common Stock
Set forth below for the periods indicated are tigh land low bid prices for the Company's Commortksfor trading in the Commc

Stock on the OTC Bulletin Board as reported by@ieC Bulletin Board. Such over-the-counter markeattgtions reflect intedealer price:
without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission andy not necessarily represent actual transactions.

BID PRICE

’PERIOD HIGH LOW

2004 Fiscal Year
First Quarter 0.82 0.41
Second Quarter 0.62 0.37
Third Quarter 0.53 0.31
Fourth Quarter 0.64 0.32

2005 Fiscal Year
First Quarter 0.70 0.33
Second Quarter 0.81 0.41
Third Quarter 0.73 0.40
Fourth Quarter 1.36 0.27

2006 Fiscal Year
First Quarter (through February 1, 2006) 0.50 0.25

Holders

There were approximately689 holders of record of the Company's common stockebruary 1, 2006. This number, however,
not reflect the ultimate number of beneficial hetlef the Company's Common Stock.
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Dividend Policy

The payment of cash dividends from current earniagsubject to the discretion of the Board of Dioes and is dependent uf
many factors, including the Company's earningsgagsital needs and its general financial condititime terms of the Term Loan Agreen
assigned by Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. to CapitaCdnvestments Il, LP, Essex Woodlands Healtmtdees V, L.P., Galen Partners
L.P. and certain other investors in the 2004 Dalrestas well as the Bridge Loan Agreements betwreeCompany and the bridge lende
party thereto (see “ltem 7. Management's Discussioth Analysis of Financial Condition and ResultOgferations Liquidity and Capite
Resources - Bridge Loan Financings”, and “ltem@&tain Relationships and Related Transactiops3hibit the Company from paying c:
dividends. The Company does not intend to pay ash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

During the quarter ended December 31, 2005, thepgaagissued 330,711 shares of the Compa@pmmon Stock in satisfaction
the payment of $144,521 in accrued interest duee®éer 31, 2005 under the Compangeénior secured term note. Each of the recipif
such Common Stock is an Accredited Investor asddfin Rule 501(a) of Regulation D promulgated uride Securities Act. Such Comn
Stock was issued without registration under theuBges Act in reliance upon Section 4(2) of thec@déies Act and Regulation
promulgated thereunder.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Cpensation Plans

Reference is made to “Item 11 - Executive CompémsatRestricted Stock Unit Award Plan; and Securitieshiized for Issuant
Under Equity Compensation Plans”.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data presewnrelelow for the years ended December 31, 200%4,20@03, 2002 and 2001 .
derived from the Company's audited Consolidate@uftial Statements. The Consolidated Financial Siat¢s as of December 31, 2005
2004, and for each of the years in the thyear period ended December 31, 2005, and the seffwteon, are included elsewhere herein
selected financial information as of and for tharngeended December 31, 2002 and 2001 are derivedtfre audited Consolidated Finan
Statements of the Company not presented herein.

The information set forth below is qualified by eefnce to, and should be read in conjunction wifih, Consolidated Financ

Statements and related notes thereto included ktsewin this Report and "ltem 7. Management's Bisicin and Analysis of Financ
Condition and Results of Operations."
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YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

OPERATING DATA:
Net revenue $ - $ 83¢ $ 5750 $ 8,20t $ 16,92¢
Operating Costs
Cost of manufacturing - 1,43¢ 11,70¢ 12,53¢ 14,857

Research and development 6,26¢ 4,13( 1,46( 1,517 1,327

Selling, general and Administrative expenses 5,29¢ 5,23¢ 7,90z 7,21¢€ 6,61¢

Plant shutdown costs - - 1,92¢ (12€) 68
Interest expense 63€ 2,962 6,001 4,72¢ 3,91%
Interest income (36) (59 (25) (15) (69)
Amortization of debt discount and deferred privattering

costs - 72,49: 24,77 12,55¢ 2,591
Loss (gain) on extinguishments of debt - (12,407 - 28,41t -
Investment in joint venture - - - - (202)
Other (income) expense (86) (2,962 464 96€ (13
Loss before income tax benefit (12,07%) (69,99¢) (48,455 (59,589 (12,567
Income tax benefit - - - - -
Net loss $ (12,079%  (69,990%  (48,459%  (59,589% (12,56
Basic and diluted loss per common share $ (19 $ (3.20 % (2.29 $ (3.90 $ (.84)
Weighted average number of outstanding shares 66,57 21,86! 21,22; 15,26: 15,02
DECEMBER 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(IN THOUSANDS)

BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Working capital (deficiency) $ (2,479 $ 2,42 $ (3,770 $ 593: $ (8,27¢)
Total assets 1,792 4,967 6,622 19,36¢ 11,06¢
Total debt 7,618 5,09: 53,14: 25,39¢ 67,32:
Total liabilities 7,95¢ 6,052 58,68¢ 31,63: 76,50¢
Accumulated deficit (291,616 (279,54)) (209,54¢) (161,09() (101,50
Stockholders' equity (deficit) $ (6,162 $ (1,085 $ (52,067 $ (12,269 $ (65,43¢)

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This discussion and analysis should be read inucmtipn with the Compang’financial statements and accompanying notesdec
elsewhere in this Report. Operating results areneoessarily indicative of results that may oceuthie future periods. Certain statemen
this Report under this Item 7, Iltem 1, "Busine#® 1A, “Risk Factors,Item 3, "Legal Proceedings" and elsewhere in tlpdRt constitut
"forward-looking statements" within the meaningtleé Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 59@he "Reform Act"). Such forward-
looking statements involve known and unknown rigksgertainties and other factors which may causeatttual results, performance
achievements of the Company, or industry resutbetmaterially different from any future resufisyfformance, or achievements express:
implied by such forward-looking statements. The treignificant of such factors include, but are fiotited to, the Company’ ability tc
secure additional financing to fund continued priddevelopment and operations, the Compsingbility to enter into contractt
arrangements with qualified pharmaceutical parttefcense, develop and commercialize the Compatechnology and product candida
and the Company'’s ability to fulfill the U.S. Foatid Drug Administration’s requirements for appravihe Company product candidat
for commercial distribution in the United Statesh€ important factors that may also affect futtesults include, but are not limited to:
Companys ability to attract and retain highly skilled pemsel; its ability to secure and protect its patetiademarks and proprietary rigl
its ability to avoid infringement of patents, trag&rks and other proprietary rights or trade seavétthird parties; litigation or regulatc
action that could require the Company to pay sigaift damages or change the way it conducts itséss, the Compang’ability to compet
successfully against current and future competittssdependence on thighrty suppliers of raw materials; its ability taceee U.S. Dru
Enforcement Administration quotas and source cdietfosubstances that constitute the active ingragief the Companyg’ products i



development; difficulties or delays in clinicalais for Company products or in the manufacture aih@any products; and other ri
and uncertainties detailed in this Report. The Camypis at development stage and may not ever hayepeducts or technologies t
generate revenue. When used in this Report, thdsvestimate,” "project,” "anticipate," "expectifitend,” "believe," and similar expressi
are intended to identify forward-looking statements
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Company Overview

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inis a specialty pharmaceutical company primarilysgyegl in research, development and manufactt
innovative abuse deterrent, abuse resistant angetamesistant formulations (* Aversion®@echnology") intended for use in ore
administered opioid-containing pharmaceutical patsluThe Company’s lead product candidate utiliziagAversion®Technology, OxyADI
™ tablets, (formerly referred to by the Company asdBct Candidate #2) is being developed pursuaahtactive investigational new di
application (“IND") on file with the U.S. Food arigrug Administration (“FDA”"). The FDA has confirmatiat OxyADF™ is an appropria
product candidate for submission as a 505(b)(2) dewg application (“NDA”).The Company utilizes several contract researchnizgton:
and an academic institution for laboratory andictihevaluation and testing of product candidatesiporating the Aversion@echnology
The status of the development of the Aversiofi®chnology and the OxyADF™ tablets are describddteim 1, “Businesstinder the captic
“Aversion® Technology”.In addition, to a much lesser extent, during 208d aarly 2005, the Company was engaged in the nesg
development and manufacture of proprietary, higid, short cycle time, environmentally sensitmgioid synthesis processes (the "Op
Synthesis Technologies") intended for use in tharoercial production of certain bulk opioid activieaomaceutical ingredients (“APIs"n
early 2005, the Company suspended development@ndhercialization efforts relating to the Opioid 8yesis Technologies. The statu:
the Opioid Synthesis Technologies is describedeim|l, “Business” under the caption “Opioid Syntbd®chnologies”As of the date of th
Report the Company had three US non-provisional taredinternational patent applications pendingtietato its Aversion®Technology
Additionally, as of the date of this Report, then@pmany had six US patents issued and three US papgtications pending related to
Opioid Synthesis TechnologieAs of the date of this Report, the Company retaiodership of all issued patents, patent applicatiothe
intellectual property and commercial rights togteduct candidates, Aversion Technology and Op&yidthesis Technologies.

The Company conducts research, development, lasgrabanufacturing and warehousing activities ferAversion®Technology ¢
its Culver, Indiana facility (the "Culver Facility"The Culver Facility is registered by the U.SuBEnforcement Administration (the "DE/
to perform research, development and manufactureddain Schedule Il V controlled substances in bulk and finished dosagems. Ir
2001, the Company filed with the DEA an applicatfonregistration (the “Import Registrationty import narcotic raw materials ("NRMs
The status of the application for the Import Ragtébn is described in Item 1, “Business” under¢hption "Import Registration."

To generate revenue, the Company expects to aerttedevelopment and commercialization agreements strategically focuse
pharmaceutical company partners (the "Partnergi)iging that such Partners license the Compapydduct candidates utilizing the Avers
® Technology and further develop, register and corsiakize multiple formulations and strengths of sycbduct candidates. The Comp
expects to receive milestone payments and a sligm®fits and/or royalty payments derived from tartners' sale of products incorpora
the Aversion®Technology. As of the date of this Report the Comypdid not have executed collaborative agreemeitts Rartners, nor c:
there be any assurance that the Company will seftdsenter into such collaborative agreementhafuture.

The Companyg business involves inherent risk as set forthdmI1A of this Report. These risks include, amotigers, the need f
FDA approval prior to commercial distribution ofetiCompanys product candidates in the United States, acceptay healthcare provide
and third-party payers of such product candidatependence on key personnel, determination of {zdi#ity of our Aversion®Technolog'
by the United States Patent and Trademark Officé,feeedom to operate for the Company’s productliciates.
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The Company has incurred net losses since 1992hen@ompany's consolidated financial statementsémh of the years enc
December 31, 2005 and 2004 have been preparedgoimgconcern basis; however, in its report dated Felraar?006 regarding tho
financial statements, our registered independebligpaccounting firm referred to substantial doabbut the Company's ability to continue
a goingeoncern as a result of recurring losses, net dagétiiciency and negative cash flows. The Compafutlsre profitability will depen
on several factors, including : (a) the Companybdity to secure additional financing to fund conted operations; (bthe successf
completion of the formulation development, clini¢asting and acceptable regulatory review of prodandidates utilizing the Aversi@n
Technology; (c) the receipt of issued patents fthm U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (“PT@J) the material claims in the Compar
patent applications relating to the Aversion®&echnology; (d) the Company's ability to negotiated execute appropriate licens
development and commercialization agreements witarésted third parties relating to the Compangioduct candidates; and (e)
successful commercialization by licensees of prtslilecorporating the Aversion®echnology without infringing the patents and o
intellectual property rights of third parties.

Company'’s Present Financial Condition and Commertkocus

At December 31, 2005, the Company had cash and eqsivalents of approximately $260,000 compareagproximately $3.
million at December 31, 2004. The Company had akimgrcapital deficit of $2.5 million at December,3005 and working capital
approximately $2.4 million at December 31, 2004e Tompany had an accumulated deficit of approxim#®291.6 and $279.5 million
December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, resplctiiee Company incurred a loss from operationapgroximately $11.@nillion and ¢
net loss of approximately $12nillion during the year ended December 31, 2005 amspared to a loss from operations of $10.0 nmilmc
a net loss of $70.0 million for the year ended Delver 31, 2004 .

The Company is focused on (a) the development amadli&tion, in concert with contract research orgations (“CROs”),in
laboratory settings and clinical trials, of prodweindidates utilizing the Company's Aversioi®chnology; (b) the manufacture, que
assurance testing and release, and stability stusfieclinical trial supplies and NDA submission dias of certain finished dosage fi
product candidates utilizing the Company’s Aver&ohechnology; (c) the prosecution of the Compangatent applications relating to
Aversion® Technologyith the PTO and foreign equivalents; (d) the nigiain and execution of license and developmentéaments wit
strategic pharmaceutical company partners providived such licensees will further develop certdimished dosage product candidi
utilizing the Aversion®Technology, file for regulatory approval with thé&#& and other regulatory authorities and commerzéalsucl
products; and (e) the prosecution of the Compaapfsication to the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administia (“DEA”) for registration t
import narcotic raw materials (“NRMs”).

Prior to 2005, in addition to its Aversion®echnology research and development activities,Gbmpany manufactured and ¢
generic finished dosage pharmaceutical products.émpany discontinued the manufacture and sadeaf products in the first quartel
2004.

As of February 1, 2006, the Company had cash asid equivalents of approximately $647,00the Company estimates its curl
cash reserves will be sufficient to fund the depaient of the Aversion® Technology and related ojiregeexpenses only through mid-tate
March, 2006.See “Liquidity and Capital Resources - ComimaéFocus, Cash Reserves and Funding Requirements.”

Results of Operations for the Year Ended Decembgr 3005 and 200

In comparing results of operations for the yeareghBecember 31, 2005 with those for 2004 it is irtgp@ to consider that in 20(
the Company, focused all of its efforts and resesiron research and development activities and,equkst to March, 2004, no lon
maintained any generic product manufacturing fiedlior conducted any finished dosage generic mtoshanufacturing activities. As su
the Company had no product revenues or manufagtesipenses in 2005.
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Research and development expenses fgetireended December 31, 2005 and 2004 were asvfo(ia thousands):

12/31/05-12/31/04 12/31/05-12/31/04
12/31/05 12/31/04 R&D EXPENSES R&D EXPENSES
R&D EXPENSES R&D EXPENSES $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$ 6,265 $ 4,130 $ 2,135 52%

During 2005 and 2004, research and developmentneggeconsisted primarily of development of our Ai@® Technology
including costs of preclinical, clinical trials,imical supplies and related formulation and desigsts, salaries and other personnel re
expenses, and facility costs. The increase in R&Peases in 2005 versus 2004 is primarily due ta¢leerding of a non cash compense
charge of $3,325 arising from the issuance of stitions and restricted stock units to R&D persdmsecompared to $553 for such item
2004. Except for this non cash compensation ch&8& expenses declined in 2005 versus 2004 by ampedely $637 primarily as a res
of elimination in 2004 of the development of gengrharmaceutical products and the suspension ib @bfurther development of the Opi
Synthesis Technologies.

Selling, marketing, general and administrative eges for theyear ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 were aswviol{m
thousands):

12/31/05 12/31/04 12/31/05-12/31/04 12/31/05-12/31/04
SELLING, SELLING, SELLING, MARKETING, G&A SELLING, MARKETING, G&A
MARKETING, MARKETING, EXPENSES EXPENSES
G&A EXPENSES G&A EXPENSES $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$5,296 $5,238 $58 1%

Included in 2005 selling, marketing, general anthiaistrative expenses is a non cash compensatiargetof $3,133 arising frc
the issuance of stock options and restricted stmits to SG&A personnel as compared to only $1 #53uch items in 2004. Except for t
charge, SG&A expenses in 2005 decreased approxin&le622 as compared to 2004 due primarily toGoenpanys 2004 discontinuatic
of the manufacture and sale of generic pharma@tioducts and the related reduction of its adstiative and manufacturing support staff.

Environmental compliance expensdsr the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, agefalows (in thousands):

12/31/05 12/31/04
ENVIRONMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL 12/31/05-12/31/04 12/31/05-12/31/04
COMPLIANCE COMPLIANCE ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE ~ ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE
EXPENSES EXPENSES EXPENSES CHANGE EXPENSES CHANGE
$61 $ 180 ($119) (66%)

The environmental compliance expenses, which aleded as part of R&D expense in the financialestants, related primarily
disposal of hazardous and controlled substanceteveas related personnel costs for environmentaiptiance incurred while performii
research and development activities at the Comgadylver, Indiana facility. The decrease in 20@Brfrthe prior year resulted primarily fre
the elimination of APl manufacturing operationgledt site in 2004.
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Interest expense, net of interest income for tlae gaded December 31, 2005 2004 was as followsdusands):

12/31/05-12/31/04 12/31/05-12/31/04
12/31/05 12/31/04 INTEREST EXPENSE, INTEREST EXPENSE,
INTEREST EXPENSE, INTEREST EXPENSE, NET OF INTEREST INCOME  NET OF INTEREST INCOME
NET OF INTEREST INCOME NET OF INTEREST INCOME $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$ 600 $2,903 ($2,303) (79%)

The change in the interest expense, net of intémestne reflects the interest savings from thervestring of the Company's te
note indebtedness to Watson Pharmaceuticals,rieebruary, 2004 as well as the conversion of the@anys 5% convertible debentu
into convertible preferred stock on August 13, 2004

The Company incurred no amortization of debt distau deferred private debt offering costs for yiear ended December 31, 2
as all such costs were fully amortized to expens2004 when all convertible debentures were coederito preferred stock. Similarly, 1
extinguishment of approximately $16.4 million oétWatson debt, which gave rise in 2004 to a gail@{401, was completed in 2004.

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2005 @64 @as as follows (in thousands):

12/31/05-12/31/04 12/31/05-12/31/04
12/31/05 12/31/04 NET LOSS NET LOSS
NET LOSS NET LOSS $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$ 12,075 $ 69,996 ($ 57,921) (83%)

Included in the net loss for 2005 is a non cashpemation charge of $6,458 arising from the isseiafistock options and restric
stock units as compared to $2,006 for such chamge®04. Certain significant expenses occurred @@42as a result of restructur
operations and conversion of debt to preferredeshafhese expenses included the full amortizatiothe remaining debt discount
deferred private offering costs of $72,491, gainsdebt restructuring of the Watson note of $12,40d asset sales of $2,359, net intt
expense of $2,903 and other income of $603 relatirsgttiements of a liabilities at discount.

The Companyg loss per share in 2005 versus 2004 ($0.18 v&329, respectively) was favorably impacted by ¢beversion o
November 10, 2005 of approximately 218.0 millioeferred shares into approximately 305.8 million awon shares. On a weighted avel
basis, this increased the number of common shar®iloss per share calculation to approximatél énillion shares in 2005 as compe
to 21.9 million shares in 2004. For periods priorNovember 10, 2005 the Company’s convertible preteshares were arditutive anc
therefore excluded from the loss per share caicuat

Results of Operations for the Year Ended Decembgr 3004 and 200

In comparing results of operations for the yeareghBecember 31, 2004 with those for 2003 it is irtgpd to understand that in 2(
the Company focused the majority of its efforts amsburces on Aversion®echnology research and development activities amidsequel
to March, 2004, no longer maintained any generadpct manufacturing facilities or conducted any ofaoturing activities. Net prodt
revenues and manufacturing expenses realized id 2@0de incurred as part of an orderly phase owllo§eneric product manufacturi
activities.
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Net product revenues for the year ended Decemhe2(®Y and 2003 were as follows (in thousands):

12/31/04-12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03
NET PRODUCT NET PRODUCT
12/31/04 12/31/03 REVENUE REVENUE
NET PRODUCT REVENUES NET PRODUCT REVENUES $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$838 $5,750 ($4,912) (85%)

The decrease in net product revenues was a réglitamntinuing the manufacture and sale of fintkddesage generic pharmaceult
products. The net product revenues for the yeaeemkecember 31, 2004 reflect the sale of all remgimventories of saleable finisk
dosage generic pharmaceutical products duringitsietivo quarters of 2004. No product sales revenwere recorded for the third or fou
quarter of 2004.

Cost of manufacturing for the year ended DecembePB04 and 2003 were as follows (in thousands):

12/31/04-12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03
12/31/04 12/31/03 COST OF MANUFACTURING COST OF MANUFACTURING
COST OF MANUFACTURING COST OF MANUFACTURING $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$1,435 $11,705 ($10,270) (88%)

For the year ended December 31, 2004, cost of rmatwrfing includes the fixed costs of the Compaggseric finished dosa
manufacturing operations in the first quarter 002Gand residual expenses through the second qu#Ert2004. The Company’ generi
finished dosage manufacturing operations ceaskthneh 2004.

Research and development expenses for the yead &wtreember 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows (inghnds):

12/31/04-12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03
12/31/04 12/31/03 R&D EXPENSES R&D EXPENSES
R&D EXPENSES R&D EXPENSES $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$4,130 $1,460 $2,670 183%

In 2003, research and development expense congisiedrily of generic product development costsriby 2004, research a
development expense consists primarily of reseamcti development associated with our Aversiom@chnology, including costs
preclinical, clinical trials, clinical supplies amelated formulation and design costs, salariesathdr personnel related expenses, and fa
costs. The increase in R&D expenses is primaribted to the Compang’strategic decision to devote a major portiortofésources in 201
to research and development activities relatingst@\version® Technology and to a lesser extent to its Opioidtisssis Technologies. T
2004 expenses include a non cash compensationecb&®b53 recorded for the issuance of stock optamd $1,093 of personnel costs
employees which were reassigned to research aredogewent.

Selling, marketing, general and administrative eges for theyear ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 were aswvil{m
thousands):

12/31/04-12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03
12/31/04 12/31/03 SELLING, MARKETING, SELLING, MARKETING,
SELLING, MARKETING, SELLING, MARKETING, G&A EXPENSES G&A EXPENSES
G&A EXPENSES G&A EXPENSES $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$5,238 $7,903 ($2,665) (34%)
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The decrease in selling, marketing, general ahainistrative expenses resulted from discontigpulre marketing and sale
generic products and reducing iitdated administrative and manufacturing suppaff.sThe decrease includes $1,093 of personnekdot
employees which were reassigned to research arelagenent in connection with the Compasigtrategic decision to devote a major pol
of its resources in 2004 to research and developawivities, a nonrecurring benefit for settlemehtrade payables at a discount of $194
a non cash compensation charge of $1,453 recoadetd issuance of stock options.

Environmental compliance expenses ftite year ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, wdod@ss (in thousands):

12/31/04-12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03
12/31/04 12/31/03 ENVIRONMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL
ENVIRONMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE EXPENSES ~ COMPLIANCE EXPENSES
COMPLIANCE EXPENSES ~ COMPLIANCE EXPENSES $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$ 180 $ 227 ($47) (21%)

Environmental compliance expenses related priméwilgisposal of hazardous and controlled substawesse and related persor
costs for environmental compliance.

Interest expense, net of interest income for tlee gaded December 31, 2004 and 2003 was as fo{lavilsousands):

12/31/04-12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03
12/31/04 12/31/03 INTEREST EXPENSE, NET OF INTEREST EXPENSE, NET OF
INTEREST EXPENSE, NET OF INTEREST EXPENSE, NET OF INTEREST INCOME INTEREST INCOME
INTEREST INCOME INTEREST INCOME $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$2,903 $5,976 ($3,073) (51%)

The change in the interest expense, net of intémestne reflects the interest savings from thervestring of the Company's te
note indebtedness to Watson Pharmaceuticals, inEebruary, 2004 and the conversion of the Com@aiy convertible debentures i
convertible preferred stock on August 13, 2004.

Debt discount and deferred private debt offeringtedor the year ended December 31, 2004 and 2@88 as follows (in thousand

12/31/04-12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03
12/31/04 12/31/03 DEBT DISCOUNT AND DEBT DISCOUNT AND
DEBT DISCOUNT AND DEBT DISCOUNT AND DEFERRED PRIVATE DEBT DEFFERED PRIVATE DEBT
DEFERRED PRIVATE DEBT DEFERRED PRIVATE DEBT OFFERING COSTS OFFERING COSTS
OFFERING COSTS OFFERING COSTS $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$72,491, consisting of
$1,030 private debt offering costs $24,771, consisting of $1,099
and private debt offering costs and
$71,461 debt discount $23,672 debt discount $ 47,720 193%
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The change in the debt discount and deferragter debt offering costs reflects the amortizatidrihe remaining deferred d
discount and private debt offering costs incurnexif all of the Companyg’ debenture and bridge loan financings consumnfabed Marct
1998 through May, 2004. As a result of the conwersif all convertible debentures into preferredcktat August 13, 2004, all remain
unamortized debt discount and deferred private diébting cost balances were written off to expense

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2004 668 @as as follows (in thousands):

12/31/04-12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03
12/31/04 12/31/03 NET LOSS NET LOSS
NET LOSS NET LOSS $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$ 69,996 $ 48,455 $21,541 44%

Included in the net loss for the year ended Decerlhe 2004 is the full amortization of the remamidebt discount and defer
private offering costs of $72,491, gains on debtreeturing of the Watson note of $12,401 and asales of $2,359, net interest expens
$2,903 and other income of $603 relating to settlets of a liabilities at discount.

Liquidity and Capital Resource

At December 31, 2005, the Company had cash anderpshalents of $260,000 compared to $3.1 millibPecember 31, 2004. T
Company had a working capital deficit of $2.5 moifliat December 31, 2005 compared to working capft&§i2.4 million at December :
2004.

2004 Debenture Offering

On February 10, 2004, the Company consummated \aterioffering of convertible senior secured debegtu(the "200
Debentures") in the aggregate principal amountppiraximately $12.3 million (the "2004 Debenture @iig"). The 2004 Debentures w
issued by the Company pursuant to a certain Delbertnd Share Purchase Agreement dated as of Fel§p2004 (the "2004 Purche
Agreement”) by and among the Company, Care Capitastments, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures, GRltners and each of
purchasers listed on the signature page theretoAmih 14, 2004 and May 26, 2004, the Company catgad additional closings under
2004 Purchase Agreement raising the aggregate grosseds received by the Company from the offeahthe 2004 Debentures to §
million. The 2004 Debentures carried an interett f 1.62% per annum and were secured by a lieallomssets of the Company and
assets of Acura Pharmaceutical Technologies, it Axiom Pharmaceutical Corporation, each a whollyred subsidiary of the Company.

Pursuant to the terms of the 2004 Purchase Agreermreh other documents executed in connection viieh 2004 Debenture
effective August 13, 2004, each of the holderdhef€Company’s 2004 Debentures converted the 20041etes into the Comparg/Series ;
preferred shares (the “Series A Preferred”). Initbatd effective August 13, 2004, each of the hoddef the Compang’ 5% convertible seni
secured debentures issued during the period 19@Righ and including 2003 converted such debentimes the Companyg Series |
Preferred Stock (the “Series B Preferred”) andfmies C-1, C-2 and/or C-3 preferred stock (collei, the “Series C Preferred”Jhe Serie
C Preferred shares together with the Series B Peefeshares are herein referred to as the “JumigfeRed Shares”)Jpon conversion of tt
Companys outstanding debentures, the Company issued appatety 21.9 million Series A Preferred shares,rapimately 20.2 milliol
Series B Preferred shares, approximately 56.4anilBeries C-1 Preferred shares, approximately Bilibn Series C2 Preferred shares ¢
approximately 81.9 million Series C-3 Preferredreha

Conversion of Preferred Shares into Common Stock

Effective November 10, 2005, all of the Compasyissued and outstanding shares of preferred stark automatically ar
mandatorily converted into the Company’s commorclstin accordance with the terms of the CompaniRestated Certification
Incorporation (the “Preferred Stock Conversionlf). accordance with the conversion provisions comtdiin the Restated Certificate
Incorporation, all issued and outstanding sharesi@fCompany’s Series A Preferred Stock, SeriesdBeRed Stock, Series CPreferre
Stock, Series C-2 Preferred Stock and Series GeffPed Stock (collectively, the “Preferred Stockfe converted automatically into
Company’s common stock upon the Compamgceipt of the written consent to the PreferremtiSConversion from the holders of at I¢
51% of the shares of the CompasBeries A Preferred Stock. On November 10, 20, Gompany received the consent to the Pref
Stock Conversion from GCE Holdings LLGthe assignee of all Preferred Stock (prior tacd@aversion into common stock) formerly helc
each of Care Capital Investments Il, LP, Care @agiffshore Investments Il, LP, Essex Woodlandsltiedentures V, L.P., Galen Partn
International Ill, L.P., Galen Partners lll, L.-hcaGalen Employee Fund lll, L.P.), such entity ldgdin the aggregate in excess of 51% o
issued and outstanding shares of the Company’ssSArPreferred Stock. In accordance with the tesfitke Companys Restated Certifice



of Incorporation, all shares of the CompaniPreferred Stock were automatically converted am@aggregate of approximately 3(
million shares of the Company’s common stock.
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Amendment to Watson Term Loan Agreer

The Company was a party to a certain loan agreemigémiWatson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Watson") parguo which Watson ma
term loans to the Company (the "Watson Term Loare@gent”) in the aggregate principal amount of $2illion as evidenced by tv
promissory notes (the "Watson Notes"). It was ad@@n to the completion of the 2004 Debenture ©iffg that simultaneous with the clos
of the 2004 Purchase Agreement, the Company shedl paid Watson the sum of approximately $4.3 amlliwhich amount was funded fr
the proceeds of the 2004 Debenture Offering) amyeged to Watson certain Company assets in cormdiderfor Watson's forgiveness
approximately $16.4 million of indebtedness under Watson Notes. A part of such transaction, thés@aNotes were amended to ext
the maturity date of such notes from March 31, 2@08une 30, 2007, to provide for satisfactionuifife interest payments under the Wa
Notes in the form of the Company's Common Stockethuce the principal amount of the Watson Notemf$21.4 million to $5.0 millio
and to provide for the forbearance from the exeroisrights and remedies upon the occurrence ddiceevents of default under the Wat
Notes (the Watson Notes as so amended, the "200&")N&imultaneous with the issuance of the 2004eNeach of Care Capital, Es
Woodlands Health Ventures, Galen Partners andttier mvestors in the 2004 Debentures as of Feprl@r 2004 (collectively, the "Wats
Note Purchasers") purchased the 2004 Note fromdiatsconsideration for a payment to Watson of $iillion.

In addition to Watson's forgiveness of approximat®l6.4 million under the Watson Notes, as add#ioronsideration for tt
Company's payment to Watson of approximately $4lBom and the Company's conveyance of certain Camypassets, all supply agreem:
between the Company and Watson were terminated\atdon waived the dilution protections containedhie Common Stock purch
warrant dated December 20, 2002 exercisable farappately 10.7 million shares of the Company's Gumn Stock previously issued by
Company to Watson, to the extent such dilutionquiidns were triggered by the transactions providetle 2004 Debenture Offering.

Terms of the 2004 Note

The 2004 Note in the principal amount of $5.0 maillias purchased by the Watson Note Purchaserstgeseby a lien on all of tl
Company's and its subsidiaries' assets, carriésatiny rate of interest equal to the prime ratespt.5% (paid quarterly in the Compasy’
common stock) and matures on June 30, 2007.

Bridge Loan Financing
January 2006 Bridge Loan

The Company is a party to a Loan Agreement, datedalry 31, 2006 (the “January 2006 Bridge Loan Agrent”)by and amon
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., Care @hlpivestments I, LP , Care Capital Offshore Irtments Il, LP, Galen Partners llI, L.
Galen Partners International 1ll, L.P., Galen Engpko Fund Ill, L.P. and such Additional Lenders as/thecome a party pursuant to the te
of the January 2006 Bridge Loan Agreement (coNetyi the “January 2006 Bridge Lenderdi).accordance with the terms of the Jan
2006 Bridge Loan Agreement, on January 31, 200@dmeiary 2006 Bridge Lenders provided a bridge toathe Company in the princiy
amount of $750,000. The January 2006 Bridge Loaredment also permits the funding of additional oanthe principal amount of up
$250,000 and, with the consent of any two of Caapit@l Investments, Essex Woodlands Health VentanesGalen Partners, additional |
amounts mutually agreed to by the Company and dhealy 2006 Bridge Lenders (the “January 2006 Eridgan”).No assurance can
given that any additional loans will be made avdéao the Company under the January 2006 Bridga1lA&greement. The net proceeds f
the January 2006 Bridge Loan, after the satisfactibrelated expenses, will be used by the Compgangontinue the development of
Aversion® Technology and to fund operating expenség January 2006 Bridge Loan is secured by adiell of the Compang’ asset
senior in right of payment and lien priority to ather indebtedness of the Company. The Januargy B@iige Loan bears interest at the ra
ten percent (10%) per annum and matures on Ju280B. The January 2006 Bridge Loan is subject todatry prepayment by th
Company upon the Compasytompletion of equity or debt financing or anyesatansfer, license or similar arrangement purst@whict
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries sells, kemnor otherwise grant rights in any material partf the Company'intellectual property
any third party, provided that the consummatioamy such transaction results in cash proceedst@€tmpany, net of all costs and exper
at least equal to the sum of (i) $5.05 million,9lii) the aggregate principal amount of the Jayn@®06 Bridge Loan (a “Funding Evet”
The January 2006 Bridge Loan Agreement restrickss@Gbmpanys ability to issue any shares of its currently atited Series A, B or
preferred stock without the prior consent of theutay 2006 Bridge Lenders, and grants the Janu@®g Bridge Lenders preemptive rig
relating to the issuance of the Compan@eries A, B and C preferred stock. The Januady &B¥idge Loan Agreement also contains no
and customary affirmative and negative covenantduding restrictions on the Compasyability to incur additional debt or grant anynlier
the assets of the Company or its Subsidiariesestib) certain permitted exclusions.
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November 2005 Bridge Loan

The Company is a party to a Loan Agreement, datedehber 9, 2005 (the “November 2005 Bridge Loaneggnent”)by anc
among Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., Cagtal Investments Il, LP, Care Capital Offshbreestments Il, LP, Galen Partn
lll, L.P., Galen Partners International lll, L.”5alen Employee Fund Ill, L.P. and certain otherrshalders of the Company listed on
signature page thereto (collectively, the “Novemd@05 Bridge Lenders”providing for bridge financing to the Company iretprincipa
amount of $1.05 million (the “November 2005 Bridgean”). The net proceeds from the November 2005 Bridge | afier the satisfaction
related expenses, are being used by the Compargntmue the development of its Aversion™ Technglagd to fund operating expens
The terms of the November 2005 Bridge Loan aretidainto the terms of the January 2006 Bridge Laaept that (i) the lien securing
November 2005 Bridge Loan is junior in right of pagnt and lien priority to the January 2006 Bridgeh, and (ii) the funding event is $5
million.

September 2005Bridge Loan

The Company is a party to a Loan Agreement, daggdeBnber 16, 2005 (the ‘September 2005Bridge Loan Agreement®y anc
among Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., Camtal Investments Il, LP, Care Capital Offshbreestments Il, LP, Galen Partn
lll, L.P., Galen Partners International Ill, L.Rnd Galen Employee Fund lIll, L.P. (collectivelyeth September 2005Bridge Lendersy
providing for bridge financing to the Company ir thrincipal amount of $ 0.5 million (the “ SeptemB805 Bridge Loan”)The net procee!
from the September2005 Bridge Loan, after the satisfaction of reladggdenses, were used by the Company to continugethelopment ¢
its Aversion™Technology and to fund operating expenses. Thestafithe September 2005 Bridge Loan are identizahe terms of tt
January 2006 Bridge Loan, except that (i) the Seper 2005 Bridge Loan required that the Companyntaai minimum cash reserves
$200,000, (ii) the lien securing the September 2Bfillge Loan is junior in right of payment and lipriority to each of the January 2(
Bridge Loan and the November 2005 Bridge Loan, @iijdthe Funding Event is $4.0 million. On Octob2®, 2005, the September 2!
Bridge Lenders waived the requirement that the Gaomgpmaintain minimum cash reserves of $200,000 sath time as the Compe
receives additional financing providing net procetmithe Company of at least $2.0 million.

June 2005 Bridge Loan

The Company also is a party to a Loan Agreemergdddune 22, 2005 (the “June 2005 Bridge Loan Agesd”) by and amon
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., Care @hfivestments Il, LP, Care Capital Offshore Inwests II, LP, Galen Partners IlI, L.
Galen Partners International Ill, L.P., and Galenptoyee Fund III, L.P. (collectively, the “June Z0Bridge Lenders”providing for bridg
financing to the Company in the principal amoun$af0 million (the “June 2005 Bridge LoanThe net proceeds from the June 2005 Bl
Loan, after the satisfaction of related expensesewsed by the Company to continue the developofdtg Aversion™Technology and 1
fund operating expenses. The terms of the June B@i@§e Loan are identical to the terms of the 3an2006 Bridge Loan described ab
except that (i) the June 2005 Bridge Loan requihed the Company maintain minimum cash reservef260,000, (ii) the lien securing
June 2005 Bridge Loan is junior in right of paymand lien priority to each of the January 2006 Beid.oan, the November 2005 Bric
Loan and the September 2005 Bridge Loan and li@)Runding Event amount is $3.5 milliddn October 20, 2005, the June 30, 2005 B
Lenders waived the requirement that the Companytaiai minimum cash reserves of $200,000 until stiiie as the Company recei
additional financing providing net proceeds to @@mmpany of at least $2.0 million.
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Commercial Focus, Cash Reserves and Funding Reqairts

As of February 1, 2006, the Company had cash asld equivalents of approximately $647,000. The nitgjaf such cash resen
will be dedicated to the development of the ComfmAyersion®Technology, the prosecution of the Company's papptications relatir
to the Aversion®Technology and for administrative and related ojiegaexpenses. The Company has suspended furtetogenent an
commercialization efforts relating to the OpioidnBlyesis Technologies and expects to minimize tleeofiash and cash equivalents for
prosecution of patent applications relating to@moid Synthesis Technologies (See “Item 1 - BussneOpioid Synthesis Technologies”).

The Company must rely on its current cash resetwdsind the development of its Aversion®chnology and related ongo
administrative and operating expenses. The Compdtylre sources of revenue, if any, will be dedifim contract signing fees, milest
payments and royalties and/or profit sharing paysé&om licensees for the Company's Aversioh@&hnology. The Company estimates
its current cash reserves , including the net mdsdrom the January 2006 Bridge Loan will be sidfit to fund the development of
Aversion® Technology and related operating expettsesigh mid-to-late March, 20Q6To fund further operations and product developi
activities, the Company must raise additional fiiag, or enter into alliances or collaboration a&gnents with third parties. No assurance
be given that the Company will be successful irwling any such financing or in securing collabeaiagreements with third parties
acceptable terms, if at all, or if secured, thatsiinancing or collaborative agreements will pa®/for payments to the Company sufficier
continue to fund operations. In the absence of dimamcing or thirdparty collaborative agreements, the Company wilkrdspuired to sca
back or terminate operations and/or seek protectiater applicable bankruptcy laws.

Even assuming the Company is successful in secuiltitional sources of financing to fund the coméid development of t
Aversion® Technology, or otherwise enters intoaalties or collaborative agreements relating to therdlon® Technology, there can be
assurance that the Company's development effolitsesult in commercially viable products. The Camnp's failure to successfully deve
the Aversion® Technology in a timely manner, toadbtan issued U.S. patent relating to the Aversid®®hnology and to avoid infringil
third-party patents and other intellectual propeidirts will have a material adverse impact orfiitancial condition and results of operations.

In view of the matters described above, recoveitghif a major portion of the recorded asset amgigitown in the Compan
accompanying consolidated balance sheets is depengen continued operations of the Company, wircturn are dependent upon
Company's ability to meet its financing requirensenn a continuing basis, to maintain present fimancand to succeed in its futi
operations. The Company's financial statementsoddnelude any adjustment relating to the recoviitptand classification of recorded as
amounts or amounts and classification of liab#itieat might be necessary should the Company daaitacontinue in existence.
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The following table presents the Company's expectesth payments on contractual obligations outstands of December 31, 2(
(in thousands):

DUE IN DUE IN DUE IN DUE
TOTAL 2006 2007 2008 THEREAFTER
Notes payabl $ 7,550 $ 2,55( $ 5,00( - -
Capital leases 63 31 26 6 --
Operating leases 35 30 5 -- --
Annual interest on fixed rate debt (1) 12¢ 12¢ -- -- --
Employment agreements 74C 74C - - -
Total contractual obligations $ 8,51¢ $ 3,47¢ $ 5,031 % 6% --

Expected cash payments on contractual obligations DUE IN DUE IN DUE IN DUE
entered into subsequent to December 31, 2005 TOTAL 2006 2007 2008 THEREAFTER
Notes payabls $ 75C $ 75C $ - $ - $ -
Annual interest on fixed rate debt (1) 25 25 - - -
$ 77t $ 775 $ - $ - $ --

(1) Interest on variable rate debt is paid withrebaf the Compang’common stock. Such interest expense is estiniatiee $600,000 f
2006.

Critical Accounting Policies

Note A of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Steets included as a part of this Report, includssimmary of the Compan
significant accounting policies and methods usethé preparation of the financial statements. leppring these financial statements,
Company has made its best estimates and judgmémsrtain amounts included in the financial stateteggiving due consideration
materiality. The application of these accountindjgies involves the exercise of judgment and us@sgumptions as to future uncertair
and, as a result, actual results could differ frilrase estimates. The Company does not believe thesieconsequential likelihood tl
materially different amounts would be reported undiéferent conditions or using different assumpsoThe Company's critical account
policies are as follows:

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are recognized for tempodéffgrences between financial statement and inctemebases of assets
liabilities and loss carryerwards for which income tax benefits are expectedbe realized in future years. A valuation allowe it
established, when necessary, to reduce deferredstets to the amount expected to be realizedstimating future tax consequences,
Company generally considers all expected futur@isvether than an enactment of changes in theates br rates. The Company has reco
a full valuation allowance to reduce its net defdrincome tax assets to the amount that is moetyltkan not to be realized. In the eveni
Company were to determine that it would be ableetdize its deferred income tax assets in the éytan adjustment to reduce the valuz
allowance would increase income in the period sletermination was made.

Stock Compensation

The Company accounts for stobksed employee compensation arrangements in acceréath provisions of APB Opinion No. :
"Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" ("APB.N&") and complies with the disclosure provisidrS6AS No. 148, "Accounting fi
Stock-based CompensationTransition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASBteBtent No. 123" ("SFAS No. 148"). The amo
disclosed include various estimates used to deterrfair value of stock options. and restricted Istanits. Management determines
amount of the compensation associated with optant restricted stock units, based, in part, byrédative fair values ascribed to th
instruments through the use of the Black-Scholdgatisn model. Inherent in the Bladeholes valuation model are assumptions mas
management regarding the estimated life of thesguments, the estimated volatility of the Comparmgommon stock (as determined
reviewing its historical public market closing &) and the expected dividend yield. If the Compaaye to include the cost of stoblkse!



employee compensation in the financial statemenitéch it will be required to do starting in 2008t Company's operating results wc
decline based on the fair value of the stock-baseployee compensation.
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Debt Discount

Debt discount has and will result from the issuantestock warrants and beneficial conversion fesguin connection with tl
issuance of subordinated debt, common stock iritpesnents and other notes payable. The amouheadiscount is recorded as a reduc
of the related obligation and is amortized overrgraaining life of the related obligations. Managendetermines the amount of the discc
based, in part, by the relative fair values ascritiethe warrants determined by an independentatialu or through the use of the Black-
Scholes valuation model. Inherent in the Bl&toles valuation model are assumptions made byageament regarding the estimated lif
the warrant, the estimated volatility of the Comygarcommon stock (as determined by reviewing is$dhnical public market closing prict
and the expected dividend yield.

New Accounting Pronouncemen
Stock Based Payment

On December 16, 2004, the FASB released FASB Stateho. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Paym&m3B 123R")". Thest
changes in accounting replace existing requiremanter FASB Statement No. 123, “Accounting for &tBased Compensationgnc
eliminates the ability to account for share-basethmensation transaction using APB Opinion No.2A¢ccbunting for Stock Issued
Employees”. The compensation cost relating to shased payment transactions will be measured basebeofair value of the equity
liability instruments issues. This Statement doekahange the accounting for similar transaction®living parties other than employe
Publicly traded companies must apply this Standardf the beginning of the first annual period thegins after June 15, 2005.

FASB 123R permits public companies to choose betvtae adoption methods, one of which is the “maifprospectivetnethod
The modified prospective method recognizes compemsaost beginning with the effective date (a)dzhsen the requirements of FASB 1:
for all sharebased payments granted after the effective datecaadards modified, repurchased, or cancelled #ftg date and (b) based
the requirements of FASB Statement No. 123 foawathrds granted to employees prior to the effeatate of FAS 123R that remain unve:
on the effective date. The cumulative effect ofidtly applying this Statement, if any, is recogrdzas of the required effective date.
Companys required effective date is January 1, 2006. The@ny has not completed its evaluation of the ehphadopting FASB 123R «
its consolidated financial statements becausellidepend on levels of shatemsed payments granted in the future. HoweverCtmpany he
estimated $100,000 of additional unearned compimsaiill be recorded and expensed over the apdkcedmaining vesting periods for
sharebased payments granted to employees on or befocentir 31, 2005 that remain unvested on JanuaB0d6. The Compal
anticipates that more compensation costs will lwended in the future if the use of options andrietstd stock units for employees ¢
director compensation continues as in the past.

Changes and Error Corrections

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Finang@dounting Standards No. 154, “Accounting Changed Error Corrections -
A Replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB StatetiNo. 3", (“SFAS 154")SFAS 154 primarily requires retrospective applmatic
prior periods’financial statements for the direct effects of @@min accounting principle, unless it is impraaie to determine either t
periodspecific effects or the cumulative effect of theepe. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting charagekcorrections of errors made
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005,earty adoption is permitted. The Company is rezfito adopt the provision of SFAS 1
as applicable, beginning in fiscal 2006.

34




Capital Expenditures

The Company's capital expenditures during 20054286d 2003 were $35,000, $444,000 and $410,00pectgely. The capit
expenditures during 2004 and 2003 are attributadbleapital improvements to the Company's Congehs,aNd Culver, Indiana facilitie
Capital expenditures in 2005 were attributablehtogurchase of scientific equipment and improvestmthe Culver, Indiana facility.

Impact of Inflation
The Company believes that inflation did not haveaerial impact on its operations for the pericgfsorted.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

None of the securities that we invest in are subj@anarket risk. To minimize this risk in the fuéy we intend to maintain c
portfolio of cash equivalents in a variety of séttes, including commercial paper, governmental and-government debt securities anc
money market funds that invest in such securitiés.have no holdings of derivative financial and cowdity instruments. As of Deceml|
31, 2005, our investments consisted primarily arsberm bank commercial paper and checking funids variable, market rates of interest.

The Company has indebtedness which incurs interest floating basis in relation to the Prime Rdte.the extent that inflation
reflected in higher interest rates, the Company ldv@xpect to incur greater interest costs on tlelstdA onepercentage point increase
interest rates would result in a $50,000 increasnual interest expense.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
This item is submitted as a separate section sfReport commencing on page F-1.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not Applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedurghe Company carried out an evaluation, under thpersision and with tr
participation of the Company's management, inclgidive Company Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officof the effectivene
of the design and operation of the Company's disckd controls and procedures pursuant to ExchamgeRAle 13at4. Based upon tr
evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chiéhdncial Officer concluded that the Company's disate controls and procedures
effective in timely alerting them to material infioation relating to the Company (including its sdimiies) required to be included in
Company's periodic Securities and Exchange Comomidlings. No significant changes were made in @@mpany's internal controls or
other factors that could significantly affect thesatrols subsequent to the date of their evalnatio

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogiifhere was no change in the Company’s internal obotrer financial
reporting that occurred during the period covergdhiis Report that has materially affected, oreiasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over-financial reporting

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not Applicable.
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PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT

The directors and executive officers of the Compargyas follows:

NAME AGE POSITION

Andrew D. Reddick 53 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Ron J. Spivey 59 Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer
Peter A. Clemens 53 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer 8w&tretary
James F. Emigh 50 Vice President of Marketing and Administration
Robert A. Seiser 42 Vice President, Corporate Controller and Treasurer
Bruce F. Wesson 63 Director

William A. Sumner 68 Director

Jerry N. Karabelas 53 Director

William G. Skelly 55 Director

Immanuel Thangaraj 35 Director

Andrew D. Reddick has been President and Chief litkex Officer since August, 2003 and a Directotldd Company since Augu
2004. From April, 2000 to September, 2002 Mr. Rekldvas Chief Operating Officer and Sr. Vice Prestd€ommercial Operations 1
Adolor Corporation, a pharmaceutical company. Fdame, 1999 to March, 2000 he served as Presiddraulfling Laboratories, Inc. N
Reddick holds a BA degree in Biology from the Umsity of California and an MBA degree from Duke \eiisity.

Ron J. Spivey has been Senior Vice President anef Gkientific Officer since April, 2004. From Jun2002 to March, 2004 C
Spivey was President of Gibraltar Associates, @iapei company providing consulting services to tharmaceutical industry relating
product research and development. From March, 1898ay, 2002 he served as Vice President, Scienfiffairs for Alpharma/Purepi
Pharmaceuticals. Dr. Spivey holds a BA degree fimaiena University and a Ph.D. degree in pharmacgétom the University of lowa.

Peter A. Clemens has been Senior Vice Presidengf €Emancial Officer and Secretary since April 200Mr. Clemens was Vit
President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretarythaef Company from February 1998 to March 2004 amirector of the Company fro
June, 1998 to August, 2004. Mr. Clemens is a GedtiPublic Accountant and earned a B.B.A. degremfithe University of Notre Dame &
an MBA from Indiana University.

James F. Emigh has been Vice President of MarkatimagAdministration since April 2004. Prior to suahe, Mr. Emigh was Vic
President of Sales and Marketing. Mr. Emigh joitteel Company in May, 1998, serving first as Exeafdirector of Customer Relations ¢
then as Vice President of Operations until Novemd@®2. Mr. Emigh holds a Bachelor of Pharmacy f\ashington State University an
Masters of Business Administration from George Malaiversity.

Robert A. Seiser has been a Vice President, Cam@antroller and Treasurer since April 2004. Meisgr joined the Company
March 1998 as the Corporate Controller and TreasMe Seiser is a Certified Public Accountant axained a B.B.A. degree from Loy
University of Chicago.

Bruce F. Wesson has been a Director of the Comparg March, 1998. Mr. Wesson is President of GAlssociates, a health ¢
venture firm, and a General Partner of Galen PesthiE L.P. Prior to January, 1991, he was Sehiiwe President and Managing Directo
Smith Barney, Harris Upham & Co. Inc., an investimeanking firm. He currently serves on the Boarfi€ncore Medical Corporatic
QMed, Inc., and Chemtura Corporation, each a plybliaded company, and several privately held camgsa Mr. Wesson earned a de(
from Colgate University and a Masters of Businedswistration from Columbia University.

William A. Sumner has been a Director of the Conypsince August, 1997. From 1974 until his retiretiarl 995, Mr. Sumner he
various positions within Hoech&eussel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a manufacturer @stdbditor of pharmaceutical products, includingck
President and General Manager, Dermatology Divi§iom 1991 through 1995, Vice President, Strat&jisiness Development, from 1¢
to 1991 and Vice President, Marketing from 1985L889. Since his retirement from HoecR&iussel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in 1995,
Sumner has acted as a consultant to various erititidie pharmaceutical field.
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Jerry N. Karabelas has been a Director of the Comgiance December, 2002 and Chairman of the Baard May 2003 throuc
May, 2005. Dr. Karabelas was Head of HealthcareGE® of Worldwide Pharmaceuticals for Novartis AGrfi 1998 until July 2000. Pri
to joining Novartis, Dr. Karabelas was Executivec&iPresident of SmithKline Beecham. From July, 20061 December, 2001, C
Karabelas was the Founder and Chairman of the Newio Venture Fund. Since November, 2001 he feenka Partner with Care Cap
LLC. Dr. Karabelas holds a Ph.D. in pharmacokireetrom the Massachusetts College of Pharmacy aveésas a Director of SykePhai
Plc., Human Genome Sciences, Nitromed, Anadys amb¥ra.

William G. Skelly has been a Director of the Compamce May, 1996 and served as Chairman of thegaomfrom October, 19!
through June, 2000. Since 1990, Mr. Skelly haseskas Chairman, President and Chief Executive @ffi¢ Central Biomedia, Inc. and
subsidiary SERA, Inc., companies involved in thareh health industry including veterinary biolodie@and custom manufacturing of ani
sera products. From 1985 to 1990, Mr. Skelly seredresident of Martec Pharmaceutical, Inc., &iligor and manufacturer of hun
generic prescription pharmaceuticals.

Immanuel Thangaraj has been a Director of the Comsince December, 2002. Mr. Thangaraj has beeramalying Director ¢
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures, a venture cdpitalspecializing in the healthcare industry, sid@97. Prior to joining Essex Woodlal
Health Ventures, he helped form a telecommunicag@mwices company, for which he served as its Q@0 .Thangaraj holds a Bachelor
Arts and a Masters in Business Administration friti@ University of Chicago and serves as a DirestaKnowMed Systems, Sound ID &
CBR Systems.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors ismqmsed of Messrs. William A. Sumner, Chairman, Imao@ Thangaraj and Bruce
Wesson. The Audit Committee is responsible forctlg the Company's registered independent pukkowanting firm, approving the au
fee payable to the auditors, working with indeperiduditors and other corporate officials, revieyvthe scope and results of the audil
and the recommendations of, the Company's indeperadalitors, approving the services provided by dabditors, reviewing the financ
statements of the Company and reporting on thedtsestithe audits to the Board, reviewing the Comypsa insurance coverage, finan
controls and filings with the Securities and Exapai€ommission (the "Commission"), including, megtijuarterly prior to the filing of tt
Company's quarterly and annual reports containingntial statements filed with the Commission, asubmitting to the Board i
recommendations relating to the Company's finanm@pbrting, accounting practices and policies dndricial, accounting and operatia
controls.

In assessing the independence of the Audit Comenittembers during 2005, the Company has reviewedaalgzed the standal
for independence provided in Section 121A of theefioan Stock Exchange Listing Standards. Basechisnanalysis, the Company |
determined that Mr. Sumner is deemed an independentber of the Audit Committee. Messrs. Wesson Hmhgaraj do not satisfy t
standards for independence set forth in the Ameristock Exchange Listing Standards as a resulh@if positions in entities having
controlling interest in GCE Holdings, LLC, the Coamy’s 78% shareholder. GCE Holdings, LLC was tha&ignee of all the Comparg/’
preferred shares previously held by eaclafe Capital Investments I, LP, Essex Woodlandaltié/entures V, L.P. and Galen Partners
L.P. In view of the controlling interests in GCE Himgs, LLC held by each of Galen Partners lll, .8 which Mr. Wesson is a gene
partner, and Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V., bffwhich Mr. Thangaraj is a general partnerheatMessrs. Wesson and Thang
fail to satisfy the standards for independencedath in the American Stock Exchange Listing StaddaNeverthelesshe Board values tl
experience of Messrs. Wesson and Thangaraj inehiew of the Company's financial statements anébes$ that each is able to exer
independent judgment in the performance of hissdutn the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee does not have a financial exfes defined under applicable regulations of tlen@ission) serving on tl
Committee. The Board has determined that while ridribe Audit Committee members meet all of théecia established by the Commiss
to be classified as a "financial expert’, the Compdelieves that in general, the members of theitAGdmmittee have a sufficie
understanding of audit committee functions, intermantrol over financial reporting and financiab&ment evaluation so as to capi
perform the tasks required of the Audit Committee.
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Nominating Committee

Currently the entire Board of Directors functiorssthe Company's nominating committee. As requitieel,Board will perform tr
functions typical of a nominating committee, indhuglthe identification, recruitment and selectidmominees for election as directors of
Company. Two of the six members of the Board (MesSumner and Skelly) are "independent” as that terdefined by Section 121(A)
the American Stock Exchange Listing Standards aifidparticipate with entire Board in the considéoat of director nominees. The Boi
believes that a nominating committee separate fteeff is not necessary at this time, given thatre¢ size of the Company and the Bo
The Board also believes that, given the Compamy&ive size and the size of its Board, an addii@mommittee of the Board would not
to the effectiveness of the evaluation and nomimagirocess. The Board's process for recruitingsahecting nominees for Board member
required, would be to identify individuals who dheught to have the business background and experiéndustry specific knowledge ¢
general reputation and expertise allowing thematatribute as effective directors to the Compang'segnance, and who would be willing
serve as directors of a public company. To date,Gbmpany has not engaged any third party to assidentifying or evaluating potent
nominees. If a possible candidate is identifie@, itidividual will meet with various members of tBeard and be sounded out concer
his/her possible interest and willingness to searsl Board members would discuss amongst themstieemdividual's potential to be
effective Board member. If the discussions andw&tan are positive, the individual would be inditto serve on the Board. To date,
shareholder has presented any candidate for Boamb@rship to the Company for consideration, andtwapany does not have a spe:
policy on shareholderecommended director candidates. The Board beligsgsocess for evaluation of nominees proposedhareholdel
would be no different than the process of evalgatiny other candidate. In evaluating candidates,Bbard will require that candida
possess, at a minimum, a desire to serve on thep@uyts Board, an ability to contribute to the efifesness of the Board, an understandir
the function of the Board of a public company aabkvant industry knowledge and experience. In amditwhile not required of any o
candidate, the Board would consider favorably eiepee, education, training or other expertise isitess or financial matters and p
experience serving on boards of public companies.

Shareholder Communications to the Boa

Shareholders who wish to send communications t&€Cthrapany's Board of Directors may do so by senttiegn in care of the Secret:
of the Company at the address on the cover pagigisoReport. The envelope containing such commtinicanust contain a clear notat
indicating that the enclosed letter is a "SharedmBbard Communication” or "Sharehold@irector Communication” or similar statement-
clearly and unmistakably indicates the communicaigointended for the Board. All such communicagionust clearly indicate the author i
shareholder and state whether the intended retipame all members of the Board or just certaircifigel directors. The Secretary of
Company will have the discretion to screen and foovard to directors communications which the Stage determines in his or t
discretion are communications unrelated to therassi or governance of the Company and its subisisjacommercial solicitations,
communications that are offensive, obscene, omatse inappropriate. The Secretary will, howevemgile all shareholder communicatis
which are not forwarded and such communicationkhbeilavailable to any director.

Code of Ethics

The Company has a Code of Ethics applying to then@amy's principal executive officer, principal fir@al officer and principi
accounting officer. The Code of Ethics and any aineents to or waivers there from, is available oe Bompany's websi
www.acurapharm.com, under the link “Code of Ethics”

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Congice

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of412% amended, requires the Company's Directoreraclitive officers, and pers¢
who own beneficially more than ten percent (10%)ttef Common Stock of the Company, to file repoftownership and changes
ownership with the Commission. Copies of all fikeghorts are required to be furnished to the Compamguant to Section 16(a). Based s¢
on the reports received by the Company and onesritepresentations from reporting persons, the @omjpelieves that the Directc
executive officers and greater than ten percente)lBeneficial owners of the Company's Common Stomkplied with all Section 16(
filing requirements during the year ended Decen®ier2005, except that (i) Galen Partners Ill, laRd Care Capital Investments Il, LP fa
to file Form 4s, (ii) GCE Holdings LLC failed tddia Form 3, and (iii) Peter Clemens filed a Fortaté.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table sets forth a summary of the pemsation paid by the Company for services renderatl capacities to the Compe
during the fiscal years ended December 31, 200%4 2bid 2003 to the Company's Chief Executive Offizel the Company's next four
highly compensated executive officers (collectivelye "named executive officers") whose total ahregmpensation for 2005 exceel
$100,000:

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

LONG TERM
COMPENSATION

SECURITIES
UNDERLYING
STOCK
OTHER RESTRICTED OPTIONS and ALL
ANNUAL STOCK RESTRICTED OTHER

ANNUAL COMPENSATION

NAME AND COMPEN- UNIT STOCK COMPEN-
SATION ®
PRINCIPAL POSITION YEAR SALARY  BONUS AWARDS($) ®  UNITS (#) SATION
$
Andrew D. Reddick 2005 $ 300,00( % - $ -3 2,660,62! 8,250,001 -
President and Chief 2004 305,76¢ 60,00( -- - 8,750,00! -
Executive Officer 2003 96,92 - -- - -- -
Ron J. Spivey 2005 260,00( - - 2,128,501 10,600,00(e, -
Senior Vice President 2004 190,00( - -- - 3,000,001 -
and Chief Scientific Officer 2003 -0- - -- - -- -
Peter A. Clemens 2005 180,00( - 9,00( 1,419,00! 4,400,001 --
Senior Vice President and 2004 172,78 60,00( 9,00( - 375,00( -
Chief Financial Office 2003 146,00( 60,00( 9,00( - -- -
James F. Emigh 2005 140,00( - -- 443,43 1,375,001 --
Vice President/Marketing 2004 137,69. 50,00( 4,20( - 249,00( -
and Administration 2003 127,80( - 4,20(C - -- -
Robert A. Seiser 2005 132,94. - -- 532,12! 1,650,00! -
Vice President, Corporate 2004 123,07 50,00( 4,50( - 249,00( -
$ $ $
Controller and Treasurer 2003 $ 110,920 % 7,00C 4,50( -- - --

(1) The dollar value of the Restricted Stock Unit Awsisl equal to the difference between (A) the prodii¢x) the number of shares
the Companys Common Stock underlying each award, multipliedy)y$0.3325, the average of the closing bid an@adgprices of th
Company’s Common Stock on December 22, 2005, ttee afegrant of the Restricted Stock Unit Awardsyegsorted by the Over-the-
Counter Bulletin Board (“OTCBB”)less (B) the par value of $0.01 per share payapléhé recipient of the Restricted Stock |
Award upon the Company'issuance of the shares. The aggregate numbéadssunderlying Restricted Stock Unit Awards miayg
the Company as of December 31, 2005 to Messrs. iBeddpivey, Clemens, Emigh and Seiser is 8,25Q,80800,000, 4,400,0C
1,375,000 and 1,650,000 shares respectively. The wd the shares underlying Restricted Stock Bmitirds made by the Company
of December 31, 2005 to Messrs. Reddick, Spivegm@hs, Emigh and Seiser is $2,103,750, $1,683%0022,000, $350,625, &
$420,750, respectively, based on the average ofltsing bid and asked prices on December 30, 200®.265, as reported by -
OTCBB. Each of the Restricted Stock Units vests-thirel upon grant and the balance in equal monthidyements on the first day
each month beginning January 1, 2006 and endingrleer 1, 2007. The vested shares underlying th&i&ed Stock Unit Awarc
will be issued by the Company on the earlier o&({fhange of Control (as defined in the Compar@05 Restricted Stock Unit Aws
Plan), or (ii) January 1, 2011. In the event ofte@ge of Control, the issuance of shares by thep@osnshall be made in a lump <
distribution. In the absence of a Change of Contha issuance shall be made in four (4) equadlinseénts on each of January 1, 2(
January 1, 2012, January 1, 2013 and January M4.Z2[He recipients of the Restricted Stock Unit Adgathave no rights as
stockholder, including no dividend or voting rightath respect to the shares underlying such Awards the shares are issued by
Company.

(2) Consists of (i) 6,600,000 shares of common stodetlging Restricted Stock Unit Awards, and (ii) @000 shares of common st



underlying stock options.

(3) Consisted of auto allowances which were disooed after 2005.
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Other Compensatory Arrangements

Executive officers and key employees participateniedical, dental, life and disability insurancengaprovided to all Compa
employees.

Employment Agreement

Andrew D. Reddick is employed pursuant to an Empleyt Agreement effective as of August 26, 2003mended, which provid
that Mr. Reddick will serve as the Company's Clrécutive Officer and President for a term expiribgcember 31, 2006. The term of
Employment Agreement provides for automatic oney&Br renewals in the absence of written notidl¢ocontrary from the Company or |
Reddick at least ninety (90) days prior to the ein of the initial term or any subsequent rerepeaiod. The Employment Agreem:
provides for an annual base salary of $300,00G; hle payment of annual bonus of up to one hungeecent (100%) of Mr. Reddick's bi
salary based on the achievement of such targetslitmns, or parameters as may be set from tim@ne by the Board of Directors or |
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directoim. fhe Company 2006 fiscal year, the Employment Agreement prewitbr a cas
bonus equal to 100% of Mr. Reddick’s then curreagebsalary (the “2006 Cash Bonus”) upon the Comiganegeipt of aggregate proceed
at least $15.0 million on or before March 31, 2®®m an offering of the Company’equity securities and/or from license fees oestdn
payments from third-party licensing or similar tsantions (subject to the payment of a mata portion of the 2006 Cash Bonus providec
Company receives aggregate gross proceeds fromtrarddactions of at least $11.0 million on or befbtarch 31, 2007). The Employm
Agreement also provides for the Compangiant to Mr. Reddick of stock options exercisdbleup to 8,750,000 shares of Common Stoi
an exercise price of $0.13 per share. The stoclomptprovide for vesting of 3,000,000 shares ondat of grant of the option, with 1
balance vesting in monthly increments of 250,008rah at the expiration of each monthly period thiéee commencing with the mor
ending August 31, 2004. The exercise price of $@d3share represents a discount to the fair maedat of the Compang’common stoc
on the date of grant. On August 12, 2004, the datgrant of the stock options, the average of tlusieg bid and asked prices for
Companys Common Stock was $0.435. The Employment Agreerentacknowledges the grant to Mr. Reddick of atfiReged Stock Un
Award providing for the Company’s issuance of uBta50,000 shares of the Companommon Stock. The Restricted Stock Unit \
onethird (1/3) upon grant and the balance in equal tiigrincrements on the first day of each month beijig January 1, 2006 and enc
December 1, 2007. The vested shares underlyinBéis&ricted Stock Unit Award will be issued by then@pany on the earlier of (i) a Chai
in Control (as defined in the Compary2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan), or (@pdary 1, 2011. In the event of a Change in Cq
the Company shall issue the vested shares in a summpdistribution. In the absence of a Change aft®g the issuance of the vested sh
shall be made in four (4) equal installments orhezfcJanuary 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, Januar@13 and January 1, 2014. Upon issui
of the shares underlying the Restricted Stock Wwiard, Mr. Reddick must remit to the Company the palue of $0.01 per share.
December 22, 2005, the date of grant of the RéstriStock Unit Award, the average of the closing &md asked prices of the Company’
common stock was $0.3325, as reported by the OT@GBBReddick has no rights as a stockholder, inidgco dividend or voting right
with respect to the shares underlying the ResttiStmck Unit Award until the shares are issuedheay@ompany. The Employment Agreen
contains standard termination provisions, includimpn death, disability, for Cause, for Good Reaaod without Cause. In the event
Employment Agreement is terminated due to deatHdigmbility, the Company is required to pay Mr. Rieddor his designee, a pro r
portion of the annual bonus that would have beegralpe to Mr. Reddick during such year assuming dicthievement of the bonus crite
established for such bonus. Additionally, Mr. Rettdor his designees shall have a period of twel@ (onths following such terminati
(except for “Cause,in which case it is 40 days) to exercise Mr. Rekldiwested stock options (or, for those vestedkstqtions subject !
Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1886amended (“Section 409Athe lesser of (a) twelve (12) months following ttee o
termination, or (b) the maximum exercise periochptied under Section 409A). In the event that thgplbyment Agreement is terminated
the Company without Cause or by Mr. Reddick for G&eason, the Company is required to pay Mr. Ré&daicamount equal to the bo
for such year, calculated on a pro rata basis asgufull achievement of the bonus criteria for syear, as well as Mr. Reddick's base st
for one year (the "Severance Pay"), payable in legpasthly installments over a period of twelve (I@pnths. In addition, Mr. Reddick
entitled to continued coverage under the Compahgs existing benefit plans, including medical ifel insurance, for twelve (12) moni
from the date of termination. The Employment Agreemmpermits Mr. Reddick to terminate the EmploymAgteement in the event o
Change in Control (as defined in the Employmenteggnent), in which case such termination is consitldo be made without Cau
entitling Mr. Reddick to the benefits described ahcexcept that (i) the Severance Pay is payabdelimmp sum within thirty (30) days of 1
date of termination, and (ii) all outstanding stomtions granted to Mr. Reddick shall fully vestdabe immediately exercisable. 1
Employment Agreement restricts Mr. Reddick fromctlising, disseminating or using for his personaidfi¢ or for the benefit of othel
confidential or proprietary information (as definedthe Employment Agreement) and, provided the @amy has not breached the term
the Employment Agreement, from competing with tlempany at any time prior to one year after the teation of his employment with t|
Company.
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Ron J. Spivey, Ph.D., is employed pursuant to apl&pment Agreement effective as of April 5, 2004,zanended, which provic
that Dr. Spivey will serve as the Company's Se¥Wioe President and Chief Scientific Officer forneexpiring December 31, 2006. The t
of the Employment Agreement provides for automatie (1) year renewals in the absence of writteic@dd the contrary from the Compz
or Dr. Spivey at least ninety (90) days prior te #xpiration of the initial term or any subsequemiewal period. The Employment Agreen
provides for an annual base salary of $260,00G; file payment of annual bonus of up to one hunpeedent (100%) of Dr. Spivey's bi
salary based on the achievement of such targetslitmmns, or parameters as may be set from tim@ne by the Board of Directors or |
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directoim. fhe Company 2006 fiscal year, the Employment Agreement prewitbr a cas
bonus equal to one hundred percent (100%) of Minegfs then current base salary (the “2006 CashuB®9nupon the Compang’receipt ¢
aggregate proceeds of at least $15.0 million obefore March 31, 2007 from an offering of the Compa equity securities and/or frc
license fees or milestone payments from third-phegnsing or similar transactions (subject to pagyment of a preata portion of the 20(
Cash Bonus provided the Company receives aggregass proceeds from such transactions of at IedisO$million on or before March
2007. The Employment Agreement also provides fer @mmpanys grant to Mr. Spivey of stock options exercisafoie up to 7,000,0C
shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of3ffet share. The stock option provides for vestihg,000,000 shares on October 1, 2
333,333 shares on each January 1, 2005, April@5,2luly 1, 2005 and October 1, 2005, 3,888,667eshan January 1, 2006 and 778,00
April 1, 2006. The exercise price of $0.13 per shapresents a discount to the fair market valubefCompanys common stock on the d
of grant. The Employment Agreement also acknowledte grant to Mr. Spivey of a Restricted Stock tUkivard providing for th
Company’s issuance of up to 6,600,000 shares o€tmpany’s Common Stock. The Restricted Stock Medts onehird (1/3) upon grai
and the balance in equal monthly increments orfitekeday of each month beginning January 1, 2006 ending December 1, 2007. °
vested shares underlying the Restricted Stock Rwdrd will be issued by the Company on the eadief) a Change in Control (as defir
in the Companys 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan), or (@ndary 1, 2011. In the event of a Change in Contihel Company sh:
issue the vested shares in a lump sum distributiothe absence of a Change in Control, the issmiahthe vested shares shall be mac
four (4) equal installments on each of JanuaryQi,12 January 1, 2012, January 1, 2013 and Jany&§14. Upon issuance of the shi
underlying the Restricted Stock Unit Award, Mr. &pi must remit to the Company the par value of $@€r share. On December 22, 2I
the date of grant of the Restricted Stock Unit Adyahe average of the closing bid and asked pra€dhe Companys common stock wi
$0.3325, as reported by the OTCBB. Mr. Spivey hasights as a stockholder, including no dividendvoting rights, with respect to t
shares underlying the Restricted Stock Unit Awantll the shares are issued by the Company. The @&m@nt Agreement contains stanc
termination provisions, including upon death, dibb for Cause, for Good Reason and without Causaditionally, Dr. Spivey or h
designees shall have a period of twelve (12) mofaifering such termination (except for “Caus@&y’which case it is 40 days) to exercise
Spivey's vested stock options, (or, for those wksteck options subject to Section 409A, the les$dn) twelve (12) months following t
date of termination, or (b) the maximum exercisequepermitted under Section 409A). In the evert tthe Employment Agreement
terminated by the Company without Cause or by Pivéy for Good Reason, the Company is requiredaip [pr. Spivey an amount equa
the bonus for such year, calculated on a pro rasésskassuming full achievement of the bonus catfat such year, as well as Dr. Spiv
base salary for one year (the "Severance Pay"ghpayin equal monthly installments over a periodvedélve (12) months. In addition, [
Spivey is entitled to continued coverage underGbepany's then existing benefit plans, includinglita& and life insurance, for twelve (:
months from the date of termination. The Employnmfsgteement permits Dr. Spivey to terminate the Exwplent Agreement in the event
a Change in Control (as defined in the Employmegte&ment), in which case such termination is camei to be made without Cat
entitling Dr. Spivey to the benefits described aowxcept that (i) the Severance Pay is payabéelimp sum within thirty (30) days of 1
date of termination, and (ii) all outstanding stomftions granted to Dr. Spivey shall fully vest ane immediately exercisable. 1
Employment Agreement restricts Dr. Spivey from hlising, disseminating or using for his personaldfi¢ror for the benefit of othel
confidential or proprietary information (as definedthe Employment Agreement) and, provided the @amy has not breached the term
the Employment Agreement, from competing with tlemPany at any time prior to one year after the teation of his employment with tl
Company.
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Peter A. Clemens is employed pursuant to an Emptoyrmgreement effective as of March 10, 1998, aeratad, which provids
that Mr. Clemens will serve as the Company's Seviioe President and Chief Financial Officer foreant expiring December 31, 2006. °
term of the Employment Agreement provides for awtttenone (1) year renewals in the absence of writtetice to the contrary from t
Company or Mr. Clemens at least one hundred ei¢t89) days prior to the expiration of any renewalipd. The Employment Agreem:
provides for an annual base salary of $180,000 thiepayment of an annual bonus to be determinseldban the satisfaction of such tarc
conditions or parameters as may be determined fioma to time by the Compensation Committee of ttemaf@ of Directors. For ti
Company’s 2006 fiscal year, the Employment Agreenpeavides for a cash bonus equal to 100% of Mentns’then current base sal;
(the “2006 Cash Bonus”) upon the Compangeceipt of aggregate proceeds of at least $18l@mon or before March 31, 2007 from
offering of the Company’s equity securities andfom license fees or milestone payments from thpady licensing or similar transactic
(subject to the payment of a prata portion of the 2006 Cash Bonus provided then@my receives aggregate gross proceeds fromr
transactions of at least $11.0 million on or befigi@rch 31, 2007). The Employment Agreement alswiges for the grant of stock options
March 10, 1998 to purchase 300,000 shares of tmep@ny's common stock at an exercise price of $2p&Ff5hare, which options ves
equal increments of 25,000 option shares at theoéréch quarterly period during the term of thepoyment Agreement (as such ves
schedule may be amended by mutual agreement ofCmens and the Board of Directors). In addition August 2004, the Compa
granted stock options to Mr. Clemens to purchase(®D shares of Common Stock at an exercise pfi§®.43 per share, which exerc
price represents a discount to the fair marketevaluthe Compang common stock on the date of grant. Such stodkmptest in four equ
portions at the end of each annual period commgnMarch 9, 2005. The Employment Agreement also eskedges the grant to N
Clemens of a Restricted Stock Unit Award providiogthe Company’s issuance of up to 4,400,000 shaf¢he Compang Common Stoc
The Restricted Stock Unit vests otierd (1/3) upon grant and the balance in equal thlignincrements on the first day of each mc
beginning January 1, 2006 and ending Decemberd7.2the vested shares underlying the RestricteckStmit Award will be issued by tl
Company on the earlier of (i) a Change in Contesl defined in the Comparsy2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan), or (@ndary 1
2011. In the event of a Change in Control, the Camypshall issue the vested shares in a lump sutnibdison. In the absence of a Chang
Control, the issuance of the vested shares shatidne in four (4) equal installments on each otidan 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, Janua
2013 and January 1, 2014. Upon issuance of theshaderlying the Restricted Stock Unit Award, Ilemens must remit to the Comp:
the par value of $0.01 per share. On December @X,2he date of grant of the Restricted Stock Bmitard, the average of the closing
and asked prices of the Compasigommon stock was $0.3325, as reported by the GBTGB. Clemens has no rights as a stockhao
including no dividend or voting rights, with respéa the shares underlying the Restricted Stock Bwiard until the shares are issued by
Company. The Employment Agreement contains stan@antination provisions, including upon death, Hikty, for Cause, for Good Reas
and without Cause. In the event the Employment Amgent is terminated by the Company without CauseyoMr. Clemens for Goc
Reason, the Company is required to pay Mr. Cleraeramount equal to $310,000 or twice his then bakey, whichever is greater, pay:
in a lump sum within 30 days of termination anddmtinue to provide Mr. Clemens coverage undeCbmmpany's then existing benefit ple
including medical and life insurance, for a term2df months. Additionally, Mr. Clemens or his desiga shall have a period of twelve (
months following termination (except for “Causey’which case it is 40 days) to exercise Mr. Clerheested stock options (or, for the
vested stock options subject to Section 409A, &ssdr of (a) twelve (12) months following the datgermination, or (b) the maximt
exercise period permitted under Section 409A). Ehmloyment Agreement permits Mr. Clemens to termgirlhe Employment Agreement
the event of a Change in Control (as defined inBEhgloyment Agreement). The Employment Agreemes aéstricts Mr. Clemens frc
disclosing, disseminating or using for his persdreiefit or for the benefit of others confidentalproprietary information (as defined in
Employment Agreement) and, provided the Companynmsreached the terms of the Employment Agreenfesth competing with tr
Company at any time prior to two years after thdierao occur of the expiration of the term and termination of his employment.
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Compensation of Directors

Directors who are employees of the Company recedsadditional or special remuneration for theivgsss as Directors. Directc
who are not employees of the Company receive anargrant of options to purchase 50,000 sharet@iCompany's common stock
$500 for each meeting attended ($250 in the cagelephonic meetings). The Company also reimbuBiesctors for travel and lodgii
expenses, if any, incurred in connection with atéarce at Board meetings. Directors who serve onoaitlye Committees established by
Board of Directors receive $250 for each Committeseting attended unless held on the day of a fodirB meeting. In addition, on Febru
11, 2006, the Company granted to each of MessriliaWli Sumner and William Skelly Restricted StockitJAwards providing for th
Company’s issuance of up to 1 million shares of@loenpanys common stock. The Restricted Stock Unit Award@sraade pursuant to 1
Companys 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan and areadnsideration of the services provided by Messwniger and Skelly to tl
Company as independent members of the Board amepassentatives of the Independent Committee oBiberd of Directors for variol
material transactions undertaken by the Companingluihe period 2002 through 2005, including, withémitation, the Companyg 200:
Debenture Offering, the 2004 Debenture Offering tionversion of the ComparsyPreferred Shares into common stock and the \s
bridge loans financing transactions with the Conypas well as for their continued service as doecbf the Company. The Restricted S
Unit Awards to each of Messrs. Sumner and Skelst 388,889 shares on grant and the balance in eguathly installments on the first ¢
of each month beginning March 1, 2006 and endingebBdoer 1, 2007. The vested shares underlying tsgiBed Stock Unit Awards will t
issued by the Company on the earlier of (i) a CkangControl (as defined in the Compasn005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan), or
January 1, 2011. In the event of a Change in Chritre Company will issue the vested shares uniigylihe Restricted Stock Unit Award i
lump sum distribution. In the absence of a Chang@antrol, the issuance of the vested shares Bbathade in four (4) equal installments
each of January 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, Janya?pt3 and January 1, 2014. Upon the issuanceeovéisted shares underlying
Restricted Stock Unit Awards, Messrs. Sumner arellgknust pay to the Company the $0.01 par valuespare.

Stock Option Plan

The Company currently maintains two stock opticempladopted in 1995 and 1998, respectively. Thepaasin the past has us
and may continue to use, stock options to attract retain key employees in the belief that emplogeek ownership and stocklatec
compensation devices encourage a community ofdstéretween employees and shareholders.

The 1995 Stock Option PlariThe 1995 Stock Option Plan was approved by thag2mys shareholders in September, 1995. /£
the date of this Report, incentive stock optionSQ's”) to purchase 322,510 shares and aualified options to purchase 106,390 shares
granted under the 1995 Stock Option Plan. In M&@52the 1995 Stock Option Plan expired and the i@naunissued shares allocate:
the Plan were terminated. The average per shareisagrice for all outstanding options under t®83 Stock Option Plan is approximat
$1.64.

The 1998 Stock Option PlarThe 1998 Stock Option Plan was adopted by thedBo&Directors in April, 1998 and approved by
Company's shareholders in June, 1998. The 199& ®ption Plan permits the grant of ISO's and noalified stock options to purchs
shares of the Company's Common Stock. The 199& ®ption Plan was amended by the Board of Direditorpril, 1999 to increase tl
number of shares available for the grant of optiamder the Plan from 2,600,000 to 3,600,000 shaies.Company's shareholders ratified
Plan amendment on August 19, 1999. The 1998 Statio®Plan was further amended by Board of DirextarApril, 2001 to increase t
number of shares available for grant of optionseurtbe Plan from 3,600,000 to 8,100,000 shares.Qdrapany's shareholders ratified
Plan amendment on June 14, 2001. The 1998 StodkrOPlan was further amended by the Board of Dinescon May 5, 2004 to increase
number of shares available for grant of optionseurttle Plan from 8,100,000 to 20,000,000 shares.ddmpanys shareholders ratified t
Plan amendment on August 12, 2004. As of the diatki® Report, stock options to purchase 19,326 §l9¥res of Common Stock had b
granted under the 1998 Stock Option Plan. Of sytlow grants, 789,826 are 1SOs and 18,536,269 anejnalified options. The average
share exercise price for all outstanding optiondenrihe 1998 Stock Option Plan is approximatel280No exercise price of an ISO was
at less than 100% of the fair market value of thdanlying Common Stock. The exercise price of noalified options exercisable
16,823,000 shares of common stock has been sesathan the fair market value on the date of goahe underlying Common Stor
Subject to the terms of the 1998 Stock Option Pa@,Board of Directors, or a Committee appointgdhe Board determines the persor
whom grants are made and the vesting, timing, atscamd other terms of such grant. An employee namyateive 1SO's exercisable in i
one calendar year for shares with a fair markatevain the date of grant in excess of $100,000. ity limitations apply to the grant
non-qualified stock options.
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Restricted Stock Unit Award Pla

On December 22, 2005, the Board of Directors adbffte Company’s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit AwardnP(the 2005 RSL
Plan”) for its employees and non-employee directArRestricted Stock Unit (“RSUDepresents the contingent obligation of the Compa
deliver a share of its common stock to the holdethe RSU on a distribution date. RSUs for up ton30ion shares of common stock .
authorized for issuance under the 2005 RSU Plae. Gbmpany believes that the 2005 RSU Plan doesenplire shareholder appro\
Nevertheless, the Company intends to seek shamheltification for the 2005 RSU Plan at its nextrdal Shareholde’ Meeting.

The purpose of the 2005 RSU Plan is to attractjvate and retain experienced and knowledgeable ®rapk by offering addition
stock based compensation and incentives to deférpatentially enhance their compensation and to@age stock ownership in
Company and to attract and retain qualified eomployee directors. The 2005 RSU Plan is intendedotnply with Section 409A of tl
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended andsigréal to confirm that compensation deferred utiderPlan which is subject to Cc
Section 409A is not included in the gross incom@d5 RSU Plan participants until such time assth@es of common stock underly
RSUs are distributed as set forth in the Plan andieCSection 409A.

The RSU Plan is administered by the ComparBoard of Directors or a Committee appointed l&/Bloard of Directors. Howewv:
with respect to non-employee directors, the Boamiaisters the Plan, and the Committee has noatiscr with respect to any grants to non-
employee directors. RSUs granted under the RSUvyganon a schedule determined by the Board ofcRirs or such Committee as set fi
in a restricted stock unit award agreement. Untéssrwise set forth in such award agreement, thdsR8lly vest upon a change in con
(as defined in the 2005 RSU Plan) of the Companypan termination of an employse2mployment with the Company without cause ol
to death or disability, and in the case of a nomplegee director, such persentleath or disability or if such person is not reiated as
director (other than for “cause” or refusal to stdor re-election) or is not elected by the Comparstockholders, if nominated. Vesting o
RSU entitles the holder thereof to receive a sbhmmmmon stock of the Company on a distributiotedafter payment of the $0.01 par v
per share).

Absent a change of control, ofmirth of vested shares of common stock underlgindRSU award will be distributed (after payn
of $0.01 par value per share) on January 1 of ed2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014. If a change in cbotours (whether prior to or after 201
the vested shares underlying the RSU award witlisiibuted at or about the time of the changeontil. No dividends accrue on the shi
underlying the RSUs prior to issuance by the Comp@he recipients of RSU awards need not be employe directors of the Company ¢
distribution date.

RSUs may generally not be transferred, except ietip of RSUs may designate beneficiaries to imltieeir RSUS upon their deat
A married recipient of an RSU award may generafily alesignate a spouse as a beneficiary unlessapoonsent is obtained.

Recipients of RSUs generally will not recognizeome when they are awarded RSUs (unless they ele@cbgnize income |
making a Section 83(b) election). RSU recipientt rgcognize ordinary income in an amount equathi® fair market value of the share:
the Companys common stock issued pursuant to a distributiadeuthe RSU. The Company will generally be entitiec tax deduction
the same amount.

As of the date of this Report the Company had g@amRSUs providing for the Compasyissuance of up to an aggregat
29,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stocgk0R7000 of such Restricted Stock Unit Awards estthird (1/3) on grant and tl
balance vest in equal monthly increments on tha flay of each month beginning January 1, 2006 eartting December 1, 2007. 1
remaining 2 million Restricted Stock Unit Awardssv&77,778 shares on grant and the balance vesjual monthly increments on the f
day of March 1, 2006 and ending December 1, 2007.
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Securities Authorized For Issuance Under Equity Cpansation Plan:

The following table includes information as of Ded®er 31, 2005 relating to the Company's 1995 a8 Biock Option Plans a
the Companys 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan, which cdegall of the equity compensation plans of then@any. The tab
provides the number of securities to be issued uperexercise of outstanding options and distringiunder outstanding Restricted S
Unit Awards under such plans, the weightegrage exercise price of outstanding options hechtimber of securities remaining available
future issuance under such equity compensatiorsplan

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION
NUMBER OF SECURITIES
REMAINING AVAILABLE

FOR
FUTURE ISSUANCE UNDER
NUMBER OF SECURITIES EQUITY
TO BE ISSUED UPON WEIGHTED-AVERAGE COMPENSATION PLANS
EXERCISE OF EXERCISE PRICE OF (EXCLUDING SECURITIES
OUTSTANDING OPTIONS, OUTSTANDING OPTIONS, REFLECTED IN COLUMN
PLAN CATEGORY WARRANTS AND RIGHTS  WARRANTS AND RIGHTS (a))
(@) (b) (©)

Stock Option Equity Compensation

Plans Approved by Security Holders 19,754,995 $0.27 616,655
Stock Option Equity Compensation

Plans Not Approved by Security

Holders 0 0 0
Restricted Stock Unit Equity

Compensation Plans Approved by

Security Holders 0 0 0
Restricted Stock Unit Equity

Compensation Plans Not Approved

by Security Holders 27,500,000 $0.01 2,500,000

TOTAL 47,254,995 $0.11 3,116,655

OPTION GRANTS AND RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARDS INOR5

The following tables present information regard{i)ghe grant of options to purchase shares ofGbmpanys common stock, ai
(i the award of Restricted Stock Units providifay the Companys future issuance of Common Stock, for each ofrthimed executiy
officers in 2005.

Individual Option Grants

Number of
Securities ~ Percent of Tota Potential Realizable Value of
Underlying Options Assumed Annual Rates of
Options Granted in Exercise Price Stock Price Appreciation
Name Granted Fiscal Year Per Share (1) Expiration Date for Option Term(2)

5% 10%
Andrew D. Reddick - - - - - -
Ron J. Spivey 4,000,000 100% $0.13 2014 $2,489,577 $4,054,419
Peter A. Clemens - - - - - -
James F. Emigh -- -- - - - -
Robert A. Seiser - - - - - -

(1) The stock option granted to Dr. Spivey providesviesting of 3,110,668 shares upon the grant, 464sB@res on January 1, 2006,
444,666 shares on April 1, 2006.

(2) The dollar amounts in these columns represent tienfial realizable value of each option assumimg the market price of t



Company’s common stock (based on the average dfltlsing bid and asked prices of the Compamgmmon stock on Decembe
2005, the date of grant of the stock option, of488) appreciates in value from the date of grarthat5% and 10% annual re
prescribed by regulation and therefore are nomnofed to forecast possible future appreciationnif, &of the price of the Comm
Stock.
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Individual Restricted Stock Unit Awards (“RSUSs”)

Number of % of Total Potential Realizable value at
Securities RSUs Granted Assumed Annual Rates of
Underlying to Employees Payment Price Stock Price Appreciation
Name RSUs Granted in Fiscal Year Per Share (1) Expiration Date for the RSU Term(2)
5% 10%
Andrew D. Reddick 8,250,000 30% $0.01 2014 $4,173,000 $6,385,600
Ron J. Spivey 6,600,000 24% $0.01 2014 $3,338,400 $5,108,500
Peter A. Clemens 4,400,000 16% $0.01 2014 $2,225,600 $3,405,700
James F. Emigh 1,375,000 5% $0.01 2014 $695,500 $1,064,300
Robert A. Seiser 1,650,000 6% $0.01 2014 $834,600 $1,277,100

(1) Each of the Restricted Stock Unit Awards vestihird (1/3) upon grant and the balance in equalthigrincrements on the first day
each month beginning January 1, 2006 and endingrleer 1, 2007. The vested shares underlying th&i&ed Stock Unit Awarc
will be issued by the Company on the earlier (Jl@nge of Control (as defined in the Compar005 Restricted Stock Unit Aw:
Plan), or (ii) January 1, 2011. In the event ofteage of Control, the Compamyissuance of the vested shares shall be madkimp
sum distribution. In the absence of a Change oft@grthe issuance of the vested shares shall e nmafour (4) equal installments
each of January 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, Jany&91B and January 1, 2014. Upon the Compadistribution of the vested sha
underlying the Restricted Stock Unit Awards, theipeents must submit to the Company the par vaf0d1 per share. The recipie
of the Restricted Stock Unit Awards have no rigddsa stockholder, including no dividend or votiights, with respect to the sha
underlying such awards until the shares are isbygle Company.

(2) The dollar amounts in these columns representatengal realizable value of each RSU assumingtti@mmarket price of the Commr
Stock (based on the average of the closing bidasked prices of the CompasyCommon Stock on December 22, 2005, the d:
award of Restricted Stock Units, of $0.3325) apiattes in value from the date of grant at the 5% Hd%h annual rates prescribed
regulation and therefore are not intended to faepassible future appreciation, if any, of theeprof the Common Stock.

AGGREGATE OPTION EXERCISED IN LAST FISCAL YEAR
AND FISCAL YEAR END OPTION VALUES

No stock options were exercised by the named eecafficers during 2005. The following table prateinformation regarding t
value of options outstanding at December 31, 200®#ch of the named executive officers.

NUMBER OF SECURITIES VALUE OF UNEXERCISED
UNDERLYING UNEXERCISED IN-THE-MONEY OPTIONS AT
OPTIONS AT FISCAL YEAR END FISCAL YEAR END (1)
NAME EXERCISABLE UNEXERCISABLE EXERCISABLE UNEXERCISABLE
Andrew D. Reddick 7,000,000 1,750,000 $945,000 $236,250
Ron J. Spivey 5,777,334 1,222,666 $779,940 $165,060
Peter A. Clemens 718,750 281,250 $12,656 $37,969
James F. Emigh 213,250 186,750 $8,404 $25,211
Robert A. Seiser 213,250 186,750 $8,404 $25,211

(1) Value is based upon difference between the exepnise of the options and the average of the ctp&ild and asked prices of -
Company’s Common Stock of $ 0.265 per share at bee 30, 2005.
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Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Paifiation

During 2005, the Company’Compensation Committee consisted of Messrs. ktaabSkelly and Reddick. During 2005, excep
Mr. Reddick, there were no Compensation Committéeriiocks or insider participation in compensati@eisions.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth information regamlithe beneficial ownership of the Common Stock,ofd-ebruary 1, 2006, f
individuals or entities in the following categori€g§ each of the Company's Directors and nomirfeeDirectors; (ii) the Chief Executi
Officer and the next four highest paid executiviicefs of the Company whose total annual compemsdtir 2005 exceeded $100,000
"named executive officers"); (iii) all Directors éiexecutive officers as a group; and (iv) eachgreksown by the Company to be a benef
owner of more than 5% of the Common Stock. Unled&ated otherwise, each of the shareholders Has/eting and investment power w
respect to the shares beneficially owned.

PERCENT
AMOUNT OF
NAME OF BENEFICIAL OWNER OWNED CLASS(1)
GCE Holdings LLC,
c/o Galen Partners lll, L.P.
610 Fifth Ave., EhFloor, New York, New York 1002 256,325,501(2) 78.2%
Oracle Strategic Partners, L.P
200 Greenwich Avenue, Suite 3, Greenwich, CT 06830 18,085,708(3) 5.5%
Andrew D. Reddick 7,750,000(4) 2.3%
Ron J. Spivey 7,000,000(5) 2.1%
William G. Skelly 401,000(6) ¥
Bruce F. Wesson -(2) *
William A. Sumner 250,000(7) *
Peter A. Clemens 1,127,823(8) *
Jerry N. Karabelas -(2) *
Immanuel Thangaraj -(2) *
Robert A. Seiser 275,250 (9) *
James F. Emigh 320,000(10) *
All Directors and Officers as a Group (10 persons) 17,124,323(11) 5.0%

*  Represents less than 1% of the outstanding sludithe Company's Common Stock.

(1) Shows percentage ownership assuming (i) such partyerts all of its currently convertible secutier securities convertible witt
60 days of February 1, 2006 into the Company's comstock, and (ii) no other Company securityholdmrverts any of its convertik
securities.

(2) GCE Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liabilityompany, is the assignee of all of the Compsuriyteferred Stock (prior to
conversion into common stock) formerly held by eatiBalen Partners Ill, L.P., Galen Partners Iraéiomal IIl, L.P., Galen Employ:
Fund Ill, L.P. (collectively, “Galen”), Care Caplitmvestments I, LP, Care Capital Offshore Invesins I, LP (collectively, Care
Capital”) and Essex Woodlands Health Ventures \R.L(“Essex”). Galen, Care Capital and Essex own 43%, 27% and
respectively, of the membership interests in GCHdidgs LLC. The following natural persons exerciggting, investment ar
dispositive rights over the Compasysecurities held of record by GCE Holdings LLQ: Galen Partners lll, L.P., Galen Partr
International 1ll, L.P. and Galen Employee Fund LIP., Wiliam Grant, Bruce F. Wesson, L. John kgitson, David W. Jaht
Zubeen Shroff and Srini Conjeevaram; and (ii) C@smital Investments I, LP and Care Capital Offghtmvestments Il, LP, J
Leschly, Jerry Karabelas and David Ramsay; andHgsex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., Inmaiiitengara;.

(3) Larry N. Feinberg exercises voting, investmeamd dispositive rights over the Company’s secuwitield of record by Oracle Strategic
Partners, L.P. The information with respect to Gr&trategic Partners is based on filings with@oenmission and/or information
provided to the Company.
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(4) Includes 7,750,000 shares subject to curresigrcisable stock options. Excludes 8,250,000 icéstk stock unit awards (“RSUg”
granted to Mr. Reddick. Mr. Reddick has no righisaastockholder, including no dividend or votinghtis, with respect to the shs
underlying the RSUs until the shares are issuetthé®y"ompany pursuant to the terms of Company’s Z&ricted Stock Unit Plan.

(5) Includes 7,000,000 shares subject to currentlyaisanle stock options. Excludes 6,600,000 RSUstgdato Dr. Spivey. Dr. Spive
has no rights as a stockholder, including no divéer voting rights, with respect to the sharesanlyithg the RSUs until the shares
issued by the Company pursuant to the terms of @ogip 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Plan.

(6) Includes 390,000 shares subject to currently exabté stock options. Excludes 1,000,000 RSUs giaotdr. Skelly. Mr. Skelly he
no rights as a stockholder, including no dividemdsating rights, with respect to the shares undegythe RSUs until the shares
issued by the Company pursuant to the terms oEtrapany’s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Plan.

(7) Includes 250,000 shares subject to currently esabdé stock options. Excludes 1,000,000 RSUs gilaatdir. Sumner. Mr. Sumn
has no rights as a stockholder, including no divéer voting rights, with respect to the sharesanlyithg the RSUs until the shares
issued by the Company pursuant to the terms o€timapany’s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Plan.

(8) Includes 812,500 shares subject to currently exabdé stock options. Excludes 4,400,000 RSUs giaotéir. Clemens. Mr. Cleme
has no rights as a stockholder, including no diwitler voting rights, with respect to the sharesanlythg the RSUs until the shares
issued by the Company pursuant to the terms of @ogip 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Plan.

(9) Includes 275,250 shares subject to currently esabde stock options. Excludes 1,650,000 RSUs gitaiotdr. Seiser. Mr. Seiser t
no rights as a stockholder, including no dividemdrating rights, with respect to the shares undegythe RSUs until the shares
issued by the Company pursuant to the terms of @ogip 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Plan.

(10) Includes 275,250 shares subject to currently esabté stock options. Excludes 1,375,000 RSUs gilant®r. Emigh. Mr. Emigh h:
no rights as a stockholder, including no dividemdsating rights, with respect to the shares undegythe RSUs until the shares
issued by the Company pursuant to the terms of @ogip 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Plan.

(11) Includes 16,753,000 shares which Directors andwgikecofficers have the right to acquire within é8ys of February 1, 2006 throt
exercise of outstanding stock options.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS

On February 10, 2004, the Company consummated \aterioffering of convertible senior secured debegtu(the "200
Debentures") in the aggregate principal amountppir@ximately $12.3 million (the "2004 Debenture @ig"). The 2004 Debentures w
issued by the Company pursuant to a certain Debertnd Share Purchase Agreement dated as of Fel§p2004 (the "2004 Purche
Agreement") by and among the Company, Care Capitslex Woodlands Health Ventures, Galen Partnergach of the purchasers listec
the signature page thereto. Of the approximate3dt@lion in debentures issued on February 10, 20@der in the 2004 Debenture Offeri
approximately $2 million of 2004 Debentures weriedd in exchange for the surrender of a like amotiptincipal plus accrued and unp
interest under the Company's convertible debentissaged to Care Capital, Essex Woodlands HealthiwwWes and Galen Partners dul
November and December, 20(

Effective August 13, 2004, the 2004 Debenturesliting the principal amount plus interest accruetha date of conversion) we
converted automatically into the Company's SeriesoAvertible preferred stock (“Series A Preferreat’a price per share (the "Conver:
Price") of $0.6425, representing the average ofctbsing bid and asked prices of the Company's Com8tock for the 20 trading d¢
ending February 4, 2004, as reported by the OTCB#. Company issued on an aggregate of approxima&iyillion shares of Series
Preferred of which approximately 5.2 million, 6.8limn and 6.8 million were issued to Care Capitassex Woodlands Health Ventures
Galen Partners, respectively, under the 2004 Debesiteld by such parties (representing 23.8%.98@8Bd 30.9%, respectively, of the ti
Series A Preferred issuable upon conversion o2@tel Debentures).
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As a condition to the completion of the 2004 PusehAgreement, the Company, the investors in thd P#bentures and the hold
of the Company's outstanding 5% convertible seséoured debentures due March 31, 2006 issued bgdimpany in during the period fr
1998 through 2003 (collectively, the "192803 Debentures"), executed a certain Voting Agezgrdated as of February 6, 2004 (the "Vc
Agreement”). The Voting Agreement provided thatheat Care Capital, Essex Woodlands Health VentaresGalen Partners (collective
the "Lead 2004 Investors") had the right to dedigiier nomination one member of the Company's Boirectors, and that the Lead 2!
Investors collectively may designate one additionamber of the Board (collectively, the "DesigngebY connection with the conversion
the Companys Preferred Shares (as described below), the Vdongement was amended to reflect to the conveyagceach of Ca
Capital, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures and Gagetmers of their holdings in the CompaniPreferred Shares (prior to its conversion
common stock) to GCE Holdings, LLC, a limited liilyi company controlled by such parties. As amendbd Voting Agreement provid
that the Board of Directors of the Company shalcbmprised of not more than seven (7) members, @uof whom shall be designees
GCE Holdings, LLC (as the assignee of the PrefeBkdres of the Company held by Care Capital, E¥¢eadlands Health Ventures ¢
Galen Partners). The designees of GCE Holdings, ateCMessrs. Karabelas, Thangaraj and Wesson,ctasgg, each of whom are curr
Board members. As of the date of this Report, theth designee of GCE Holdings had not been detethi

Simultaneous with the execution of a 2004 Purch®geement, and as a condition to the initial clgsof the 2004 Purcha
Agreement, the Company, the investors in the 20@bebtures and each of the holders of the IH® Debentures executed a cel
Debenture Conversion Agreement dated as of Feb&ya&t@04 (the "Conversion Agreement"). In accoréanith the terms of the Convers
Agreement, the 1998003 Debentures were converted automatically info@Gompany's Series B convertible preferred stduk (Series |
Preferred") and/or the Company's Series C convertiteferred stock (the "Series C Preferred"). .

It was a condition to the completion of the 200zbBmture Offering that the Company’s senior terrmlagreement (theWatsor
Loan Agreement”) with Watson Pharmaceuticals, [f\¢/atson”) be restructured to provide for a reduction in thiegipal amount of th
Watson term loan and for the assignment of the Wviaterm loan as restructured to Care Capital, E¥gesdlands Health Ventures, Ga
Partners and the other investors in the 2004 Debestas of February 10, 2004 (collectively, the t88a Note Purchasers"). According
simultaneous with the closing of the 2004 Purchisgeeement, each of the Company, Watson and thedivdiete Purchasers executec
Umbrella Agreement dated as of February 10, 2004 (Umbrella Agreement”). The Umbrella Agreemerdvides for (i) the Compan
payment to Watson of approximately $4.3 milliorconsideration of amendments to the Watson ternsrintthe aggregate principal amc
of approximately $21.4 million evidencing the Watsterm loan (the "Watson Notes") (A) to forgive eppmately $16.4 million ¢
indebtedness under that Watson Notes, leaving @ d8lion principal balance, (B) to extend the métudate of the Watson Notes fr
March 31, 2006 to June 30, 2007, (C) to providetfer satisfaction of future interest payments urtberWatson Notes in the form of
Company's Common Stock, and (D) to provide for fivbearance from the exercise of rights and rensedpon the occurrence of cerl
events of default under the Watson Notes (the Walkéates as so amended, the "2004 Note"), and (@sdh's sale and conveyance of
2004 Note to the Watson Note Purchasers for casbideration of $1.0 million. In addition to Wats@mrgiveness of approximately $1.
million of indebtedness under the Watson Notes;ualtent supply agreements between the Company\atsion were terminated and Wat
waived the dilution protections contained in thernaat previously granted to Watson to purchase @pprately 10.7 million shares
Common Stock, to the extent such dilution proteiwere triggered by the transactions contempiatéte 2004 Debenture Offering.

The 2004 Note in the principal amount of $5.0 maillis secured by a lien on all of the Company'sitmsubsidiaries' assets, carrir
floating rate of interest equal to the prime raigspt.5% and matures on June 30, 2007. The altotafi ownership of the $5.0 million 20
Note among each of the Watson Note Purchasers asgsiton the quotient of the principal amount of26@4 Debentures purchased by ¢
Watson Note Purchaser, divided by approximately. $idllion, representing the aggregate principabant of the 2004 Debentures issuel
the Company on February 10, 2004. As such, of &8 #illion principal amount of the 2004 Note, apgmately $1,352,000, $1,754,0
and $1,754,000, is owed by the Company to Caret@lagissex Woodlands Health Ventures and Galem&aitrespectively (represent
approximately 27%, 35% and 35%, respectively, ef2804 Note).
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Effective November 10, 2005, all of the Compasyissued and outstanding shares of preferred staok automatically ar
mandatorily converted into the Company’s commorclstin accordance with the terms of the CompaniRestated Certification
Incorporation (the “Preferred Stock Conversion). accordance with the conversion provisions comtdiin the Restated Certificate
Incorporation, all issued and outstanding shareth@fCompany’s Series A Preferred Stock, SeriegdBeRred Stock, Series CPreferre
Stock, Series C-2 Preferred Stock and Series GefefPed Stock (collectively, the “Preferred Stockfe converted automatically into
Company’s common stock upon the Compamgceipt of the written consent to the PreferramtiSConversion from the holders of at l¢
51% of the shares of the CompasBeries A Preferred Stock. On November 10, 20@5,Gompany received the consent to the Pref
Stock Conversion from GCE Holdings LLGthe assignee of all Preferred Stock (prior tacigversion to common stock) formerly helc
each of Care Capital Investments Il, LP, Care @hgiffshore Investments II, LP, Essex WoodlandsltHedentures V, L.P., Galen Partn
International 1, L.P., Galen Partners lll, L.-hcaGalen Employee Fund lll, L.P.), such entity lmddin the aggregate in excess of 51% o
issued and outstanding shares of the Company’ssSArPreferred Stock. In accordance with the tesfriie Companys Restated Certifice
of Incorporation, all shares of the Compan¥referred Stock were automatically converted amaggregate of approximately 305.4 mil
shares of the Company’s common stock.

The Company is a party to four (4) Loan Agreementspleted in January 2006, November, 2005, Septer2bé5 and June, 20
pursuant to which the Company has received bridg€ing in the aggregate principal amount $3.3ionilfrom Essex Woodlands Hea
Ventures V, L.P., Care Capital Investments Il, Rre Capital Offshore Investments Il, LP, Galentias International IIl, L.P., Gal
Partners 1, L.P., Galen Employee Fund lll, L.Rdacertain other shareholders of the Company listedhe signature page to such L
Agreements. Reference is made to “ltem 7-Managemddiscussion and Analysis of Financial ConditiondaResults of Operations -
Liquidity and Capital Resources” for a more detaitkescription of the bridge loan transactions.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The Companys registered independent public accounting firBO Seidman, LLP. The fees billed by this firm i@0% and 200
were as follows:

BDO Seidman, LLP 2005 2004
Audit Fees $67,867 $45,613
Audit-Related Fees $7,480 -
Total Audit and Audit-Related Fees $75,347 $45,613
Tax Fees $28,000 -

All Other Fees - -

Total for BDO Seidman, LLP $103,347 $45,613

Audit Fees include professional services rendarazbnnection with the annual audits of our finahsiatements, and the review of
the financial statements included in our Forms 1fQhe related annual periods. Additionally, Atigiees include other services that only an
independent registered public accounting firm easonably provide, such as services associatedeitrities and Exchange Commission
registration statements or other documents filatl thie Securities and Exchange Commission.

Audit-Related Fees include the audits of employee bepddits and accounting consultations related to wattarg, financie
reporting or disclosure matters not classifiedfAasdit Fees."

Tax Fees include tax compliance, tax advice ancptamning services. These services related to tepapation of various state ¢
federal tax returns.

There were no fees billed by our auditors for psefenal services rendered for products and serpoegided other than tha
described above.

Audit Committee's Pre-Approval Policies and Proaedu

Consistent with policies of the Commission regagd@iditor independence and the Audit Committee ©hathe Audit Committe
has the responsibility for appointing, setting cemgation and overseeing the work of the register@ependent public accounting firm (
“Firm”). The Audit Committee's policy is to pre-amve all audit and permissible non-audit servicesvjgled by the Firm. Prapproval i
detailed as to the particular service or categdrgeovices and is generally subject to a specifidget. The Audit Committee may also pre-
approve particular services on a casezhge basis. In assessing requests for servicd®liirm, the Audit Committee considers whether
services are consistent with the Fisnndependence, whether the Firm is likely to pilevine most effective and efficient service bageal



their familiarity with the Company, and whether g@vice could enhance the Company's ability toagaror control risk or impro
audit quality.

All of the auditrelated, tax and other services provided by BDQli@an in 2004 and 2005 and related fees (as dedciibthe
captions above) were approved in advance by thét Aanmittee.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AN D REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
(@)(1) Consolidated Financial Statements -- Seexnd Financial Statements.
(@)(2) None

(b) Exhibits -- See Index to Exhibits
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&fdhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this reg
to be signed on its behalf by the undersignedeti@o duly authorized.

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s ANDREW D. REDDICK

Andrew D. Reddicl
President and Chief Executive Offic

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 14, 2006

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons «
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated.

/s! Andrew D. Reddick President, Chief Executive Officer and Director February 14, 2006
Andrew D. Reddick (Principal Executive Officer)
/sl Peter A. Clemens Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer February 16, 2006
Peter Clemens (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/sl William G. Skelly Director February 15, 2006

William G. Skelly

/sl Bruce F. Wesson Director February 16, 2006
Bruce F. Wesson

/s/ William Sumner Director February 14, 2006
William Sumner

Director February __, 2006

Jerry Karabelas

/sl Immanuel Thangaraj Director February 16, 2006
Immanuel Thangaraj
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Palatine, lllinois

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Siabgisl as of December 31, 2005
2004 and the related consolidated statements afatpes, stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows &ach of the years then ended. Tl
financial statements are the responsibility of @@mpanys management. Our responsibility is to express @nian on these financi
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversightuBo(United States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thetsitmiobtain reasonable assurance about whethéindreial statements are free of mate
misstatement. The Company is not required to hawewere we required to perform, an audit of iteiinal control over financial reportir
Our audits included consideration of internal cohbver financial reporting as a basis for designaudit procedures that are appropria
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of esgimg an opinion on the effectiveness of the Comisamternal control over financ
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinidn.audit also includes examining, on a test basiglence supporting the amounts
disclosures in the financial statements, assegbi@gaccounting principles used and significantnesties made by management, as we
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@raWe believe that our audits provide a reastmbhsis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteaeferred to above present fairly, in all matergspects, the financial position of Ac
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiaries at Dece®bgeP005 and 2004, and the results of their opmratand their cash flows for the ye
then endedin conformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States of America.

The accompanying financial statements have begraprd assuming that the Company will continue gsiag concern. As described in N
B to the financial statements, the Company hassedfrecurring losses from operations and has aapétal deficiency that raise substar
doubt about its ability to continue as a going @nc Managemenrd’ plans in regard to these matters are also desciib Note B. Th
financial statements do not include any adjustm#érasmight result from the outcome of this undetia

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP
Chicago, lllinois

February 1, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Directors and Stockholders
ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

We have audited the accompanying consolidatednséates of operations, shareholders' equity (defai)l cash flows for the year en
December 31, 2003 of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Incsanubidiaries (formerly Halsey Drug Co., Inc. antb&diaries) (the "Company"). The
financial statements are the responsibility of @@mpany's management. Our responsibility is to &gran opinion on these finan
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audit in accordance with standafdee Public Company Accounting Oversight Bodtbhifed States). Those standz
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the finas@gments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on &ltasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disids in the financial statements.
audit also includes assessing the accounting piegiused and significant estimates made by maregemms well as evaluating the ove
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodit provides a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the financial statements referredbove present fairly, in all material respedis, tonsolidated result of operations and
flows for the year ended December 31, 2003 of Adeharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiaries, in confgrmwith accounting principle
generally accepted in the United States of America.

The accompanying consolidated financial statembat® been prepared assuming that the Company avitirnie as a going concern., -
Company incurred a net loss of $48,455,000 dutegyear ended December 31, 2003, and, as of thatttia Company's current liabilit
exceeded its current assets by $3,770,000, artdtékliabilities exceeded its total assets by 862,000. These factors, among other:
discussed in Note B to the financial statementseraubstantial doubt about the Company's abilitycontinue as a going conce
Management's plans in regard to these matterdsoralascribed in Note B. The financial statemenotsidt include any adjustments that m
result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP

New York, New York
February 26, 2004, except for the second paragriplote A, as to which the date is March 19, 2004
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Prepaid insurance
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets
PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT, NET

DEPOSITS

TOTAL ASSETS

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements.

DECEMBER 31, 2005 and 2004
(in thousands)

F-4

2005 2004

26C 3,102

17¢ 212

5 95

444 3,41(

1,341 1,55¢

7 2

1,792 4,967




ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED)

DECEMBER 31, 2005 and 2004
(in thousands, except share data)

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Senior secured term notes payable $

Current maturities of capital lease obligations
Accrued expenses

Total current liabilities

SECURED TERM NOTE PAYABLE

CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS, less current maturities

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

TOTAL LIABILITIES $

STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT

Common stock - $.01 par value;
650,000,000 shares authorized;
329,293,530 and 22,466,967 shares issued and
outstanding in 2005 and 2004, respectively

Convertible preferred stock - $.01 par value;
72,027,014 and 290,000,000 shares authorized
and available for issuance in 2005 and 28&ghectively;
none and 217,972,986 shares issued and
outstanding in 2005 and 2004, respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Unearned compensation

Accumulated deficit

STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT $

2005 2004
2,55( $ -
31 29
341 95¢
2,92; 98¢
5,00( 5,00(
32 64
7,95 $ 6,052
3,29¢ 22¢
- 2,18(
287,88t 277,12
(5,724 (1,07¢)
(291,610 (279,54)
(6,162 (1,088
1,79: $ 4,967

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
(in thousands, except per share data)

2005 2004 2003
Net product revenue $ - 8 83t $ 5,75(
Cost of manufacturing - 1,43¢ 11,70¢
Research and development 6,26¢ 4,13( 1,46(C
Selling, marketing, general and administrative 5,29¢ 5,23¢ 7,90:
Plant shutdown costs - - 1,92¢
Loss from operations (11,567 (9,965 (17,249
Other income (expense)
Interest expense (63€) (2,962 (6,007
Interest income 36 58 25
Amortization and write-off of debt discount and eleéd private debt offering
costs - (72,49) (24,777
Gain on debt restructuring - 12,40: -
Gain on asset disposals 81 2,35¢ -
Other 5 602 (464)
NET LOSS $ (12,079 $ (69,996 $ (48,455
Basic and diluted loss per common share $ (0.1¢) $ (3.20) $ (2.2¢)
Weighted average number of outstanding common share 66,57 21,86 21,22]

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteigements .
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
(in thousands, except par values)

Common Stock  Preferred Stock
$.01 Par Value  $.01 Par Value

Additional
Paid-in Unearned Accumulated
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Compensatior Deficit Total
Balance at January 1, 2003 21,03t 211 -$ -$ 148,61' % -$  (161,090%(12,269)
Net loss for the year endeDecember 31,

2003 - - - - - - (48,45% (48,455
Conversion of debentures 567 5 - - 322 - - 327
Issuance of warrant for lending commitment - - - - 581 - - 581
Beneficial conversion features in connection

with debt - - - - 7,17¢ - - 7,17¢
Issuance of warrant in severance - - - - 113 - - 113
Increase in fair value of warrants - - - - 457 - - 457
Balance at December 31, 2003 21,60: 21¢€ - - 157,26: - (209,544 (52,06
Net loss for the year endDecember 31,

2004 - - - - - - (69,996 (69,99¢)
Issuance of Common Shares for payment of

interest 86¢ 9 - - 391 - - 40C
Intrinsic value of issued options - - - - 3,03( (3,030 - -
Amortization of unearned compensation - - - - 55 1,952 - 2,007
Issuance of Preferred Shares for convertible

debentures:

Series A Convertible - - 21,96¢ 22C 13,89: - - 14,112
Series B Junior Convertible - - 20,24¢ 203 6,722 - - 6,92°¢
Series C-1 Junior Convertible - - 56,42 564 32,02t - - 32,58¢
Series C-2 Junior Convertible - - 37,43 374 22,05¢ - - 22,43
Series C-3 Junior Convertible - - 81,90" 81¢ 27,69: - - 28,51:
Beneficial conversion features in conjunction

with issuance of convertible debentures - - - - 14,00( - - 14,00(
Balance at December 31, 2004 22,467 22 217,97: 2,18 277,12¢ (1,07¢) (279,54) (1,08%5)
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Balance at December 31, 2004

Net loss for the year endDecember 31,
2005

Issuance of Common Shares for interest

Intrinsic value of issued optiorad restricte
stock units

Amortization of unearned compensation

Issuance of Common Shares for exercise of
options

Conversion of Preferred Shares:

Series A Convertible Preferred

Series B Junior Convertible

Series C-1 Junior Convertible

Series C-2 Junior Convertible

Series C-3 Junior Convertible

Balance at December 31, 2005

22,46 228 217,97 2,18C 277,12 (1,07¢) (279,54)  (1,08%)
- - - - - - (12,079 (12,07

962 10 - - 52% - - 53t

- - - - 11,108 (11,10% - -

- - - - - 6,45¢ - 6,45¢

35 1 - - 4 - - 5
109,81¢ 1,09¢ (21,969 (220) (87¢) - - -
20,24¢ 202 (20,246 (203) - - - -
56,42: 564 (56,427 (564) - - - -
37,43: 374  (37,43) (374 - - - -
81,90" 81¢ (81,907 (819) - - - -
329,29: $ 3,20: - $ - $287,88° $ (5,724 $(291,610 $ (6,167

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbesteiements .




ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003
(in thousands, except supplemental data)

2005 2004 2003
Cash flows from Operating Activities:
Net loss $ (12,079 $ (69,99¢) $ (48,45
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash irsegerating activities
Depreciation and amortization 137 291 811
Amortization of debt discount and deferred privégbt offering costs - 30,68¢ 24,77
Write off unamortized debt discount and deferraugie debt offering
costs - 41,80 -
Gain on debt restructuring - (12,407 -
Non-cash stock compensation expense 6,45¢ 2,007 -
Gain on Department of Justice settlement - (402 -
Amortization of deferred product acquisition costs - 6 42
Provision for losses on accounts receivable - (42¢) 351
(Gain) or loss on asset disposals (81) (2,359 7
Debentures and stock issued for interest expense 53t 401 3,241
Change in fair value of warrants due to modificatid terms - - 457
Impairment reserve against fixed assets - - 3,61¢
Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable - 72¢ (2,249
Inventories - 312 28
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 121 94 (76)
Other assets and deposits (5) 184 10z
Accounts payable - (1,882 (877)
Accrued expenses (618 1,46( 2,137
Total adjustments 6,54¢ 60,50: 32,27(
Net cash used in operating activities (5,52) (9,497 (16,085
Cash flows from Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures (35 (444) (410
Proceeds from asset disposals 192 4,53¢ R
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 15€ 4,09/ (410
Cash flows from Financing Activities:
Payments on senior secured term notes payable - (4,000 -
Proceeds from issuance of senior secured term pateble 2,55( - 2,00¢
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 5 - -
Payments to Department of Justice - (31) (32§
Payments on capital lease obligations (29 (45) (46)
Proceeds from issuance of subordinated convedidbentures - 11,95 6,60(
Payments of private offering costs - (315) -
Net cash provided by financing activities 2,52¢ 7,56( 8,22¢
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (2,849 2,161 (8,269
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 3,107 942 9,211
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 26C $ 3,10: $ 942




See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteigements .
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003
(in thousands, except supplemental data)

Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing erah¢ing activities:

Year ended December 31, 2005

1.
2.

The Company issued 963,000 shares of common stoplyanent of $535,000 of Secured Term Note Payaduried interest.
217,973,000 shares of Convertible Preferred Stamlewonverted into 305,829,000 shares of CommaotkSto

Year ended December 31, 2004

a b wWwN PP

. The Company's Convertible Subordinated Debentwetgamed beneficial conversation features whichewerlued at $14,000,000.

. The Company repaid $166,000 of indebtedness ifotine of product deliveries.

. Bridge Loans of $2,000,000 and accrued intere$#8f000 were converted into like amounts of ConblertSubordinated Debentures.
. The Company issued 865,000 shares of common sgplyanent of $400,000 of Senior Secured Term Nayalfle accrued interest.

. Convertible Subordinated Debentures of $100,632A0 accrued interest of $3,939,000 were convertted 217,973,000 shares

Convertible Preferred Stock.

Year ended December 31, 2003

aorwnhE

o

The Company's bridge loans contained beneficialexmion features valued at $578,000.

The Company's convertible debentures containedfis@aieonversation features valued at $6,600,000.

The Company issued $3,241,000 of debentures asquayohlike amounts of debenture accrued interest.

The Company repaid $2,037,000 of indebtednesseifioitm of product deliveries.

The Company issued 645,000 warrants with an esnetlative fair value of $582,000 for the lendicgmmitment in the form
debentures and bridge loans.

The Company issued 567,000 shares of common stmk conversion of $327,000 of debentures.

The Company issued 150,000 warrants with an esinatlative fair value of $113,000 in connectiorthwihe termination of ¢
employment agreement.

Equipment financed through capital leases aggrdggiproximately $111,000.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbesteiements .
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
NOTE A - DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company is a New York corporation establismetid35. Prior to the restructuring of the Companpsrations described belc
the Company was engaged in the development, manouacsale and distribution of generic finished atps pharmaceutical produ
(“Generic Products”) and active pharmaceutical édggnts ("APIs"). On November 6, 2003, the Compangounced a restructuring plar
focus on research and development related to issdan®Technology and Opioid Synthesis Technologies. Ikintpits determination, t
Board of Directors considered, among other factibis,Company's ability and time required to gerepetsitive cash flow and income fr
the operation of the Company's manufacturing, pgickg labeling and distribution facilities locatedCongers, New York (collectively, t
"Congers Facilities") in the manufacture and disttion of Generic Products pursuant to abbreviatd drug applications ("ANDAs").

In implementing the restructuring of operationsttee Congers Facilities, Generic Product manufaetunperations substantie
ceased on January 30, 2004. Packaging and labafiagations ceased approximately February 12, 2@@4qaality assurance and rele
support activities ceased on approximately Febr@dry2004. Such dates also mark the substantiapletion of the reduction in work for
of approximately 70 employees engaged in theseitees at the Congers Facilities. On February 1804 the Company and Muti
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Mutual”) entered into aredpurchase agreement pursuant to which the Congeda certain inactive, norevenus
generating ANDAs to Mutual in consideration of $arillion. The decision to divest ANDAs was basedyomg other things, on t
Company’s revised business strategy which focusesesearch and development of the Aversiohechnology and the Opioid Synthe
Technologies, and that the Company had ceasedtmperat the Congers Facilities. On March 19, 2@bd,Company and its whollgwnec
subsidiary, Axiom Pharmaceutical Corporation (“Axi) entered into an asset purchase agreement with Ph@xmaceuticals New Yo
LLC (“lvax”) pursuant to which the Company and Aricsold to Ivax substantially all of the Compasngssets used at the Congers Faci
in consideration for $2.5 million. The asset saéms$action with lvax was completed on August 13420

As restructured, the Compaisya specialty pharmaceutical company primarilyagegl in research, development and manufact
innovative abuse deterrent, abuse resistant angetarasistant formulations ("AversiéiTechnology") intended for use in orally administl
opioid-containing pharmaceutical products. The Canys lead product candidate utilizing the Aversfolechnology, OxyADF™ tablet:
(formerly referred to by the Company as Productdidate #2) is being developed pursuant to an aativestigational new drug applicati
(“IND”) on file with the U.S. Food and Drug Admiriation (“FDA”).

To a much lesser extent, during 2004 and early 2065 Company was engaged in the research, develdpamd manufacture
proprietary, highyield, short cycle time, environmentally sensitiygioid synthesis processes (the "Opioid Syntheshifiologies") intendt
for use in the commercial production of certainkbapioid active pharmaceutical ingredients (“APIgH) early 2005, the Company susper
development and commercialization efforts relatmt¢he Opioid Synthesis Technologies.

A s the date of this Report, the Company had thre@dsSprovisional and two international patent aggiions pending relating to
Aversion® Technology and six (6) issued US patents and tl{8geUS patent applications pending relating to pgioid Synthesi
TechnologiesAs of the date of this Report, the Company retainathership of all issued patents, patent applicatiaother intellectu
property and commercial rights to its product cdatks, Aversion® Technology and Opioid Synthesishfielogy.

The Company conducts research, development, laisgrahanufacturing and warehousing activities fo Aversion® Technolog:

at its Culver, Indiana facility (the "Culver Fatjfi). The Culver Facility is registered by the UStug Enforcement Administration (t
"DEA") to perform research, development and martufacfor certain Schedule I\ controlled substances in bulk and finished dodages
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To generate revenue, the Company expects to aerttedevelopment and commercialization agreements strategically focuse
pharmaceutical company partners (the "Partnergi)iging that such Partners license the Compapydduct candidates utilizing the Avers
® Technology and further develop, register and comiakize multiple formulations and strengths of sypebduct candidates in the U.S. .
international territories. The Company expectseireive milestone payments and a share of profidgoamoyalty payments derived from
Partners' sale of products incorporating the Aweréi Technology. As the date of this Report, the Compditynot have any execut
collaborative agreements with Partners, nor camnetfe any assurance that the Company will sucdgssfoter into such collaborati
agreements in the future.

Summary of Accounting Policies

A summary of the significant accounting policiesisistently applied in the preparation of the accanying consolidated financial statem
follows.

1. Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include theoants of the Company and its whollyned subsidiaries, Acura Pharmaceu
Technologies, Inc., and Axiom Pharmaceutical Caxpon. All material intercompany accounts and teatisns have been eliminat
During 2003, the Company dissolved all of its imagetsubsidiaries with the exception of Acura Phareuwgical Technologies, Inc. a
Axiom Pharmaceutical Corporation. The dissolutidnttee inactive subsidiaries had no impact on thesotidated financial positio
results of operations or cash flows of the Compdrye Company is currently in the process of digaglvAxiom Pharmaceutic
Corporation.

2. Statements of Cash Flows

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, tragany considers all highly liquid debt instrumentischased with an original matui
of three months or less to be cash equivalents Cdmpany paid no income taxes for the years endm@idber 31, 2005, 2004 and 2(
In addition, the Company paid cash interest of apiprately $101,000, $47,000 and $526,000 for the years ended Decenihe20B5
2004 and 2003, respectively.

3. Accounts Receivable - Trade and Allowance Accounts

Consistent with the cessation of the manufactucesate ofGeneric Products in the first quarter of 2004, @wmpany had no accou
receivable from customers at each of December @15 and 2004. For prior periods, the Company'swattsareceivable trade were du
from customers for the purchase of Generic Prod@tsdit was extended based on evaluation of amests financial condition ar
generally, collateral was not required. Estimatest were used in determining allowances were basedhe Company's historic
experience, current trends, credit policy and agreiage of its accounts receivable by aging cayegor

Changes in the Company's trade allowance accotm@ssdollows (in thousands):

2004 2003
Beginning balance $ 42¢ % 14
Provision for losses on accounts receivable - 351
Provision for all other allowances - 71
Write-offs (42¢) (8)
Ending balance $ - $ 42¢
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4. Inventories
The Company had no inventories at each of DeceBihe2005 and 2004.

5. Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at Eegireciation is recorded on a straighe basis over the estimated useful lives o
related assets. Amortization of capital lease asieincluded in depreciation expense. Leaseholrdrements are amortized ol

straightline basis over the shorter of their useful liveshe terms of their respective leases. Bettermam@apitalized and maintena
and repairs are charged to operations as incuffezlestimated lives of the major classificatiodepreciable assets are:

Building and building improvements 10 - 40 years

Land improvements 20 - 40 years

Machinery and equipment 7 - 10 years

Scientific equipment 5-10years

Computer hardware and software 3-10years

Office equipment 5-10years
6. Asset Impairment

Long{ived assets are reviewed for impairment whenewents or changes in circumstances indicate theyiogrivalue may not t
recoverable. Impairment is measured by compariegcthrrying value of the lonlived assets to the estimated undiscounted futast
flows expected to result from use of the assetstheid ultimate disposition. To the extent impaimhbas occurred, the carrying amc
of the asset would be written down to an amoumétiect the fair value of the asset.

7. Deferred Private Debt Offering Costs

Private debt offering costs represented costs iadusy the Company in conjunction with securingtdatancing. The Company incurr
approximately $582,000 in private debt offering tsogluring the year ended December 31, 2003 in cefipn with a lendin
commitment received for the private offering of weties in the form of Debentures and Bridge LodPisvate debt offering costs wi
amortized to interest expense over the life of rated obligations. In August 2004, all outstagddebentures were converted
various series of preferred stock and approximéai@ly7,000 of unamortized deferred private debtrvfiecosts were charged to expense.

8. Debt Discount

Debt discount resulting from the issuance of stwekrants in connection with the issuance of sulmat@id debt and other notes pay
as well as beneficial conversion features containezbnvertible debt instruments was recorded s=daction of the related obligatic
and was amortized over the remaining life of tHatesl obligations. Debt discount related to thelstoarrants issued is determined |
calculation which is based on the relative fairuesl ascribed to such warrants determined by maragtmuse of the Blacgehole:
valuation model. Inherent in the Bla8choles valuation model are assumptions made byageament regarding the estimated life of
warrant, the estimated volatility of the Comparggsnmon stock (as determined by reviewing its hisédipublic market closing price
and the expected dividend yield. In August 2004 oatstanding debentures were converted into vargeries of preferred stock ¢
approximately $41,090,000 of unamortized and ontktey debt discount was charged to expense.
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9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

Revenue Recognition

The Company had no Generic Product sales reverftexssacond quarter 2004. Prior to that, @@mpany recognized revenue, ne
sales discounts and allowances, when title to thee@c Products passed to the customer, which matwpon shipment. The Compi
established sales provisions for estimated chagfsbadiscounts, rebates, returns, pricing adjustsn@emd other sales allowan
concurrently with the recognition of revenue. Tlades provisions were established based upon coasigle of a variety of factor
including, but not limited to, actual return andtbrical experience by product type, the number @méhg of competitive produc
approved for sale, the expected market for the ympdestimated customer inventory levels by prodpdte declines and current ¢
projected economic conditions and levels of contipeti Actual product return, chargebacks and oH#des allowances incurred we
however, dependent upon future events.

Shipping and Handling Costs

Prior to cessation of the manufacture and sale efe@c Products in the first quarter of 2004, @@mpany included all shipping &
handling expenses incurred as a component of ¢osaoufacturing.

Research and Development

Prior to the cessation of development, manufactuneé sale of Generic Products, research and develup(R&D) expenses consis
primarily of activities associated with developmehiGeneric Products and the Compan@pioid Synthesis Technologies. During 2
and beginning in the first quarter of 2004, R&D emrpes were primarily associated with the CompafAy&rsion® Technology and, to
much lessor extent, the CompamyOpioid Synthesis Technologies. R&D expensesudelinternal R&D activities and use of exte
contract research organizations (CROs). InternBDRexpenses include items such as facility overheadintenance, repair a
depreciation, laboratory supplies, equipment maguee, repair and depreciation, salaries, bendfitgntive compensation and ot
administrative expenses. CRO expenses includesiteuth as preclinical laboratory experiments, cdihitrials, clinical trial an
regulatory consulting and patent counsel. R&D esps are charged to operations as incurred. Timep&uy reviews and accrt
clinical trial expenses based on work performed ratyl on an estimate of the costs applicable tostage completion of a clinical tri
Accrued clinical costs are subject to revisionsash trials progress to completion. Revisionsdrarged to expense in the perio
which the facts that give rise to the revision lreedknown.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under thditiamethod in accordance with Statement of FmahAccounting Standards N
109 ("SFAS No. 109"), "Accounting for Income TaxXeslnder this method, deferred income tax assetsliabdities are determine
based on differences between financial reportirgd) tai bases of assets and liabilities and are me@sising the enacted tax rates
laws that will be in effect when the differences axpected to reverse. A valuation allowance iabdished if it is more likely than n
that all, or some portion, of deferred income tasets will not be realized. The Company has recbadiell valuation allowance to redt
its net deferred income tax assets to zero. Inethent the Company were to determine that it wowdable to realize some or all
deferred income tax assets in the future, an adprst to the deferred income tax asset would ineréasome in the period su
determination was made.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The computation of basic earnings (loss) per slbhreommon stock is based upon the weighted avenageber of common shal
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings gfeare are based on the same number of commorssidjusted for the effect of otl
potentially dilutive securities. Excluded from tB605, 2004 and 2003 computation are approximat8d|4%,565, 356,204,000 ar
249,877,000, respectively, of outstanding restiici®ck units, options, and warrants and the effetbutstanding convertible debentt
and convertible preferred stock which would haverbantidilutive.
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14. Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has three stooised compensation plans covering stock optiongesidcted stock units for its employees and dinex
which are described more fully in Note H.

The Company accounts for stobksed compensation using the intrinsic value methatcordance with Accounting Principles Bc
Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Hayees," and related Interpretations ("APB No. 2&1y has adopted the disclos
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting rié@rds No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compgos - Transition an
Disclosure, ("SFAS No. 148"), an amendment of FABBtement No. 123. Under APB No. 25, when the ésenarice of the Compan
employee stock options or restricted stock unitsaés)the market price of the underlying common Iston the date of grant,
compensation expense is recognized. Accordinglycampensation expense has been recognized in tisal@ated financial stateme
in connection with these types of grants for 2008 earlier. When the exercise price of the Compaeryployee stock options
restricted stock units is less than the marketepo€ the underlying common stock on the date ohigraompensation expense
recognized.

The following table illustrates the effect on nesd and loss per share had the Company appliefdithealue recognition provisions
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No., 12&8counting for Stock-Based Compensation (“SFAZ3”)," to stockbasel
employee compensation for these types of stoclooii restricted stock unit grants.

Year ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share data)

2005 2004 2003

Net loss, as reporte $ (12,079 $ (69,990 $ (48,45%)
Add: total stock-based employee compensation expieictuded in reported net

loss 6,45¢ 1,952 -
Deduct: total stock-based employee compensatioaresgodetermined under

fair value-based method for all awards (7,242 (3,05¢) (662)
Net loss, pro form $ (12,859 $ (71,10 $ (49,117
Loss per share:

Basic and Diluted EPS - as reported $ (0.1¢) $ (3.20 $ (2.28)

Basic and Diluted EPS - as pro forma $ (0.19) $ (3.25 $ (2.3)

Pro forma compensation expense may not be indeafifuture expense.

For purposes of estimating the fair value of eaobksoption or restricted stock unit on the datgaint, the Company utilized the Black-

Scholes option-pricing model. The Bla8kholes option valuation model was developed far insestimating the fair value of trac
options, which have no vesting restrictions and fally transferable. In addition, option valuatiomodels require the input of higt
subjective assumptions including the expected Wityafactor of the market price of the Compasycommon stock (as determined
reviewing its historical public market closing p@#). Because the Company's employee stock optiothgestricted stock units he
characteristics significantly different from thosktraded options and because changes in the $iegjécput assumptions can materi
affect the fair value estimate, in management'siopj the existing models do not necessarily preddeliable single measure of the
value of its employee stock options or restrictedls units.
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15.

16.

17.

The weighted-average option and restricted stodkfain values and the assumptions used to estithatge fair values are as follows:

Grants issued during

2005 2004 2003
Expected life (years) 4 2-5 2.5
Risk-free interest rate 4.5% 2.4% -4.€% 1.8%
Expected volatility factor 12(% 73% -87% 94%
Dividend yield 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Weighted average fair value $ 037 $ 0.2t % 0.5¢

During 2005 and 2004, the Company granted apprdgimd,000,000 and 13,175,000 stock options, respdg. In 2005, the Compal
granted 27,500,000 restricted stock units. Theseksiptions and restricted stock units had an ésemrice less than the market pric
the underlying common stock on the date of grandes APB No. 25, compensation expense is recogtiaretthe difference between 1
exercise price of the employee stock option orriest stock unit and the market price of the ulydieg stock on the date of grant. Tc
compensation expense of approximately $14,136,d0(& recognized over the vesting period of théi@ps and stock units, of whi
approximately $6,459,000 an§1,952,000 was recorded in 2005 and 2004, respgtiv

In 2004, the Company recorded compensation expei$85,000 on the issuance of 200,000 stock opfioe®nnection with separati
agreement of an employee.

Equity instruments issued to nonemployees in exghdar goods, fees and services are accountednfterithe fair valudrased methc
of SFAS No. 123.

Use of Estimates in Consolidated Financial Statemén
The preparation of consolidated financial statesiémtconformity with accounting principles geneyadiccepted in the United State:
America requires management to make estimates aadassumptions that affect the reported amoun@sséts and liabilities a
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the datetloé consolidated financial statements, as wethasreported amounts of revenues

expenses during the reporting period. Actual restduld differ from those estimates.

Management periodically evaluates estimates us#teipreparation of the consolidated financialestegnts for continued reasonabler
Appropriate adjustments, if any, to the estimateduare made prospectively based on such periediaations.

Carrying Amount and Fair Value of Financial Instrum ents
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalensoapnates fair value due to the shtatm maturities of the instruments. The
value of the Company's short-term and laegn debt approximates the book value based umpriximity of the issuance of new d
where the cash consideration received equaledatteevalue of the debt.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to thr pgars' amounts to conform to the current ygmesentation.
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New Accounting Pronouncements
Share-Based Payment

On December 16, 2004, the FASB released FASB Stateido. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Paym&Rf3B 123R")". Thest
changes in accounting replace existing requirementer FASB Statement No. 123, “Accounting for 8t8ased Compensationanc
eliminates the ability to account for share-baseshmensation transaction using APB Opinion No.25¢counting for Stock Issued
Employees”. The compensation cost relating to shased payment transactions will be measured bas#tedair value of the equity
liability instruments issues. This Statement dogischange the accounting for similar transactionslving parties other than employe
Publicly traded companies must apply this Standardf the beginning of the first annual period thegins after June 15, 2005.

FASB 123R permits public companies to choose batviwe adoption methods, one of which is the “maifprospectiveitnethod. Th
modified prospective method recognizes compensatishbeginning with the effective date (a) basedhe requirements of FASB 12
for all sharebased payments granted after the effective datécaadards modified, repurchased, or cancelled it date and (b) bas
on the requirements of FASB Statement No. 123 Haaveards granted to employees prior to the effectiate of FAS 123R that rem
unvested on the effective date. The cumulativecefié initially applying this Statement, if any, iecognized as of the required effec
date. The Compang’required effective date is January 1, 2006. Thea@any has not completed its evaluation of the ochphadoptini
FASB 123R on its consolidated financial statemdygsause it will depend on levels of shaesed payments granted in the ful
However, the Company has estimated $100,000 otiaddl unearned compensation will be recorded aqetresed over the applica
remaining vesting periods for all shdvased payments granted to employees on or befareniizer 31, 2005 that remain unveste
January 1, 2006. The Company anticipates that mwamgpensation costs will be recorded in the futfithe use of options and restric
stock units for employees and director compensatiottinues as in the past.

Changes and Error Corrections

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Finan&@dounting Standards No. 154, “Accounting Changed Error Corrections A
Replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statdmmn 3, (“SFAS 154”").SFAS 154 primarily requires retrospective applims
to prior periodsfinancial statements for the direct effects of aesin accounting principle, unless it is impraaie to determine eith
the periodspecific effects or the cumulative effect of thewebe. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting charagekcorrections of errc
made in fiscal years beginning after December 0852and early adoption is permitted. The Compamgquired to adopt the provis
of SFAS 154, as applicable, beginning in fiscal@00

NOTE B - BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying financial statements have begraped assuming the Company will continue as a goamgern. Agestructurec
the Company is no longer engaged in the manufactndesale of Generic Products. As a result, the 2oy has no ability presently
generate revenue from product sales. Accordingly Gompany must rely on its current cash reseovésnd the development of its Avers
® Technology and related ongoing administrative aperating expenses. The Company's future sourcesvehue, if any, will be derivi
from contract signing fees, milestone payments mydlties and/or profit sharing payments from lisees for the Company's Aversién
Technology. The Company estimates that its cuicash reserves, including the net proceeds fronddahaary 2006 Bridge Loan describe
Note J will be sufficient to fund the developmeifittlee Aversion® Technology and related operating expenses throudktavlate March
2006. To fund further operations and product dgualent activities, the Company must raise additidimancing, or enter into alliances
collaboration agreements with third parties. Nauemsce can be given that the Company will be ssfekm obtaining any such financing
in securing collaborative agreements with thirdtiparon acceptable terms, if at all, or if securét such financing or collaborat
agreements will provide for payments to the Compsufficient to continue to fund operations. In #iesence of such financing or thipdsty
collaborative agreements, the Company will be meglito scale back or terminate operations and/ek gotection under applical
bankruptcy laws.
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Even assuming the Company is successful in secuiltitional sources of financing to fund the coméid development of t
Aversion® Technology, or otherwise enters into alliancesallaborative agreements relating to the Aversiorechnology, there can be
assurance that the Company's development effolttsesgult in commercially viable products. The Camny's failure to successfully deve
the Aversior® Technology in a timely manner, to obtain an issue8. patent relating to the Aversi@rirechnology and to avoid infringil
third-party patents and other intellectual propeidits will have a material adverse impact orfiitancial condition and results of operations.

In view of the matters described above, recoveitghif a major portion of the recorded asset amsisitown in the Compan
accompanying consolidated balance sheets is depengden continued operations of the Company, wirctkurn are dependent upon
Company's ability to meet its financing requirensenn a continuing basis, to maintain present fimancand to succeed in its futi
operations. The Company's financial statementsoddnelude any adjustment relating to the recoviitptand classification of recorded as
amounts or amounts and classification of liab#itieat might be necessary should the Company Haaitacontinue in existence.

NOTE C - FINANCING TRANSACTIONS
2004 Debenture Offering

On February 10, 2004, the Company consummated \aterioffering of convertible senior secured debegtu(the "200
Debentures") in the aggregate principal amountppir@ximately $12.3 million (the "2004 Debenture @iig"). The 2004 Debentures w
issued by the Company pursuant to a certain Delbertnd Share Purchase Agreement dated as of Fel§p2004 (the "2004 Purche
Agreement”) by and among the Company, Care Capitastments, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures, GRlners and each of
purchasers listed on the signature page theretoAmih 14, 2004 and May 26, 2004, the Company catgad additional closings under
2004 Purchase Agreement raising the aggregate grosseds received by the Company from the offeahthe 2004 Debentures to §
million. The 2004 Debentures carried an interett f 1.62% per annum and were secured by a lieallomssets of the Company and
assets of Acura Pharmaceutical Technologies, it Axiom Pharmaceutical Corporation, each a whollred subsidiary of the Company.

In accordance with the terms of the documents @rddn connection with the 2004 Debenture Offerigffgctive August 13, 200
the business day following the Company's receighafreholder approval to restate the Company'sfiCate of Incorporation to authorize t
Series A Preferred and the Junior Preferred SHarsedescribed below) as provided in the 2004 Pgecigreement, the aggregate princ
amount of the 2004 Debentures converted into ameggie of 21,963,757 shares of the Compau8eries A Preferred shares. In addi
effective August 13, 2004, the Compasg% convertible debentures issued during the gerom 1998 through 2003 in the aggre:
principal amount of approximately $86.6 million ¢inding $6.6 million in 2003) were converted inttetCompanys Series B Prefern
shares, Series C-1 Preferred shares, Series Ci&rieéceshares and Series C-3 Preferred shares){ther Preferred Shares’As the resul
on August 13, 2004, the Company issued an aggregasé@proximately 20.2 million Series B Preferrdthies, 56.4 million Series C-
Preferred shares, 37.4 million Series C-2 Prefestgates and 81.9 million Series3CPreferred shares. As a result of the convergloa
Company wrote off $41.8 million of unamortized dei#tcount and deferred private debt offering costs.

Conversion of Preferred Shares into Common Stock

Effective November 10, 2005, all of the issued antstanding preferred shares of the Company we@raiically and mandatori
converted into the Company’s common stock, $.0lvpare per share (the “Common Stock”) in accordamitie the terms of the Compargy’
Restated Certification of Incorporation (the “Preéel Stock Conversion”)n accordance with the conversion provisions com@iin th
Restated Certificate of Incorporation, all issued autstanding shares of the Compangeries A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferredks
Series C-1 Preferred Stock, Series C-2 PreferredkSand Series C-3 Preferred Stock (collectivety tPreferred Stock”are converte
automatically into the Company’s Common Stock upi@ Companys receipt of the written consent to the PreferretiSConversion fro
the holders of at least 51% of the shares of thmg2mys Series A Preferred Stock. On November 10, 20@5,Gompany received t
consent to the Preferred Stock Conversion from Glitlings LLC (the assignee of all of the Companyreferred Stock (prior to
conversion into Common Stock) formerly held by eatlCare Capital Investments II, LP, Care Capitéfskore Investments Il, LP, Ess
Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., Galen Partnetsrhational lll, L.P., Galen Partners lll, L.P.da@alen Employee Fund lIll, L.P.), st
entity holding in the aggregate in excess of 51%thaf issued and outstanding shares of the CompaBgties A Preferred Stock.
accordance with the terms of the Company’s Rest&tedificate of Incorporation, all shares of then@anys Preferred Stock we
automatically converted into an aggregate of apprately 305.4 million shares of the Compasizommon Stock. After giving effect to -
Preferred Stock Conversion, effective November2l5 the Company had an aggregate of approxima@gdy0 million shares of Comm
Stock issued and outstanding.
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At December 31, 2005, convertible preferred stamhsists of the following (in thousands):

Authorized
Number of Preferred
Authorized Number of Common Shares
Preferred Converted Shares Available
Shares at Preferred Issued Upon for Issuance at
Convertible Preferred Stock 12/31/04 Shares Conversion 12/31/05
Series A 45,00( 21,96¢ 109,81¢ 23,03¢
Series B Junior 25,00( 20,24¢ 20,24¢ 4,754
Series C-1 Junior 70,00( 56,42: 56,42: 13,577
Series C-2 Junior 50,00( 37,43 37,43: 12,567
Series C-3 Junior 100,00( 81,907 81,907 18,00:
Total 290,00( 217,97 305,82¢ 72,02%
NOTE D - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are summarized &safsl(in thousands):
December 31,
2005 2004
Building and building improvements $ 1,48t $ 1,51(
Land and land improvements 161 127
Machinery and equipment 2,324 3,42¢
Scientific equipment 473 45C
Computer hardware and software 19¢€ 25E
Office equipment 42 174
Other personal property 50 48
Construction in progress 1 5
4,732 5,99/
Less accumulated depreciation and amortizationu@neg $53 in 2005 and $35 in 2004 on capital
leased assets) (3,279 (4,309
1,461 1,69
Less impairment reserve (120 (13¢)
$ 1,341 % 1,55¢

Equipment of $146,000 is recorded under capitalizeges in categories of scientific equipment affideoequipment at December
2005 and 2004.

Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaded December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was appately $137,000, $291,0
and $811,000, respectively.
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NOTE E - ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses are summarized as follows (instuis):

December 31,

2005 2004

Bonus, payroll, payroll taxes and benefits $ 50 $ 573
Legal fees 74 34
Audit examination and tax preparation fees 65 85
Franchise taxes 20 -
Property taxes 52 30
Clinical, regulatory, trademarks, and patent cainsylffees 78 10¢
Directors fees 2 -
Clinical and laboratory testing services - 47
Litigation settlement - 25
Medicaid rebates - 50
Other fees and services - 7

$ 341 $ 95¢

NOTE F - TERM NOTE PAYABLE AND STOCK WARRANTS

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, notes payable dedsid the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2005 2004
Term note payable (a) $ 5,000 $ 5,00(
Bridge loans (b) $ 2,55 $ -
Capital lease obligations 63 93
2,61 93
Less: Current maturities (2,587 (29)
$ 32 % 64

(a) The Company was a party to a certain loan agreemigmtWatson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Watson") parguo which Watson made te
loans to the Company (the "Watson Term Loan Agredthén the aggregate principal amount of $21.4lionl as evidenced by tv
promissory notes (the "Watson Notes"). It was ad@n to the completion of the 2004 Debenture @ffg that simultaneous with t
closing of the 2004 Purchase Agreement, the Comphalf have paid Watson the sum of approximatel $4illion (which amount we
funded from the proceeds of the 2004 Debentureridffeand conveyed to Watson certain Company agsetsnsideration for Watsol
forgiveness of approximately $16.4 million of indediness under the Watson Notes, resulting in al$hlion gain for the Company. /
part of such transaction, the Watson Notes werendatbto extend the maturity date of such notes farnch 31, 2006 to June 30, 20
to provide for satisfaction of future interest pants under the Watson Notes in the form of the Gomijs Common Stock, to reduce
principal amount of the Watson Notes from $21.4liorilto $5.0 million, and to provide for the forbbeace from the exercise of rig
and remedies upon the occurrence of certain ewantefault under the Watson Notes (the Watson Nateso amended, the "2(
Note"). Simultaneous with the issuance of the 200te, each of Care Capital, Essex Woodland Headthtes, Galen Partners and
other investors in the 2004 Debentures as of Fepri@, 2004 (collectively, the "Watson Note Puraa¥) purchased the 2004 N
from Watson in consideration for a payment to Wiatsb$1.0 million.

The 2004 Note in the principal amount of $5.0 roiilli as purchased by the Watson Note Purchasesscised by a lien on all of t
Company's and its subsidiaries' assets, carriesatinig rate of interest equal to the prime ratespt.5% and matures on June 30, 2



The carrying interest rate at December 31, 2005 Mag5% and increased to 12.0% on January 31, 20662004 Note contains cr(
default provisions with each of the outstandingdBe Loans.
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(b)

November 2005 Bridge Loan

The Company is a party to a Loan Agreement, datedehber 9, 2005 (the “November 2005 Bridge Loane&grnent”)by anc
among Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., Capgital Investments II, LP, Care Capital Offshémgestments Il, LP, Gal¢
Partners 1ll, L.P., Galen Partners Internationgl LIP., Galen Employee Fund I, L.P. and certather shareholders of the Comp
listed on the signature page thereto (collectiviilg, “November 2005 Bridge Lendergioviding for bridge financing to the Compan
the principal amount of $1.05 million (the “Novemi®#905 Bridge Loan”)The net proceeds from the November 2005 Bridge Lafial
the satisfaction of related expenses, are being mgeéhe Company to continue the development cdusrsion® Technology and to fur
operating expenses. The terms of the November Boid§e Loan are identical to the terms of the Jayn@806 Bridge Loan (See Note
except that (i) the lien securing the November 2Bfiige Loan is junior in right of payment and lipriority to the January 2006 Brid
Loan, and (ii) the funding event is $5.05 million.

September 2005 Bridge Loan

The Company is a party to a Loan Agreement, datgdenber 16, 2005 (the “ September 208sidge Loan Agreement®y anc
among Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., Capgital Investments I, LP, Care Capital Offshémgestments I, LP, Gal¢
Partners Ill, L.P., Galen Partners InternationglLIP., and Galen Employee Fund I, L.P. (colieely, the “ September 2005Bridge
Lenders”) providing for bridge financing to the Cpamy in the principal amount of $ 0.5 million (th&eptember 2005 Bridge Loan”
The net proceeds from the Septemi2005 Bridge Loan, after the satisfaction of relagggenses, were used by the Company to cor
the development of its AversionBechnology and to fund operating expenses. Thestefrthe September 2005 Bridge Loan are idet
to the terms of the January 2006 Bridge Loan (set N), except that (i) the September 2005 BridganLrequired that the Compz
maintain minimum cash reserves of $200,000, (&)lten securing the September 2005 Bridge Loaari®j in right of payment and li
priority to each of the January 2006 Bridge Load &me November 2005 Bridge Loan, and (iii) the Hogdevent is $4.0 million. C
October 20, 2005, the September 2005 Bridge Lendaiged the requirement that the Company maintammum cash reserves
$200,000 until such time as the Company receivdgiadal financing providing net proceeds to thenfpany of at least $2.0 million.

June 2005 Bridge Loan

The Company also is a party to a Loan Agreemergdddune 22, 2005 (the “June 2005 Bridge Loan Agesd”) by and amon
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., Care @hpivestments I, LP, Care Capital Offshore Inmestts I, LP, Galen Partners
L.P., Galen Partners International Ill, L.P., andléd Employee Fund llI, L.P. (collectively, the h#2005 Bridge Lendersfroviding
for bridge financing to the Company in the prin¢ipmount of $1.0 million (the “June 2005 Bridge bda The net proceeds from 1
June 2005 Bridge Loan, after the satisfaction déteel expenses, were used by the Company to centinel development of
Aversion® Technology and to fund operating expenses. Thestafthe June 2005 Bridge Loan are identical totéhes of the Janug
2006 Bridge Loan (see Note J), except that (i)Jinge 2005 Bridge Loan required that the Companytaiai minimum cash reserves
$200,000, (ii) the lien securing the June 2005 @eid.oan is junior in right of payment and lien pitip to each of the January 2(
Bridge Loan, the November 2005 Bridge Loan andShptember 2005 Bridge Loan and (iii) the Fundingrivamount is $3.5 millio
On October 20, 2005, the June 30, 2005 Bridge Lmsndaived the requirement that the Company maint@mimum cash reserves
$200,000 until such time as the Company receivdgiadal financing providing net proceeds to then(pany of at least $2.0 million.

Stock Warrants

At December 31, 2005, the Company had outstandangnmon stock purchase warrants exercisable for gneggte of 16,241,5
shares of common stock. Of such warrants 5,390,9@8e issued in connection with the issuance of edible debentures, bridge lo:
and financing commitments during the years 1998uph 2003, 10,700,665 were issued to Watson inexdion with their agreement
amend the Watson Loan at December 20, 2002, an@0®Wvere issued in 2003 as part of the settletsents with a former executi
officer of the Company. During 2005, approximatél§,635,000 warrants expired unexercised and appedrly 197,000, 310,0C
154,000 and 15,581,000 warrants are scheduled piareeX unexercised during the years 2006, 2007)82@nd years thereaft
respectively.
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The following table summarizes information abouimooon stock purchase warrants outstanding at DeaeBihe?005 (shares
thousands):

Warrants outstanding

Weighted
Average Weighted
Range of Remaining Average
Exercise Prices Shares Life in Years Exercise Price
$0.13 to $0.66 16,24: 6.37 $ 0.34

NOTE G - INCOME TAXES

Reconciliations between the statutory federal inedax rate and the Company's effective incomedtxwere as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Amount % Amount % Amount %

Federal statutory rate $ (4,109 (34)%$ (23,799 (34)%$ (15,96¢) (34) %
Loss for which no benefit was provided 4,104 34 3,71¢ 5.3 4,357 9.2
Non-deductible financing costs - - 24,64 35.2 11,58¢ 24.¢
Federal tax carryback refund - - (122 (.2 - -
Debt forgiveness - - (4,307 (6.2) - -
Department of Justice settlement - - (137 (.2 11 A
Other 1 - 1 - 9

Actual tax benefit $ - - % - - % - -

The Company has net operating loss carryforwardseggting approximately $135.9 million, expiringrishg the years 2009
through 2025.

The tax loss carryforwards of the Company and utssiliaries may be subject to limitation by SectB82 of the Intern:
Revenue Code with respect to the amount utilizableh year. This limitation reduces the Companyilityalo utilize net operating lo:

carryforwards included above each year. The amoiuthie limitation has not been quantified by tharany.

During 2004, the Company adjusted its net operdtiag carryforward. Because a full valuation alloeawas placed against
Company’s net deferred income tax asset, this adpra had no effect on the 2004 or prior year foianstatements.
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The components of the Company's deferred incomadsats (liabilities), pursuant to SFAS No. 108,sarmmarized as follows (in
thousands):

December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 57,74¢  $ 55,17¢ $ 55,99¢
Stock compensation 3,55¢ 843 -
Accrued expenses 16 254 20¢
Accrued shutdown costs 50 71 703
Debt issue costs 12 - -
Asset reserves - - 1,01€
Research and development tax credit - - 29
Capital loss carryforwards - - 212
Other 66 71 73
Depreciation - - 20
Gross deferred tax assets 61,44 56,417 58,25¢
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation (39) (26) -
Net deferred tax assets
before valuation allowance 61,40¢ 56,39: 58,25¢
Valuation allowance (61,409 (56,397 (58,25¢)
Net deferred tax assets $ - 9 - $ -

SFAS No. 109 requires a valuation allowance agalafgrred tax assets if, based on the weight dfabta evidence, it is mo
likely than not that some or all of the deferrexl éssets may not be realized. The valuation alloeat December 31, 2005, 2004
2003 primarily pertains to uncertainties with restpte future utilization of net operating loss gdorwards.
NOTE H - EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

1. 401(k) and Profit-sharing Plan

Effective October 1, 1998, the Company establishd@1(k) and profisharing plan for all employees other than those ey unde
collective bargaining agreements. Eligible emplays®y elect to make a basic contribution of up3®6lof their annual earnings. 1
plan provides that the Company can make discratyomatching contributions equal to 25% of the f8%6 of employee contributions -
an aggregate employee contribution of 1.5%, aloitf @ discretionary profisharing contribution. The Company incurred no esg
under the plan in 2005, 2004 and 2003.

2. Stock Option Plans

In September 1995, the stockholders of the Compapyoved the adoption of a stock option and rdettistock purchase plan (
"1995 Option Plan"). As of December 31, 2005, inis@nstock options to purchase 322,510 shares andjunalified options to purcha
106,390 shares were granted under the 1995 StotkrOplan. In May 2005, the 1995 Stock Option Péaipired and the remaini
unissued shares allocated to the Plan were teretindthe average per share exercise price for #dtanding options under the 1¢
Stock Option Plan is approximately $1.64. At DecemB1, 2005, options to purchase approximately 9B, shares remaint
outstanding.

In June 1998, the stockholders of the Company amgrthe adoption of a stock option plan (as amendetite, the "1998 Optir
Plan"). The 1998 Option Plan provides for the granbf (i) nonqualified options to purchase the (oamy's common stock at a pt
determined by the Stock Option Committee, andr{ientive stock options to purchase the Compargisnecon stock at not less than
fair market value on the date of the option grémtlune 2002, the shareholders of the Company apgra resolution to increase the t



number of shares which may be sold pursuant t@ogtand rights granted under the 1998 Option RIa)100,000. In August 20(
the shareholders of the Company approved a regplti increase this amount to 20,000,000. No opt&m be granted under the 1
Option Plan after April 2008 and no option can lbéstanding for more than ten years after its grabhiDecember 31, 2005, options
purchase approximately 19,326,095 shares remaustboding and 616,655 were available for graneutize 1998 Option Plan.

F-23




A summary of the Company's stock option plans d@exfember 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, and for thesykan ended consisted of
following (shares in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Exercise Exercise Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Outstanding, beginning 17,49¢ % 0.44 352t % 1.8: 500¢ % 1.8C
Granted 4,00( 0.1z 14,47* 0.12 45 0.9¢
Exercised (35 0.1z O] - ) -
Cancelled (1,709 1.6t (501 1.8t (1,529 1.6¢
Outstanding, ending 19,758 $ 0.27 17,49¢ $ 0.4¢ 352 $ 1.82
Options exercisable, end

of year 15,69¢ $ 0.31 955¢ $ 0.6¢ 2871 $ 1.91

The following table summarizes information abowatc&toptions outstanding at December 31, 2005 (sharthousands):

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average

Remaining Weighted Average Weighted Average
Range of Exercise Prices Shares Life in Years Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price
$0.13 to $1.00 18,29¢ 8.3t $ 0.14 14,23¢ $ 0.1¢
$1.01 to $2.00 80C 3.3¢ 1.41 79¢ 1.41
$2.01 to $4.38 661 2.77 2.4C 661 2.4C
Total 19,75t 7.9¢ $ 36.0¢ 15,69¢ $ 0.31

3. Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan

On December 22, 2005, the Board of Directors adbfite Company’s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit AwardnP{the 2005 RSL
Plan”) for its employees and non-employee directArRestricted Stock Unit (“RSUepresents the contingent obligation of the Compa
deliver a share of its common stock to the holdethe RSU on a distribution date. RSUs for up ton30ion shares of common stock .
authorized for issuance under the 2005 RSU Plae. Gbmpany believes that the 2005 RSU Plan doesewnplire shareholder appros
Nevertheless, the Company intends to seek shamheltification for the 2005 RSU Plan at its nextindal Shareholde’ Meeting.

The RSU Plan is administered by the Compargbard of Directors or a Committee appointed by Board of Directors. RS
granted under the 2005 RSU Plan vest on a scheétéemined by the Board of Directors or such Coremitis set forth in a restricted st
unit award agreement. Unless otherwise set fortbutch award agreement, the RSUs fully vest upohaage in control (as defined in
2005 RSU Plan) of the Company or upon terminatibaro employees employment with the Company without cause or udeath c
disability, and in the case of a non-employee dinesuch persos’death or disability or if such person is not rairated as a director (ott
than for “cause” or refusal to stand for re-elec}ior is not elected by the Compasystockholders, if nominated. Vesting of an RSUtles
the holder thereof to receive a share of commorkstbthe Company on a distribution date (aftermant of the $0.01 par value per share).
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Absent a change of control, ofmirth of vested shares of common stock underlgindRSU award will be distributed (after payn
of $0.01 par value per share) on January 1 of ed2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014. If a change in cbotours (whether prior to or after 201
the vested shares underlying the RSU award witlisiibuted at or about the time of the changeontil. No dividends accrue on the shi
underlying the RSUs prior to issuance by the Comp@he recipients of RSU awards need not be emplope directors of the Company ¢
distribution date. RSUs may generally not be tramsfl, except recipients of RSUs may designatefiotarges to inherit their RSl upot
their death.

The following table summarizes information abowtrieted stock unit awards outstanding at DecerBhieR005 (in thousands):

Restricted stock units outstanding
Number
Shares Number vested issuable

27,500 9,167 -

Of the RSUs granted to date, one third vested gpant and the other two thirds vest on a straigig-nonthly basis through
December 2007.

NOTE | - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The following table presents the Company's expectstt payments on contractual obligations at Deee®ib, 2005 (in thousands):

Due in Due in Due in Due
Total 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter
Notes payabls $ 7,55 $ 2,55( $ 5,00 $ -$ -
Capital leases 63 31 26 6 -
Operating leases 35 30 5 - -
Annual interest on fixed rate debt 12¢ 12¢ - - -
Employment agreements 74C 74C - - -
Total contractual obligations $ 8,51¢ $ 3,47¢ $ 5031 $ 6% -
Expected cash payments on contractual obligations Due in Due in Due in Due
entered into subsequent to December 31, 2005 Total 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter
Notes payabl $ 75C $ 75C $ -$ -$ -
Annual interest on fixed rate debt 25 25 - - -
$ 77t $ 775 $ - $ - $ -
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Employment Contracts

Andrew D. Reddick is employed pursuant to an Emplent Agreement effective as of August 26, 2003amended, whic
provides that Mr. Reddick will serve as the CompsuGhief Executive Officer and President for a texpiring December 31, 2006. 1
term of the Employment Agreement provides for awtienone (1) year renewals in the absence of wiriti@ice to the contrary from t
Company or Mr. Reddick at least ninety (90) day®rpto the expiration of the initial term or anybsequent renewal period. 1
Employment Agreement provides for an annual bakeysaf $300,000 plus the payment of annual borfuspoto one hundred perci
(100%) of Mr. Reddick's base salary based on theeaement of such targets, conditions, or parareetermay be set from time to ti
by the Board of Directors or the Compensation Cottemiof the Board of Directors. For the Compami006 fiscal year, the Employm
Agreement provides for a cash bonus equal to 100%iro Reddick’'s then current base salary (the “20D&sh Bonus”upon thi
Company'’s receipt of aggregate proceeds of at BESD million on or before March 31, 2007 fromadfering of the Companyg’ equity
securities and/or from license fees or milestongmEnts from thirdearty licensing or similar transactions (subjecttte payment of
pro+ata portion of the 2006 Cash Bonus provided the@ay receives aggregate gross proceeds from sdattions of at least $1
million on or before March 31, 2007). The EmploymAgreement also provides for the Compangtant of stock options and restric
stock units to Mr. Reddick. The Employment Agreetmeantains standard termination provisions, inalgdupon death, disability,
Cause, for Good Reason and without Cause, whiceritain cases provides for severance payments &moale yeas salary and oth
termination benefits

Ron J. Spivey, Ph.D., is employed pursuant to arpleypment Agreement effective as of April 5, 2004, amended, whic
provides that Dr. Spivey will serve as the CompaB8enior Vice President and Chief Scientific Offiéar term expiring December &
2006 an annual base salary of $260,000 plus theg@atyof annual bonus of up to one hundred perd€%) of Dr. Spivey's base sal¢

Peter A. Clemens is employed pursuant to an EmpdoyrAgreement effective as of March 10, 1998, asratad, which provids
that Mr. Clemens will serve as the Company's Seviioe President and Chief Financial Officer foream expiring December 31, 200¢
an annual base salary of $180,000 plus the payafiemt annual bonus of up to one hundred percel®g @f Mr. Clemens base salary.

The terms of the Employment Agreements with Drv8piand Mr. Clemens are similar to those of Mr. dRekl

Legal Proceeding

In May 2001, the Company was named as a defendat action entitled Alfred Kohn v. Halsey Drug @othe Supreme Cot
of New York, Bronx County. The plaintiff sought, ang other things, damages of $1.0 million for breat an alleged oral contract
pay a finder's fee for a business transaction inmglthe Company. In March 2005, the Company amdettate of Mr. Kohn agreed
settle this matter, pursuant to which in Decemi52he Company made a one-time payment of $35,000.

NOTE J - SUBSEQUENT EVENT
January 2006 Bridge Loan

The Company is a party to a Loan Agreement, datedalry 31, 2006 (the “January 2006 Bridge Loan Agrent”)by and amon
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., Care @hpivestments I, LP, Care Capital Offshore Inmestts I, LP, Galen Partners
L.P., Galen Partners International I, L.P., Gatemployee Fund Ill, L.P. and such Additional Lersdlas may become a party pursua
the terms of the January 2006 Bridge Loan Agreer(amitectively, the “January 2006 Bridge Lenderdi)accordance with the terms
the January 2006 Bridge Loan Agreement, on JanBhr2006 the January 2006 Bridge Lenders provideddge loan to the Compa
in the aggregate principal amount of $750,000. Jareuary 2006 Bridge Loan Agreement also permitduthding of additional loans
the principal amount of up to $250,000 and, with tonsent of any two of Care Capital Investmenssek Woodlands Health Ventu
and Galen Partners, additional loan amounts mytagiteed to by the Company and the January 20@@8tienders (theJanuary 20C
Bridge Loan”).No assurance can be given that additional loansb@iimade available to the Company under the JarR@06 Bridg:
Loan Agreement. The net proceeds from the Janua®g Bridge Loan, after the satisfaction of relagegbenses, will be used by
Company to continue the development of its Aver®idrechnology and to fund operating expenses. Thealgr2006 Bridge Loan
secured by a lien on all of the Compagssets, senior in right of payment and lien jiyido all other indebtedness of the Company.
January 2006 Bridge Loan bears interest at theofatn percent (10%) per annum and matures on Jup@06. The January 2006 Bri
Loan is subject to mandatory pre-payment by the @om upon the Comparg/’completion of equity or debt financing or anyes
transfer, license or similar arrangement pursuamttich the Company or any of its Subsidiariessséitenses or otherwise grant right
any material portion of the Compasyintellectual property to any third party, providihat the consummation of any such transa
results in cash proceeds to the Company, net @abals and expenses, at least equal to the suin&&.Q5 million, plus (ii) the aggreg:
principal amount of the January 2006 Bridge Loan“Fanding Event”). The January 2006 Bridge Loan Agreement restricé



Companys ability to issue any shares of its currently atitted Series A, B or C preferred stock without phier consent of the Janui
2006 Bridge Lenders, and grants the January 20@y8tenders preemptive rights relating to theasse of the Company’Series A, |
and C preferred stock. The January Bridge Loanaiositcross default provisions with the 2004 Note aach of the outstanding Bric
Loans.
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The January 2006 Bridge Loan Agreement also cosmtairmal and customary affirmative and negativeeoawnts, includin
restrictions on the Comparsyability to incur additional debt or grant anynlien the assets of the Company or its subsidiasiggect ti
certain permitted exclusions.

NOTE K - QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Selected quarterly consolidated financial datda@as below (in thousands, except per share data):

For the Three Month Period Ending
September  December

March 31, June 30, 30, 31, Annual Year
2005 2005 2005 2005 2005
Net product revenues $ -$ -$ -$ -$ -
Loss from operations (1,909 (1,266 (1,479 (6,919 (11,567
Net loss (1,94¢) (1,387) (1,63%) (7,110 (12,075
Loss per common share - basic and diluted $ (.09 % (.06) $ (.07 $ (.04 $ (.18

For the Three Month Period Ending
September  December

March 31, June 30, 30, 31, Annual Year
2004 2004 2004 2004 2004

Net product revenues $ 62¢ $ 21C $ -$ -$ 83¢
Loss from operations (2,089 (2,120 (3,810 (1,957 (9,965
Amortization and write-off of debt discount and eleéd

private debt offering costs (10,849 (13,817 (47,83¢) O] (72,49)
Gain on debt restructuring 12,40: - - - 12,40:
Gain (loss) on asset disposals 1,754 1 633 (29 2,35¢
Net income (loss) $ 68C $ 17,119 % (51,480 $ (2,089 $ (69,99¢)
Earnings (loss) per common share - basic $ 02 % (79 % (2.35 % (.09) $ (3.20)
Earnings (loss) per common share - diluted $ .0C $ (79 % (2.35 % (.09 $ (3.20)

Effective November 10, 2005, all of the issued antstanding preferred shares of the Company we@raiically and mandatori
converted into an aggregate of approximately 30&ldon shares of the Compars/Common Stock, $.01 par value per share in acooe
with the terms of the Compars/Restated Certification of Incorporation (see No}eAfter giving effect to the conversion, the Qumny ha
an aggregate of approximately 329.0 million shafe€ommon Stock issued and outstanding. THeQuarter 2005 loss per common st
amount of ($.04) reflects the increased weightegfraye common shares outstanding due to the préfstoek conversion during the®™
Quarter 2005. The impact of the conversion cause2005 quarterly loss per share amounts not taupdd and equal the 2005 annual
per share amount.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

The following exhibits are included as a part aé thnnual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated heisy reference.

EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DOCUMENT

3.1
3.2
3.3
4.1

4.2

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.5(1)

10.5(2)

10.5(3)

10.5(4)

10.5(5)

10.6

Certificate of Incorporation and amendments (inooaped by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registsafinnua
Report on 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999

Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to BxBifi to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on FAOR) for
the quarter ended June 30, 1993).

Restated By-Laws (incorporated by reference to lki3i.3 to the Registrant's Annual Report FormKLésr the
year ended December 31, 1998 (the "1998 For-K")).

Form of 5% Convertible Senior Secured Debentureofimorated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Regid'
Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 20, Z062"December 2002 Form 8-K")).

Form of Convertible Senior Secured Debenture isgueduant to the Debenture and Share Purchase rgre
dated as of February 6, 2004 (incorporated by eefe to Exhibit 4.1 of the Registrant's Currentdepn Forn
8-K dated February 10, 2004 (the "February 2004nFaiK").

Credit Agreement, dated as of December 22, 1992ngnthe Registrant and The Chase Manhattan Bark.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thegRtrant's Annual Report on Form KOfor the year ende
December 31, 1992 (the "1992 Form 10-K")).

Amendment Two, dated as of January 12, 1994, taliCAgreement among the Registrant and The C
Manhattan Bank, N.A., together with forms of Stékrrant and Registration Rights Agreement (incoaiped b
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Ahrfegport on Form 16 for the year ended December 31, 1
(the "1993 Form 10-K")).

Amendment Three, dated as of May 31, 1994, to €raédreement among the Registrant and The C
Manhattan Bank, N.A. (incorporated by referenc&xbibit 6(a) to the Registrant's Quarterly Repaortrarm 10-
Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1994).

Amendment Four, dated as of July 1994, to CredittAment among the Registrant and The Chase Man
Bank, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibia)o(o the Registrant's Quarterly Report on FormQLfdr the
quarter ended June 30, 1994).

Amendment Five, dated as of March 21, 1995, to iCradreement among the Registrant and The C
Manhattan Bank, N.A. (incorporated by referenc&xaibit 10.7 to the Registrant's Current Report-onm 8K
dated March 21, 1995 (the "March 1995 8-K")).

Form of Warrants issued to The Bank of New Yorke T@hase Manhattan Bank, N.A. and the Israel Dist
Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5¢i)the Registrant's Annual Report on FormKL@er the yea
ended December 31, 1995 (the "1995 Form 10-K")).

Letter Agreement, dated July 10, 1995, among thgisRant, The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., The Bai
New York and Israel Discount Bank of New York (imporated by reference to Exhibit 6(a) to the Regit:
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter entlate 30, 1995 (the "June 1995 10-Q")).

Letter Agreement, dated November 16, 1995, amoadrigistrant, The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., Téuek
of New York and Israel Discount Bank of New Yorkdgorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25(iv) te 99!
10-K).

Amendment 6, dated as of August 6, 1996, to CrAdieement among the Registrant, The Chase Manl
Bank, N.A., The Bank of New York and Israel Disco@ank of New York (incorporated by reference tchibit
10.1 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant's QuigriReport on Form 1@ for the quarter ended June 30, 1
(the "June 1996 10-Q").

Letter Agreement, dated March 25, 1997 among thgisRant, The Chase Manhattan Bank, as succes
interest to The Chase Manhattan Bank (National giation), The Bank of New York and Israel Disco@&aink.
Agreement Regarding Release of Security Intereatsddas of March 21,1995 by and among the Regis
Mallinckrodt Chemical Acquisition, Inc. and The GeaManhattan Bank, N.A. (incorporated by refereta
Exhibit 10.9 of the March 1995 8-K).
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NUMBER

DOCUMENT

10.7
10.8
10.10(1)
10.10(2)

10.10(3)
10.11

10.12

10.12())

10.13

10.14
10.15
10.16
10.17
10.18

10.19

10.20
10.21
10.22

10.23

10.24

Consulting Agreement dated as of September, 1998vele@ the Registrant and Joseph F. Limon
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to t883 Form 10-K).

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 1888yeen the Registrant and Rosendo Ferran (incatex
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the 1992 Form 10-K)

Registrant’s 1984 Stock Option Plan, as amendexbiorated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the 186@én 10-
K).

Registrants 1995 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Purchése (fhcorporated by reference to Exhibit 4..
the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form B8 No. 33-98396).

Registrant’s Non-Employee Director Stock OptionrPla

Leases, effective February 13, 1989 and January920, respectively, among the Registrant and Milik
Ackerman, Sue Ackerman, Lee Hinderstein, Thelmadkiistein and Marilyn Weiss (incorporated by refeeett
Exhibits 10.6 and 10.7, respectively, to the Regrgts Annual Report on Form 10for the year ended Decem|
31, 1989).

Lease, effective as of April 15, 1988, among theji&eant and Milton J. Ackerman, Sue Ackerman,

Hinderstein, Thelma Hinderstein and Marilyn Weessd Rider thereto (incorporated by reference taitkixh0.12
to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-Ktif@ryear ended December 31, 1987).

Lease, as of October 31, 1994, among RegistrantMitidn J. Ackerman, Sue Ackerman, Lee Hinders
Thelma Hinderstein and Marilyn Weiss, together wiflodification, Consolidation and Extension Agreet
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12(i)le 1995 Form 10-K).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of March 21, E®86ng Mallinckrodt Chemical Acquisition, |
("Acquisition™), Mallinckrodt Chemical, Inc., as grantor and the Registrant (incorporated by refad¢a Exhibi
10.1 to the March 1995 8-K).

Toll Manufacturing Agreement for APAP/Oxycodone Tedb dated as of March 21, 1995 between Acquis
and the Registrant (incorporated by reference tuliix10.2 to the March 1995 8-K).

Capsule ANDA Option Agreement dated as of March 2995 between Acquisition and the Regisl
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to tharbh 1995 8-K).

Tablet ANDA Non competition Agreement dated as cdrbh 21, 1995 between the Registrant and Acqun
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to tharbh 1995 8-K).

Subordinated NomNegotiable Promissory Term Note in the amount g28Q,00 dated March 21, 1995 issue:
the Registrant to Acquisition (incorporated by refee to Exhibit 10.5 to the March 1995 8-K).

Term Note Security Agreement dated as of March1®B5 among the Company, Houba, Inc. and Acquis
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to therth 1995 8-K).

Amendment dated March 21, 1995 to SubordinationeAgrent dated as of July 21, 1994 between Mallirot
Chemical, Inc., Acquisition, the Registrant, Thea€& Manhattan Bank (National Association), IsraisicBun
Bank of New York, The Bank of New York, and The Gaaanhattan Bank (National Association) (incorpeg
by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the March 1995 8-K)

Agreement dated as of March 30, 1995 between tlgsiRant and Zatpack, Inc. (incorporated by refeeett
Exhibit 10.10 to the March 8-K).

Waiver and Termination Agreement dated as of M&@h1995 between Zuellig Group, W.A., Inc. and &md
Fine Chemicals Corporation (incorporated by refeegio Exhibit 10.11 to the March 1995 8-K).

Convertible Subordinated Note of the Registranedd@ecember 1, 1994 issued to Zatpack, Inc. (irwmatpd b
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the March 8-K).

Agreement dated as of March 30, 1995 among thesRagt, Indiana Fine Chemicals Corporation, ZuegHigup
N.A., Inc., Houba Inc., Zetapharm, Inc. and ZueBigtanical, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Bith10.13 t(
the March 1995 8-K).

Supply Agreement dated as of March 30, 1995 betwdeunba, Inc. and ZetaPharm, Inc. (incorporate
reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the March 1995 8-K).




EXHIBIT

NUMBER DOCUMENT

10.25 Form of 10% Convertible Subordinated Debenturecfiporated by reference to Exhibit 6(a) to the JU®@5 10-
Q).

10.26 Form of Redeemable Common Stock Purchase Warnacorfiorated by reference to Exhibit 6(a) to thee
1995 10-Q).

10.27 Form of 10% Convertible Subordinated Debenturedfiporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Regigt:
Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 4, 1885"December 1995 8-K")).

10.28 Form of Redeemable Common Stock Purchase Warratrfiorated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Delne
1995 8-K).

10.29 Form of 10% Convertible Subordinated Debenturedfiporated by reference to Exhibit 99 to the Jun@61%0-
Q).

10.30 Form of Redeemable Common Stock Purchase Warnaeurfiorated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amend
No. 1 to the June 1996 -Q).

10.31 Form of 5% Convertible Senior Secured Debentureofimorated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Regid'
Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 24, 1998 (ilarch 1998 8-K")).

10.32 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (incorporayetference to Exhibit 4.2 to the March 1998 8-K)

10.33 Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agreement datechM#xc1998, by and among the Registrant, Galeméz

lll, L.P. and the other Purchasers listed on theaiure page thereto (incorporated by referenésxkabit 10.1 t
the March 1998 8-K).

10.34 Form of General Security Agreement of Registrariedidarch 10, 1998 (incorporated by reference thilkit
10.2 to the March 1998 8-K).

10.35 Form of Agreement of Guaranty of Subsidiaries ofiReant dated March 10, 1998 (incorporated byreafee ti
Exhibit 10.3 to the March 1998 8-K).

10.36 Form of Guarantor General Security Agreement dtacch 10, 1998 (incorporated by reference to ExHibis
to the March 1998 8-K).

10.37 Stock Pledge Agreement dated March 10, 1998 bybemtaeen the Registrant and Galen Partners lli,, la
agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.BheoMarch 1998 8-K).

10.38 Form of Irrevocable Proxy Agreement (incorporatgdadference to Exhibit 10.6 to the March 1998 8-K).

10.39 Agency Letter Agreement dated March 10, 1998 by ammbng the purchasers a party to the Debentur
Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated March 10, 19@8rfborated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the dfiat99¢
8-K).

10.40 Press Release of Registrant dated March 13, 1888rfiorated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the d¥ak998 8-
K).

10.41 Current Report on Form R-as filed by the Registrant with the Securitiesl &ixchange Commission on Ma
24,1998.

10.42 Letter Agreement between the Registrant and the Department of Justice dated March 27, 1998 rajatid the
restructuring of the fine assessed by the Depaitofeiustice under the Plea Agreement dated Jun&9®B.

10.43 Employment Agreement dated as of March 10, 199&dwn the Registrant and Michael K. Reicher (incoapea

by reference to Exhibit 10.43 to the Registrantmal Report of Form 18- for the year ended December
1997 (the "1997 Form 10-K")).

10.44 Employment Agreement dated as of March 10, 199&éwxt the Registrant and Peter Clemens (incorpotal
reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the 1997 Form 10-K).

*10.44A First Amendment to Employment Agreement made akiné 28, 2000 between the Registrant and Petere@kem

10.45 Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreerhetween Registrant and Peter A. Clemens, dated

January 5, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Hixhih1 to the Registrant's Current Report on F8rK datec
January 28, 2005).

10.46 Third Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemeated December 22, 2005 between Registrant and
A. Clemens (incorporated by reference to Exhibit31® the Registrant’s Current Report on ForrK 8latec
December 22, 2005 (the “December 2005 Form 8-K”).




EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DOCUMENT

10.47

10.48

10.49

10.50

10.51

10.52

10.53

10.54

10.55

10.56

10.57

10.58

10.59

10.60

10.61

10.62

10.63

10.64

10.65

10.66

10.67

Amended, Restated and Consolidated Bridge Loan eékgeat dated as of December 2, 1998 betwee
Registrant, Galen Partners Ill, L.P., Galen Pasteternational Ill, L.P., Galen Employee Fund UIP. and th
other signatures thereto (incorporated by referém&exhibit 10.45 to the 1998 Form 10-K).

First Amendment to Amended, Restated and Conselid&8ridge Loan Agreement dated December 7,
between the Registrant and the lenders listed ersignature page thereto (incorporated by referémdéexhibit
10.46 to the 1998 Form 10-K).

Second Amendment to Amended, Restated and ContlidBridge Loan Agreement dated March 8,
between the Registrant and the lenders listed ersignature page thereto (incorporated by referémdéexhibit
10.47 to the 1998 Form 10-K).

Form of 10% Convertible Secured Note due May 3@91@ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48he 199!
Form 10-K).

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued pordoabe Amended, Restated and Consolidated B
Loan Agreement (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi49 to the 1998 Form 10-K).

Amended and Restated General Security Agreemeatlda¢cember 2, 1998 between the Company and
Partners Ill, L.P., as Agent (incorporated by refee to Exhibit 10.50 to the 1998 Form 10-K).
Subordination Agreement dated December 2, 1998dmrtthe Registrant and Galen Partners Ill, L.PAgen
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.51 to 1868 Form 10-K).

Agency Letter Agreement dated December 2, 1998rolyaanong the lenders a party to the Amended, Re
and Consolidated Bridge Loan Agreement, as amefidedrporated by reference to Exhibit 10.52 to 1198¢
Form 10-K).

Lease Agreement dated March 17, 1999 between tgestRant and Par Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorpdrat
reference to Exhibit 10.53 to the 1998 Form 10-K).

Lease Agreement dated September 1, 1998 betwedRefffistrant and Crimson Ridge Partners (incorpdrby
reference to Exhibit 10.54 to the 1998 Form 10-K).

Manufacturing and Supply Agreement dated March1®89 between the Registrant and Par Pharmaceutice.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 to 1888 Form 10-K).

Registrant’s 1998 Stock Option Plan (incorporateddierence to Exhibit 10.56 to the 1998 Form 10-K)
Loan Agreement dated March 29, 2000 between thésRagt and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incotgdray
reference to Exhibit 10.57 to the Registrant's €utrReport on Form B-dated March 29, 2000 (the "March 2(
8-K").+

Amendment to Loan Agreement dated March 31, 200@d®n the Registrant and Watson Pharmaceutical:
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 toMmerch 2000 8-K).

Secured Promissory Note in the principal amourdf,500,000 issued by the Registrant, as the makéayol
of Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dated March 310Z0@corporated by reference to Exhibit 10.59 te karct
2000 8-K).

Watson Security Agreement dated March 29, 2000 émtwthe Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.60 to Mrerch 2000 8-K).

Stock Pledge Agreement dated March 29, 2000 betwkenRegistrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals,
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.61 toMmerch 2000 8-K).

Watson Guarantee dated March 29, 2000 between HKduba and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as
guarantors, in favor of Watson Pharmaceuticals, (imcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.62 te #arct
2000 8-K).

Watson's Guarantors Security Agreement dated Mag;hH2000 between Halsey Pharmaceuticals, Inc., &
Inc. and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporhbteceference to Exhibit 10.63 to the March 200K)8-
Subordination Agreement dated March 29, 2000 byandng the Registrant, Watson Pharmaceuticalsaim
the holders of the Registrant's outstanding 5% ediite debentures due March 10, 2003. (incorpdrduy
reference to Exhibit 10.64 to the March 2000 8-K).+

Real Estate Mortgage dated March 29, 2000 betwerrb&l Inc. and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (iraatp(
by reference to Exhibit 10.65 to the March 2000)3-K




EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DOCUMENT

10.68

10.69

10.70

10.71

10.72

10.73

10.74

10.75

10.76

10.77

10.78

10.79

10.80

10.81

10.82

10.83

10.84

10.85

10.86

Subordination Agreement by and among Houba, InalePartners, Ill, L.P., Oracle Strategic Partnief8. an
Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by esfes to Exhibit 10.66 to the March 2000 8-K).

Product Purchase Agreement dated March 29, 2000ebet the Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.67 to therch, 2000 8-K).+

Finished Goods Supply Agreement dated March 290 2#iween the Registrant and Watson Pharmacey
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.68he March 2000 8-K).+

Active Ingredient Supply Agreement dated March 2800 between the Registrant and Watson Pharmaaks
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6%he March 2000 8-K).+

Right of First Negotiation Agreement dated March 2900 between the Registrant and Watson Pharniaakst
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7@te March 2000 8-K).+

Finished Goods Supply Agreement (Core Productgdddtarch 29, 2000 between the Registrant and W
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextubit 10.71 to the March 2000 8-K).+

Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated2@a$999 by and among the Registrant, Oracle $iG
Partners, L.P. and the other purchasers listechersignature page thereto (the "Oracle Purchaseengent"
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.72 to Reygistrant's Annual Report on Form KOfor the year ende
December 31,1999 (the “1999 Form 10-K")).

Form of 5% Convertible Senior Secured Debentureiedspursuant to the Oracle Purchase Agree
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.73 to 1889 Form 10-K.

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued pordoathe Oracle Purchase Agreement (incorporaj
reference to Exhibit 10.74 to the 1999 Form 10-K.

Lease Termination and Settlement Agreement datedciM20, 2000 between the Registrant and Atli
Properties Company in respect of the Registrant®Byn, New York leased facility (incorporated ksferenc
to Exhibit 10.75 to the 1999 Form 10-K).

Debenture Purchase Agreement dated December 2,il808nd among the Registrant, Care Capital Invessts
II, LP, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P. treother purchasers listed on the signature tregeto (th
"2002 Debentureholders") (incorporated by referemncéxhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s current repmmtForm 8-
K dated December 27, 2002 (the “December 2002 FH).

Form of General Security Agreement dated Decemb&r 2002 between the Registrant and the
Debentureholders (incorporated by reference tolktkhD.2 to the December 2002 Form 8-K).

Form of Agreement of Guaranty of Subsidiaries &f Registrant dated December 20, 2002 between Hdub
Halsey Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the 2002 Debedmilders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1th3he
December 2002 Form 8-K).

Form of Guarantor General Security Agreement betwthe Guarantors and the 2002 Debentureholdersl
December 20, 2002 (incorporated by reference toliixt0.4 to the December 2002 Form 8-K).

Stock Pledge Agreement dated December 20, 2002dypetween the Registrant and Galen Partners. .M, la
agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8heoDecember 2002 Form 8-K).

Voting Agreement dated December 20, 2002 (incotpdrdy reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Decembéi2
Form 8-K).

Debentureholders Agreement dated December 20, Zb@®rporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to
December 2002 Form 8-K).

Amendment to Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agmebetween the Registrant, Galen Partners lll, AR
other signatories thereto, dated December 20, 2802nding the Debenture and Warrant Purchase Age
dated March 10, 1998 between the Company, Galemnd?arlll, L.P. and the other signatories the
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to thec@mber 2002 Form 8-K).

Amendment to Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agmgebetween the Registrant, Oracle Strategic Pex,
L.P. and the other signatories thereto, dated Dbeer®0, 2002, amending the Debenture and WarramhBs:
Agreement dated May 26, 1999 between the Comparggl® Strategic Partners, L.P. and the other Sigiea
thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.¢he December 2002 Form 8-K).
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DOCUMENT

10.87

10.88

10.89

10.90

10.91

10.92

10.93

10.94

10.95

10.96

10.97

10.98

10.99

10.100

10.101

10.102

10.103

10.104

Amended and Restated 5% Convertible Senior Seddebeénture due March 31, 2006 (incorporated by eafs
to Exhibit 10.10 to the December 2002 Form 8-K).

Second Amendment to Loan Agreement dated DecemBer2@02, between the Registrant and We
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., amending the Loan Agreerdatgd March 29, 2000 between the Registrant ancsak
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextubit 10.11 to the December 2002 Form 8-K).
Amended and Restated Secured Promissory Note @aeeimber 20, 2002, issued by the Registrant inrfaf
Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in the principal anh@1r7,500,000 (incorporated by reference to ExHibitl2 tc
the December 2002 Form 8-K).

Second Amendment to Finished Goods Supply Agree(@are Products) dated December 20, 2002, betwe
Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. amgntii@ Finished Goods Supply Agreement (Core Praj
dated March 29, 2000 2008 (incorporated by refexead=xhibit 10.13 to the December 2002 Form 8-K).
Watson Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated Dece2b@002 (incorporated by reference to ExhibitlaGc
the December 2002 Form 8-K).

Registration Rights Agreement dated December 202 2Qincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 he
December 2002 Form 8-K).

Warrant Recapitalization Agreement dated DecembBeR@02 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1Ctd Bhe
December 2002 Form 8-K).

Debenture and Share Purchase Agreement datedrabfary 6, 2004 by and among the Registrant, Capéta
Investments, II, LP, Essex Woodlands Health VestiweL.P., Galen Partners Ill, L.P. and the otherchaser
listed on the signature page thereto (incorporbyekference to Exhibit 10.1 of the February 2004nf8-K).
Debenture Conversion Agreement dated as of Feb&a2904 by and among the Registrant, Care Capitale:
Woodlands, Galen Partners and the other signattiiergto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16f2he
February 2004 Form 8-K).

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatibthe Registrant (incorporated by reference to BitHi0.3 o
the February 2004 Form 8-K).

Investor Rights Agreement dated as of FebruaryO®42by and among the Registrant, Care Capital, ¥
Woodlands, Galen Partners and the other signatthi®®to (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16f4he
February 2004 Form 8-K).

Amended and Restated Voting Agreement dated asebfulry 6, 2004 by and among the Registrant,
Capital, Essex Woodlands, Galen Partners and tier signatories thereto (incorporated by refergandéxhibit
10.5 of the February 2004 Form 8-K).

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreentaetd as of February 6, 2004 by and among the Regf
Watson Pharmaceuticals, Care Capital, Essex WodsllaGalen Partners and the other signatories o
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of tlediiary 2004 Form 8-K).

Amended and Restated Subordination Agreement @deted February 6, 2004 by and among the RegistCant
Capital, Essex Woodlands, Galen Partners and tier signatories thereto (incorporated by refergandéxhibit
10.7 of the February 2004 Form 8-K).

Company General Security Agreement (incorporatedeligrence to Exhibit 10.8 of the February 2004nfr&-
K).

Form of Unconditional Agreement of Guaranty (inamated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Februz09/
Form 8-K).

Form of Guarantor Security Agreement (incorpordtgdaeference to Exhibit 10.10 of the February 2604m 8-
K).

Stock Pledge Agreement dated as of February 6, BQGhd between the Registrant and Galen Partagiasger
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of Bedruary 2004 Form 8-K).
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10.105

10.106

10.107

10.108

10.109

10.110

10.111

10.112

10.113

10.114

10.115

*10.116

10.117

10.118

10.119

10.120

10.121

10.122

10.123

10.124

Umbrella Agreement dated as of February 6, 2004y among the Registrant, Watson Pharmaceuticals
Capital, Essex Woodlands, Galen Partners and tier signatories thereto (incorporated by refergandéxhibit
10.12 of the February 2004 Form 8-K).

Third Amendment to Loan Agreement dated as of Falyré, 2004 by and among the Registrant and W
Pharmaceuticals (incorporated by reference to Hxhib13 of the February 2004 Form 8-K).

Amended and Restated Promissory Note in the paheimount of $5,000,000 issued by the Registrafavor of
Watson Pharmaceuticals (incorporated by referemé&schibit 10.14 of the February 2004 Form 8-K).
Hydrocodone API Supply Option Agreement dated afalfruary 6, 2004 between the Registrant and W
Pharmaceuticals (incorporated by reference to Hxhib15 of the February 2004 Form 8-K).

Noteholders Agreement dated as of February 6, 20p4and among the Registrant, Care Capital, E
Woodlands, Galen Partners and the other signatthiezgto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 800f the
February 2004 Form 8-K).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated March 19, 2004 Iy eanong the Registrant, Axiom Pharmaceu
Corporation and IVAX Pharmaceuticals New York LL@cprporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of
Registrant's Form 8-K filed March 25, 2004 (the tsta2004 Form 8-K")).

Voting Agreement dated March 19, 2004 by and antbegRegistrant, IVAX Pharmaceuticals New York L
and certain holders of Halsey Drug Co., Inc. votsagurities (incorporated by reference to Exhilfitllof the
March 2004 Form 8-K).

Use and License Agreement dated March 19, 2004 riiy among the Registrant, Axiom PharmaceL
Corporation and IVAX Pharmaceuticals New York LLi@dprporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of therdh
2004 Form 8-K.)

Executive Employment Agreement dated as of Novenifer2002 between the Registrant and Vijai Kt
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thegRtrant’s Quarterly Report on Form @for the quarter end
June 30, 2004 (the “June 2004 10-Q")).

Executive Employment Agreement dated as of Aug6st2P03 between the Registrant and Andrew D. Ré&
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to J28é4 10-Q).

Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement betvtherRegistrant and Andrew D. Reddick, dated Mg
2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.th June 2004 10-Q).

Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreerbetween the Registrant and Andrew D. Reddick, «
May 24, 2005.

Third Amendment to Executive Employment AgreemestiMeen the Registrant and Andrew D. Reddick, ¢
December 22, 2005 (incorporated by reference toliixt0.1 to the December 2005 Form 8-K).

Executive Employment Agreement dated as of April2B04 between the Registrant and Ron J. S
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to theeJ2004 10-Q).

Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement datedehber 22, 2005 between Registrant and R
Spivey (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@.2he December 2005 Form 8-K).

Separation Agreement and General Release dateénSisgt 18, 2003 between the Registrant and Miche
Reicher (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.3une 2004 10-Q).

First Amendment to Separation Agreement and Gerebdase between the Registrant and Michael K.Hee
December 4, 2003 (incorporated by reference tolitxh0.6 to June 2004 10-Q).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of February @84 dy and between the Registrant and Mi
Pharmaceutical Company, Inc. (incorporated by ezfee to Exhibit 10.7 to June 2004 10-Q).

Amendment to Debenture and Share Purchase Agredmemtd among the Registrant, Care Capital Invests
Il, LP, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P. aitder signatories thereto, dated as of June 14
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to J88é4 10-Q).

First Amendment to Debenture Purchase Agreemerainidyamong the Registrant, Galen Partner Ill, LCRure
Capital Investments Il, LP, Essex Woodlands Heskimtures V, L.P. and other signatories theretoedias c
August 11, 2004 (incorporated by reference to BxAid.9 to June 2004 10-Q).




EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DOCUMENT

10.125

10.126

10.127

10.128

10.129

10.130

10.131

10.132

10.133

10.134

10.135

10.136

10.137

10.138

10.139

10.140

10.141

Letter of Support from Galen Partner Ill, L.P., €a&apital Investments Il, LP, and Essex Woodlandsaltf
Ventures V, L.P. to the Registrant, dated May $)32(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 uoe] 200
10-Q).

Loan Agreement dated June 22, 2005 between thestRagi Essex Woodlands Health Venture V, L.P..e
Capital Investments Il, L.P., Care Capital Offshtmeestments Il, L.P., Galen Partners lIll, L.P.|&aPartnel
International Ill, L.P., and Galen Employee Fund L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@l the
Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K dated 2005 (the “June 2005 Form 8-K")).

Subordination Agreement dated June 22, 2005 betteeRegistrant, Essex Woodlands Health Venturke.N,,
Care Capital Investments I, L.P., Care CapitalsBéfre Investments II, L.P., Galen Partners Ill,.L ®alel
Partners International Ill, L.P., Galen Employeadédil, L.P., and the other signatories theretediporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the June 2005 Form)3-K

Company General Security Agreement dated June @2 By and between Registrant and Galen Partnk
L.P., as Agent (incorporated by reference to ExHibi4 of the June 2005 Form 8-K).

Guaranty of Axiom Pharmaceutical Corporation dakede 22, 2005 (incorporated by reference to ExAibib o
the June 2005 Form 8-K).

Guaranty of Acura Pharmaceutical Technologies, dated June 22, 2005 (incorporated by referendextobit
10.6 of the June 2005 Form 8-K).

Guarantors Security Agreement by and among AxioarfAhceutical Corporation, Registrant, and GaletnBe
I, L.P., as Agent, dated June 22, 2005 (incorpemtdy reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the June 20061F8-K).
Stock Pledge Agreement by and between RegistrahGarten Partners 1ll, L.P., as Agent, dated June2@0¢
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of thee)2005 Form 8-K).

Loan Agreement dated September 16, 2005 betweeRelgestrant, Essex Woodlands Health Venture V,,
Care Capital Investments I, L.P., Care CapitalsBdéfre Investments II, L.P., Galen Partners Ill,.L®alel
Partners International I, L.P., and Galen Empkyaind Ill, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Bxhi0.1 tc
the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K datgut&nber 16, 2005 (the “September 2005 Form 8-K™)).
Subordination Agreement dated September 16, 208%ke the Registrant, Essex Woodlands Health Vent
L.P., Care Capital Investments Il, L.P., Care Gadpitffshore Investments Il, L.P., Galen PartneksUIP., Galei
Partners International Ill, L.P., Galen Employeaddil, L.P., and the other signatories theretediporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the September 2005F&#K).

Company General Security Agreement dated Septefriye2005 by and between Registrant and Galen Rs
I, L.P., as Agent (incorporated by reference tdibit 10.4 of the September 2005 Form 8-K).

Guaranty of Axiom Pharmaceutical Corporation dabegtember 16, 2005 (incorporated by reference tobit
10.5 of the September 2005 Form 8-K).

Guaranty of Acura Pharmaceutical Technologies, ttated September 16, 2005 (incorporated by referéa
Exhibit 10.6 of the September 2005 Form 8-K).

Guarantors Security Agreement by and among Axioarfhceutical Corporation, Registrant, and GaletnBe
lll, L.P., as Agent, dated September 16, 2005 (ipomted by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the Sejen?00!
Form 8-K).

Stock Pledge Agreement by and between RegistrahGaten Partners lll, L.P., as Agent, dated Sepsznb
2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8hef September 2005 Form 8-K).

Joinder and Amendment to Amended and Restated & dtgreement dated November 9, 2005 betweel
Registrant, GCE Holdings, Essex Woodlands Healthtve V, L.P., Care Capital Investments Il, L.Par¢
Capital Offshore Investments Il, L.P., Galen Pasndl, L.P., Galen Partners International Ill, L.Rnd Gale
Employee Fund lll, L.P. (incorporated by referetm&xhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Reporf-orm 8K
dated November 9, 2005 (the “November 2005 Forni)3-K

Loan Agreement dated November 9, 2005 between dgésRant, Essex Woodlands Health Venture V, LCRrg
Capital Investments Il, L.P., Care Capital Offshtmeestments Il, L.P., Galen Partners Ill, L.P.|&baPartnel
International Ill, L.P., and Galen Employee Funig LLLP. and the Additional Lenders that become iyperetc
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of thevBimber 2005 Form 8-K).




EXHIBIT
NUMBER DOCUMENT
10.142 Subordination Agreement dated November 9, 2005 dmiwhe Registrant, Essex Woodlands Health Vet
L.P., Care Capital Investments Il, L.P., Care Gadfitffshore Investments Il, L.P., Galen PartneksUIP., Gale
Partners International Ill, L.P., Galen Employeaédil, L.P., and the other signatories theretediporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the November 2005 F8FK).

10.143 Company General Security Agreement dated Novemhb20@® by and between Registrant and Galen Partihg
L.P., as Agent (incorporated by reference to ExHibi5 of the November 2005 Form 8-K).

10.144 Guaranty of Axiom Pharmaceutical Corporation datedyember 9, 2005 (incorporated by reference to It
10.6 of the November 2005 Form 8-K).

10.145 Guaranty of Acura Pharmaceutical Technologies, tated November 9, 2005 (incorporated by referdn
Exhibit 10.7 of the November 2005 Form 8-K).

10.146 Guarantors Security Agreement by and among Axioarfhceutical Corporation, Registrant, and GaletnBe
lll, L.P., as Agent, dated November 9, 2005 (incogted by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the NovembP@o:
Form 8-K).

10.147 Stock Pledge Agreement by and between RegistrahtGaien Partners lll, L.P., as Agent, dated Noveng,
2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8hef November 2005 Form 8-K).

*10.148 Voting Agreement by and between Registrant and GIGHings, LLC dated as of December 22, 2005

10.149 Registrants 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan (incorpedaby reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Decer
2005 Form 8-K).

14 Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to Exhildi of the Registrant’'s Form 10filed April 22, 2004 (th
“2003 Form 10-K").

*21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

*23.1 Consent of Grant Thornton LLP, independent registgrublic accounting firm, dated February 16, 2@®6he

incorporation by reference of its report to thesmlidated financial statements of the Registranttfe year ende
December 31, 2003 contained in its Form 10-K irtte tegistrant's Registration Statements on Forf S-
(Registration Nos. 333-63288 and 33-98356).

*23.2 Consent of BDO Seidman LLP, independent registerdalic accounting firm, to the incorporation by eefnc
of its report to the consolidated financial statateeof the Registrant for the years ended Decer@bg005 an
2004 contained in its Form 10-K into the Registafegistration Statements on FornrBRegistration No
333-63288 and 33-98356).

*31.1 Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Executi@dficer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 1B4-of the Securitie
Exchange Act of 1934.

*31.2 Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Financ@ifficer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 1B4-of the Securitie
Exchange Act of 1934.

*32.1 Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Executi@fficer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, aspsat
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2062.

*32.2 Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Financi@fficer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, aspsat

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2062.
*  Filed herewith.

+ A portion of this exhibit has been omitted pursie an application for confidential treatment guant to Rule 24B-of the Securitie
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.




FIRST AMENDEMENT TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST AMENDEMENT OF EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT madas of the 28th day of June, 2000 between and a
HALSEY DRUG CO., INC., a New York corporation (tHi€orporation"), with principal executive offices 805 No. Perryville Roa
Rockford, lllinois 61107 and PETER CLEMENS residatg20860 Valley Road, Kideer, lllinois 60047 (tliemployee").

RECITALS
A. The Corporation and the Employee executed an empayagreement on March 10, 1998 (the "Agreement").
B. The Corporation desires to continue to employ theoByee and the Employee desires to continue tenbgloyed by th
Corporation.
C. The Corporation and the Employee now desire to a@ntee Agreement to provide for, intemalia, (i) an increase in tl

length of the initial term of the Agreement, (ietaddition of a provision whereby Employee mayntaate his employme
for Good Reason, (iii) the payments of severanak lzenefits to Employee upon termination withoutssaor for Goo
Reason, (iv) restrictions on the ability of the Hayee to sell incentive stock options; and (v) &dlity of the Employet
upon termination, to continue to exercise certticlsoptions of the Corporation.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual etavets and undertakings herein contained, the patjece as follows:

1. Section 2 of the Agreement "Term of Employmentiéseby deleted and the following inserted in iecpt

"The term of Employee's employment under this Agreet shall commence on the date of the Agreemeshtshall terminate ¢
April 30, 2005, (the "Initial Term"), unless soontrminated pursuant to Section 8 of the Agreempriyvided, however, that if t
Corporation shall fail to give the Employee writteatice of non-renewal of the Employsetmployment with the Corporation not less"
180 days prior to the Initial Term or any Renewaki®d (as defined), Employeeterm hereunder shall automatically be extende

successive one (1) year periods (each a "RenewadPand together with the Initial Term, the "TéMm

2. Paragraph 5 (c) of the Agreetn&urchase of Options" is hereby deleted anddhewing inserted in its place:

"5(c) Purchase of Options.




(). In the event that Employee is terminated fause (as defined in Paragraph 8.3) or resigns dltizer for Good Reason
provided in paragraph 8.5), the Corporation shaitenthe right, but not the obligation, to purch&seployee's vested Option at the |
Market Value thereof. In the event that the Corfioradoes not elect to purchase Employee's vesfbi©within seven days of the date
Employee's termination for cause or resignationpBgee shall be obligated to exercise his Optiansviiting within 37 days of sut
termination or resignation, failing which he shiadl deemed to have forfeited his Option to the Carjgan. For purposes of this paragraph 5
(c), "Fair Market Value" shall mean the produc(ipthe positive difference, if any, between themage of the closing price of the Compa
Common Stock as reported by the American Stock &xgh, or such other exchange or overahenter market on which the Compa
Common Stock may then be listed or admitted fatitig, for the five (5) trading days prior to thetelaf termination, and the Option exert
price, multiplied by (ii) the number of Option Skarwhich, as of the date of termination, are vestetkr the Option.

(1. In the event of a termination of Employeetamoyment with the Corporation by the Corporatioithaut cause (as defined
paragraph 8.3) or a termination by Employee of drigployment with the Corporation for Good Reason fasvided in paragraph 8.
notwithstanding any language to the contrary coetiin any Option Agreements with the Employee, amgtanding stock options of !
Corporation, held by the Employee, which are noéemtive stock options (nogualified stock options), and only to the exterst options a
vested on the date of termination, shall contimube exercisable by the Employee for two (2) yéans the date of termination and shall
be subject to earlier termination.”

3. Paragraph 5(d) "Automobile” is hereby amended tanging this paragraph (d) to paragraph (f) andragldinew paragra,
(d) "Restriction on Sale by Employee of Incentiteck Options" which provides as follows:

"5(d). Restriction on Sale by Employee of Incentt®ck Options. During the Term of the Agreememhployee agrees that ug
any exercise of incentive stock options, Employealse restricted from selling, transferring oherwise disposing of these option sh
received upon such exercise for a period of twoyErs from the date of such exercise; providedever, that subject to compliance v
IRS Code 422, and applicable securities laws, thpl&yee shall be permitted to (i) sell, transfeotiterwise dispose of (including the ple
of such shares) not more than 100,000 of such mgtiares without regard to the two (2) year holdiagod provided in this paragraph 5
and (ii) to sell, transfer or otherwise disposdin€luding the pledge of such shares) the numbeaptibn shares necessary to pay all fed
state and local income taxes incurred by the Eng@ajue to such exercise.

4. A new Paragraph, entitled Paragraph 5 (e), "For@nRgistration Statement” is hereby added as fallow

"5 (e). Not later than August 31, 2000, the Compsimgl! file with the Securities and Exchange Consiois a registration
statement on Form S-8 to register the Company'8 88@ck Option Plan and the shares subject tonssuapon exercise of stock options
issued under such plan. The Company also covetwfits the reports required under the SecuritigsHange Act of 1934, as amended to
update and keep effective the Form S-8 registragiatement.




5. Paragraph 8.3 of the Agreement, "Termination fousgd is hereby amended to include the followingitamithl language:

"Any termination of Employee by Corporation for sawshall be communicated in writing thirty (30) slgyior to date of terminatic
The notice shall state that the Employee's employmereunder has been or shall be terminated,atidg the specific termination provisions
in this Agreement relied upon and setting fortihdasonable detail the facts and circumstances ethimprovide a basis for such termination
of employment."

6. Paragraph 8.4 of the Agreement, "Termination With@ause" is hereby deleted and the following ireskim its place:

"8.4. The Corporation may terminate Employee's eympknt with the Corporation at any time "Withoutuga", upon thirty (30)
days' written notice to Employee. A termination thidiut Cause" shall mean a termination by the Catjpmm of Employee's employment
other than due to death or disability as defineBanagraphs 8.1 and 8.2 or Cause as defined igfaata8.3."

7. Paragraph 8.5 of the Agreement "Change of Conislereby amended by moving such Paragraph to dyrmreate
Paragraph 8.7, and to be put in its place, a neagPaph 8.5 "Termination by Employee" which progide follows:

"8.5. Termination By Employee For Good Reashme Employee may terminate his employment for "GRedson", upon thirty (3!
days' written notice to Corporation. " Good Reasshall mean a termination of employment by Empéofalowing, without Employee's
express prior written consent, (i) any materialidution by the Board or an Executive Officer, in ployee's duties, status, offices, reporting
requirements, or job title, except in connectiothvtérmination of Employee's employment for Causeravided in Paragraph 8.3 or death or
disability as provide in Paragraphs 8.1 and 8iRafiy requirement by the Board that Employee ckahg location at which the Employee
performs his principal duties for the Corporatioratnew location that is more than 35 miles fromltdtation at which the Employee
performed his principal duties for the Corporatiommediately prior to date of termination, (iii) tif&@lure of the Corporation timely to pay
Employee's salary, bonus or benefits due Employteniseven days of the date such compensatiorioefits are due, or any material bre
by the Corporation of this Agreement, (iv) any apaun the Corporation's pay plan or employmentement with Employee that results in a
material diminution of Employee's annual base gatareligible bonus amounts, or (v) the failurettod Corporation to obtain the agreement,
in a form reasonably satisfactory to Employee, flamg successor to the Corporation to assume ame agperform this Agreement.”




8. A new Paragraph, entitled Paragraph 8.6, of theedmient "Payment upon Termination Without Caus@inGbod Reasol
is hereby added as follows:

"8.6. Payment Upon Termination Without Cause Or Good Reason.

(A) In the event of a termination of Employee's ésgment with the Corporation without Cause or ani@ation by Employee of his
employment with the Corporation for Good Reasormrfp the last day of the Initial Term or any Resa¢ Term, the Corporation shall pay to
Employee, in a single lump sum in cash within th{80) days after the date of termination an ameugpial to (a) his then accrued and unpaid
base salary plusonuses through and including the date of ternmonatlus(b) the greater of (i) $280,000, or (ii) twice tBmployee's Annual
Base Salary in effect immediately prior to the dafteermination.

(B) In addition, during the twenty four (24) fullonths following the date of termination (the "Ccage Period"), Employee will
continue to receive all benefits to which he watitled pursuant to Paragraph 5 of the Agreememif dse date of termination, and Employee
shall be entitled to any vested benefits undereanployee benefit plans. This is to include contthoeedical, dental and life insurance
coverage to the Employee and the Employee's famnilferms substantially as in effect on the datehination, subject to the payment by
the Employee of all applicable employee contribugibiealth and welfare benefits. If for any readosng time the Corporation is unable to
treat Employee as being or having been an emplof/thee Corporation under any benefits plan in whiehs entitled to participate and as a
result thereof Employee receives reduced bendiidgusuch plan during the period that Employe®idinuing to receive payments pursuant
to this Paragraph 8.5 (B), the Corporation shall/jstle Employee with such benefits by direct paynuerdt the Corporation's option by
making available equivalent benefits from otherrses. During the Coverage Period, Employee shalbaentitled to receive compensation
and shall not be entitled to participate in any kyge benefit plan of, or receive any other berfedin, the Corporation that is introduced
after the date of termination, except that an gmate adjustment shall be made if such new empgldgmnefit or employee benefit plan is a
replacement for or amendment to an employee berredinployee benefit plan in effect as of the aditeermination.”

9. Except as amended herein the Agreement remainaslifofce and effect. Defined terms herein shalldh¢he same meani
as in the Agreement unless otherwise defined heiidiis Amendment shall be governed and construedesafiorced i
accordance with the local laws of the State of Nark applicable to agreements made and to be paddrentirely in Ne
York.

10. This Amendment may be executed in one or mouaterparts, each of which shall be deemed annadigbut all of which
taken together will constitute one and the samilingent.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlniendment as of the date first above written.




ATTEST: HALSEY DRUG CO., INC.

By: /s/ William Skelly

William Skelly, Chairmar

WITNESS: EMPLOYEE

By: /s/ Peter Clemens




SECOND AMENDMENT TO EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT  (this “ Second Amendment”) made this 24" day
of May, 2005 by and betweeXCURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. , a New York corporation formerly known as Halsey Drug Co., |
(the “ Corporation "), with offices at 616 N. North Court, Suite 128alatine, lllinois 60067 anANDREW D. REDDICK, residing at 29
North Cote Circle, Exton, Pennsylvania 19341 “ Employee”).

RECITALS

A. The Corporation and the Employee executed an emq@ayagreement dated as of August 26, 2003, wigjodeanent we
amended by an Amendment to Executive Employmenéeémgent between the Employee and the Corporatided daay
27, 2004 (as so amended, theployment Agreement”).

B. Pursuant to Section 2 of the Employment Agreemthd, term of Employes’ employment under the Agreemen
automatically extended for successive one (1) pesiods, unless notice of neanewal from either the Employee or
Corporationis received no later than (90) days prior to thpimtion of the Initial Term and each Renewal Perfas
defined in the Employment Agreement”).

C. The Corporation and the Employee now desire thhéuramend the Employment Agreement as providedrhere
NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual covenants and ttalilgs herein contained, the parties agree &sifel
1. Section 2 of the Employment Agreement is Ingideleted in its entirety and the following isen®d in its place:

“2. Term of Employment The term of the Employee's employment under Algigeement shall commence on
date of this Agreement and shall expire two (2)rgdaom the date hereof (thdritial Term "), unless sooner terminal
pursuant to Section 7 of this Agreement; providéubwever, thatthe Employee’s term of employmehéreunder she
automatically be extended for successive one (&) periods (each, aRenewal Period" and together with the Initi
Term, the "Term "), unless either the Corporation or the Employeevigles written notice of norenewal of th
Employee's employment with the Corporation (i) t4hi{30) days prior to the expiration of the Initisérm or (ii) ninet
(90) days prior to the expiration of any Renewaidte”




2. The Corporation shall reimburse the Employae or before thirty (30) days following the dafeexecution of this Second
Amendment, for the reasonable legal fees and exgdnsurred by the Employee for review and negotiadf this Second Amendment and
for review and analysis of the Employee’s stockaparrangements and certain related matters .

3. Except as expressly amended by this Seconehdment, the Employment Agreement remains unmabéfred in full force
and effect. Capitalized terms used herein shaklthg same meaning as in the Employment Agreenmessiotherwise defined herein. This
Second Amendment shall be governed and construdr#nrced in accordance with the local laws ofSkete of New York applicable to
agreements made and to be performed entirely in Wank.

4. This Second Amendment may be executed iroongore facsimile or original counterparts, eaclbich shall be deemed
an original, but all of which taken together witirestitute one and the same instrument.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties have executed this Second Amendnseottthe date first above written.

ATTEST: ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ Peter A. Clemens

Peter A. Clemen:
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officel

WITNESS: EMPLOYEE

By: /s/ Andrew D. Reddick

Andrew D. Reddicl



VOTING AGREEMENT

ThisVOTING AGREEMENT (this " Agreement) dated as of December 22, 2005, is between ABhexmaceuticals, Ir
a New York corporation, having an office at 616Nrth Court, Suite 120, Palatine, IL 60067 (the #gmny”)and GCE Holdings, LLC,
Delaware limited liability company, having an offiat c/o Galen Partners llI, LP, 616"®venue, 5" Floor, New York, New York 1001
(the “GCE Holdings”). The Company and GCE Holdiags referred to individually as a “Party” and cotleely as the “Parties.”

WHEREAS , the Board of Directors of the Company has apptdhe Company 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award F
providing for the grant of restricted stock unitamds (“RSU Awards”}o select employees of the Company on such terntiseaBoard she
determine; and

WHEREAS , the Board of Directors has approved RSU Awardsettain Companyg employees which, subject to the te
of the RSU Awards, provide for the issuance of 27,500,000 shares of the Compangbmmon stock, $0.01 par value per share
“Common Stock”); and

WHEREAS , the Company will amend its 1998 Stock Option Rtacomply with the requirements of Section 4094
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“Sedfd®A”) and will present the 1998 Stock Option Plan, asraleé to comply wit
Section 409A, to the Board for approval (as so atednthe “Amended 1998 Stock Option Plan”); and

WHEREAS , the Company will present to its shareholderdrat@ompanys 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders eac
the RSU Plan and the Amended Plan 1998 Stock Optiam for shareholder ratification; and

WHEREAS , GCE Holdings desires to commit to vote its shafadte Company Common Stock so as to ratify each o
RSU Plan and the Amended 1998 Stock Option Plan.

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the foregoing and the muagrdeements herein contained, the Parties agn
follows:

1. Ratification of the RSU Plan and the Amend®88l Stock Option Plan At the Company's next upcom
meeting of shareholders, GCE Holdings will voteddlits shares of Common Stock in favor of thefigdtion of each of the RSU Plan and
Amended 1998 Stock Option Plan, as each such ptgnba amended by the CompamBoard of Directors prior to the date of such rimg
of shareholders.




2. Certain RemediedNithout intending to limit the remedies availabdeeither of the Parties, each Party agrees that
damages at law will be an insufficient remedy i@ #vent such Party violates the terms hereof optiweers granted hereunder and each o
Parties hereto further agrees that each of the &thies hereto may apply for and have injunativether equitable relief in any court of
competent jurisdiction to restrain the breach oedtened breach of, or otherwise specifically toe®, any of such Party's agreements or the
powers granted hereunder set forth herein.

3. Representation€Each Party represents and warrants to each Btrer that this Agreement is its legal, valid and
binding obligation, enforceable against such Pargccordance with its terms, and will not resalany (a) violation or breach of, or be in
conflict with, each Party's respective organizalatocuments or material contracts, or (b) viokatd any statutes, laws, rules, regulations,
orders or judgments applicable to such Party.

4. Transfer of SecuritiedNothing shall prohibit or in any manner rest@®TE Holdings’ ability to freely transfer,
assign, convey, or otherwise dispose of or coriteghares of Common Stock; providethat upon the transfer, assignment, conveyance or
disposition of any Common Stock by GCE Holdings,E3bldings shall cause the transferee to whichtbmon Stock are transferred,
assigned, conveyed or otherwise disposed to agree bound by the terms hereof.

5. Term. This Agreement and the Parties' obligations hedeushall continue in effect until the completadrthe
Company’s next annual meeting of shareholders attwdach of the RSU Plan and the Amended 1998 S3gtion Plan are presented for
ratification.

6. Amendment Any term of this Agreement or the powers grartteceunder may be amended and the observance o
any such term or power may be waived (either gdigeyain a particular instance and either retroaay or prospectively) only with the
written consent of the Parties.

7. Binding Effect This Agreement and the powers granted hereurddirtse binding upon, and shall inure to the
benefit of the Company and GCE Holdings.

8. Notices All notices, demands or other communications gilrereunder shall be in writing and shall be sigfitdy
given if transmitted by facsimile or delivered eittpersonally or by a nationally recognized cousinvice marked for next business day
delivery or sent in a sealed envelope by firstxlasil, postage prepaid and either registerednified, return receipt requested, to the
address for each Party as provided in the intratygiaragraph of this Agreement, or to such otléress as any such Party shall design:
writing. Any such notice, demand or communicatibalsbe deemed to have been given (a) on the datelivery, if delivered personally, (b)
on the date of facsimile transmission, receipt itordd, (c) one business day after delivery to #onatly recognized overnight courier
service, if marked for next day delivery or (d)ditausiness days after the date of mailing, if ndaile




9. MiscellaneousThe section headings herein are inserted for@aewce of reference only and shall not affect the
meaning or interpretation hereof. This Agreemert tie powers granted hereunder contain the ergineeaent among the Parties hereto
respect to the matters contemplated herein. l&fgrreason any provision hereof shall be invalitenforceable or inoperative, the validity
and effect of the other provisions hereof shallmaffected herein. This Agreement may be exedntede or more counterparts, and by the
Parties hereto in separate counterparts, eachiohyilvthen so executed and delivered, shall be déémbe an original but all of which taken
together shall constitute one and the same agrdeftga Agreement shall become effective as to eaptmatory hereto upon the execution
and delivery hereof by such signatory. This Agreetnasad the powers granted hereunder shall be gedeémall respects by the laws of the
State of New York wherein the terms of this Agreaineere negotiated, excluding to the greatest ¢xtermitted by law any rule of law that
would cause the application of the laws of anysgigtion other than the State of New York.

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF , each of the Parties hereto has executed thisefiggat on the date first above written.

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ Andrew Reddick 12/22/05

Name: Andrew Reddic
Title: President and Chief Executive Offic

GCE Holdings, LLC

By: /s/ Bruce F. Wesson

Name: Bruce F. Wessc
Title:



Company Nami

EXHIBIT 21
List of Subsidiaries

State or Country of
Incorporation olOrganizatior

Voting % owned by Registra

Acura Pharmaceutical Technologies, |

Axiom Pharmaceutical Corporatic

Indiana

Delaware

100%

100%




EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM
We have issued our report dated February 26, 20@&pt for Note B, as to which the date is March2ll®4, accompanying the consolidz
financial statements and schedule included in tinau&l Report of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (fotyneralsey Drug Co., Inc.) a
Subsidiaries on Form 1R-for the year ended December 31, 2003. We herebgant to the incorporation by reference of sagbriein the
Registration Statements of Acura Pharmaceuticals, dn Forms S-8 (Registration Nos. 333-63288 a398856), pertaining to the 19
Stock Option Plan and the 1995 Stock Option Plan.
/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP
New York, New York

February 16, 2006




EXHIBIT 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine, lllinois

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referém¢be Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N83-63288 and 338356) of our repao
dated February 1, 2006, relating to the consol@iéiteancial statements of Acura Pharmaceuticals, &ppearing in the CompasyAnnua

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Decembef3@5. Our report contains an explanatory paragregarding the Comparg/ability tc
continue as a going concern.

Chicago, lllinois /s/ BDO Seidman, LLI
February 16, 2006




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT
PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14 AND 15d-14 OF THE SECURSIEXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Andrew D. Reddick, the President and Chief ExiseuOfficer of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc., certifiat:

1.

| have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKcura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doescantain any untrue statement of a material facbroit to state a material f:
necessary to make the statements made, in liglteotircumstances under which such statements macdke, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this annual report

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,aher financial information included in this amhueport, fairly present in
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods presented in
annual report;

The registrant's other certifying officers and & aesponsible for establishing and maintainingld&ae controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1f6f the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedureg tesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this annual report is lgeprepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisre controls and procedures and presentedisnatinual our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure con@als procedures, as of the end of the period covgydtlis annual report bas
on such evaluation; and

C) disclosed in this annual report any change in #ggstrant's internal control over financial repogtithat occurred during t
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that hateredly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the registran
internal control over financial reporting.

The registrant's other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiantefnal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataxammittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equival
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknssisethe design or operation of internal controéofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize a&port financial information; ar

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involveanagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registran
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 14, 20( By: /s/ Andrew D. Reddicl

Andrew D. Reddicl
President and Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT
PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14 AND 15d-14 OF THE SECURSIEXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Peter A. Clemens, the Senior Vice President@nigf Financial Officer of Acura Pharmaceuticats;.| certify that:

1.

| have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKcura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doescantain any untrue statement of a material facbroit to state a material f:
necessary to make the statements made, in liglteotircumstances under which such statements macdke, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this annual report

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,aher financial information included in this amhueport, fairly present in
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods presented in
annual report;

The registrant's other certifying officers and & aesponsible for establishing and maintainingld&ae controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1f6f the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedures tesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this annual is being prejpia

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisre controls and procedures and presentedisnatimual our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure con@als procedures, as of the end of the period covgydtlis annual report bas
on such evaluation; and

(c) disclosed in this annual report any change in #ggstrant's internal control over financial repogtithat occurred during t
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that hateredly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the registran
internal control over financial reporting.

The registrant's other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiantefnal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataxammittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equival
functions):

(&) all significant deficiencies and material weaknssisethe design or operation of internal controéofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize a&port financial information; ar

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involveasnagement or other employees who have a significéatin the registran
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: February 16, 20( By: /s/ Peter A. Clemer

Peter A. Clemen
Senior Vice President aiChief Financial Officel




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTF2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Acltharmaceuticals, Inc., Inc. (the "Company") on F&G¥K for the period endir
December 31, 2005 as filed with the Securities Bxehange Commission on the date hereof (the "R§pariAndrew D. Reddick, the Chi
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursutmtl8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuaettion 906 of the Sarban€sdey Act
of 2002, that:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operatic
of the Company.

Dated: February 14, 20( /s! Andrew D. Reddic

Andrew D. Reddicl
President anChief Executive Office




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTF2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Acltharmaceuticals, Inc., Inc. (the "Company") on F&G¥K for the period endir
December 31, 2005 as filed with the Securities Brchange Commission on the date hereof (the "RgpdrtPeter A. Clemens, the Ser
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of thengpany, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1380adopted pursuant to Section 9C
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operatic
of the Company.

Dated: February 16, 20( /sl Peter A. Clemer

Peter A. Clemen
Senior Vice President arChief Financial Office




